# SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

## 2791.

## **DALLOUL HICHAM**

Anyagcsere betegségek molekuláris genetikája, patomechanizmusa és klinikai vonatkozásai című program

> Programvezető: Dr. Lakatos Péter, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Várbíró Szabolcs, egyetemi tanár Dr. Török Marianna, PhD

# Effects of vitamin D deficiency and supplementation on coronary and carotid arteries in a rodent model

PhD thesis

## **Hicham Dalloul MD**

Doctoral School of Clinical Medicine Semmelweis University





Supervisors:

Szabolcs Várbíró, MD, DSc Marianna Török, MD, PhD

Official reviewers:

Ágnes Jermendy, MD, PhD Ádám Lelbach, MD, Med habil

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Péter Várnai, MD, DSc Members of the Complex Examination Committee: Zsolt Kopa, MD, PhD Gábor Vermes MD, PhD

Budapest

### 2022

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVATIONS	3
1. INTRODUCTION	5
1.1. Brief overview of vitamin D	5
1.2. Vitamin D physiology and mechanisms of action	5
1.3. Overview of regulation of the tone of a blood vessel	6
1.3.1. Vascular tone and vitamin D	7
1.4. Coronary vascular structure and physiology	8
1.5. Oxidative nitrative stress and vitamin D	9
1.6. Vitamin D deficiency and cardiovascular health	9
1.6.1. Vitamin D deficiency and the factors of cardiovascular morbidity	10
1.6.1.1. Obesity	10
1.6.1.2. Diabetes	11
1.6.1.3. Dyslipidemia, atherogenesis	12
1.6.1.4. Hypertension	12
1.7. Vitamin D deficiency and major cardiovascular events	13
1.7.1. Vitamin D deficiency and stroke	13
1.7.2. Vitamin D deficiency and myocardial ischemia	15
1.8. Sex differences in cardiovascular morbidity	16
1.8.1. Sex differences in stroke	16
1.8.2. Sex differences in CAD	17
1.8.3. Sex related alterations in cardiovascular effect of vitamin D deficiency	17
1.9. Vitamin D deficiency in experimental human and rodent models	18
1.10. In Vitro methods used to investigate anatomy and function of arteries	20

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2023.2791

1.10.1. Myography 20
1.10.2. Histology
1.10.3. Video microscopy
2. OBJECTIVES
3. RESULTS
3.1. Coronary artery mapping24
3.1.1. Biometric data. Body and heart weight, arterial blood pressure
3.1.2. Segments analysis
3.1.3. Analyzes of the branches
3.1.4. Abnormalities
3.1.5. 50 μm long cylindrical ring unit analysis
3.2.1. Phenylephrine-induced contraction of carotid arteries
3.2.2. Vitamin D status and gender induced histological alterations of the carotid
arteries
4. DISCUSSION
4.1. Coronary artery mapping 35
4.2. Carotid arteries 40
5. CONCLUSIONS
6. SUMMARY
7. REFERENCES
8. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF PUBLICATIONS
9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

## LIST OF ABBREVATIONS

25(OH)D	25-hydroxy-vitamin D		
ACA	Anterior cerebral artery		
ANOVA	Analyzis of variance		
AR	Androgen receptor		
CAD	Coronary artery disease		
COX	Cyclooxygenase		
CV	Cardiovascular		
CVD	Cardiovascular disease		
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase		
ET-1	Endothelin		
FVD	Female vitamin D deficient		
HDL	High-density lipoprotein		
INDO	Indomethacin		
IU	International unit		
LAD	Left anterior descending artery		
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein		
L-NAME	N(G)-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester		
MACE	Major adverse cardiovascular event		
MMP	Tissue matrix metalloproteinase		
MMP-2	Tissue matrix metalloproteinase-2		
MVD	Male vitamin D deficient		
NON-STEMI	Non-ST elevation myocardial		
	infarction		
NT	3-Nitrotyrosine		
NO	Nitric-oxid		
PCOS	Polycystic ovarian syndrome		
PGI2	prostacyclin		
РТН	Parathormone		
RAAS	Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone		
	System		

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2023.2791

SHR	Spontaneous hypertensive rat
SMA	Smooth muscle actin
TP	Thromboxane receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor $-\alpha$
ULDL	Ultra low-density lipoprotein
VD	Vitamin D
VDD	Vitamin D deficiency
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
VDRE	Vitamin D Response Elements
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1. Brief overview of vitamin D

The name "vitamin D" has been known and used since 1922, according to McCollum's work (1). In these 100 years, we have discovered and learned extraordinary things about vitamin D. It is primarily a regulator molecule of the bone metabolism, and calcium homeostasis (2-5). However, over the years, in addition to the systemic effects of skeletal muscle, its prominent role in the development of many diseases and in the normal functioning of the physiological processes has been demonstrated. Suffice it to mention mental problems (6), its role in regulating the immune system (7), or the importance observed in pregnancies and their outcome (8). Taking all this into account, some consider it a complex molecule that influences the physiological processes of the body. To support this, its receptor (vitamin D receptor, VDR) has been found in many tissues of many organs (9-11).

#### 1.2. Vitamin D physiology and mechanisms of action

Vitamin D is primarily a steroid hormone-like molecule that regulates calcium and phosphate metabolism. Natural vitamin D cholecalciferol (D3) is produced in the body in the skin from 7-dehydrocholesterol under the influence of UV light. In addition to its physiological production detected in the skin, cholecalciferol can also be taken with diet or in the form of medicine. Cholecalciferol taken orally does not inhibit the skin's vitamin D3 synthesis. Two hydroxylations are required for the vitamin already present in the body to become active. During this process, cholecalciferol is converted to 1,25 (OH) D3 in two hydroxylation steps. First in the liver (position 25) and then in the kidney in tissue (position 1). The main site of excretion of the active hormone is the bile, and to a lesser extent the kidney. Vitamin D3 and its hydroxy derivatives exert their primary effect in the small intestine, bones, kidneys, and parathyroid glands, regulating the body's calcium, phosphate, and bone metabolism. Detailing these effects, vitamin D and its derivatives increase the absorption of calcium and phosphate from the intestine, raise serum calcium and phosphate concentrations and reduce the excretion of phosphate in the urine. In

interaction with parathormone (PTH), they regulate the calcium and phosphate content of the bones, stimulate the incorporation of calcium into the osteoid and the release of calcium from the bone tissue. As a result of all these effects, vitamin D improves the use of calcium and promotes bone building. It directly affects the recruitment, maturation and activity of osteoblast and osteoclast cells (2-5). The biological activity of 1,25dihydroxycholecalciferol is mostly mediated by the intracellular vitamin D receptor (VDR), which functions as a ligand-activated transcription factor. The vitamin D receptor belongs to the steroid-thyroid-retinoid receptor superfamily. VDR can be found in many tissues (11). Through the VDR, vitamin D can exert its non-skeletal genomic effects. It has an antiproliferative and differentiation-stimulating effect on fibroblasts (12), hair follicles (13) and other cells, as well as on smooth muscle cells, myoblasts and cardiac muscle cells (14), inhibits the synthesis of natriuretic factor in atrial myocytes (15), increases the production and secretion of insulin in the beta cells of the pancreas (16-20); controls catecholamine metabolism in medullary cells of the adrenal gland (21) and it has an antiproliferative effect on the myometrium and endometrium (22). It enhances lung maturation, phospholipid synthesis and the release of surfactants (23), stimulates the function of Sertoli cells and spermatogenesis (24), and may controls the hormone production of the pituitary gland (25). 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol also has rapid effects, which are not exerted through changes in gene expression, but are mediated through cell surface receptors. These effects of 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol include rapid effects on phosphoinositide metabolism, elevation of intracellular calcium levels, enhancement of intestinal calcium transport and phosphate influx, elevation of cGMP levels, and activation of protein kinase C (26, 27).

#### 1.3. Overview of regulation of the tone of a blood vessel

The spontaneous tension of the muscle elements of the vessel wall is called myogenic tone (28). The endothelium plays an important role in regulating vascular smooth muscle tone, as well as in modulating the adhesion of cellular elements to the vascular wall (29). In response to various effects, endothelial factors are released in the endothelium, which cause a change in vascular smooth muscle tone. The three most important substances of

endothelial origin are: nitric oxide (NO), endothelin (ET-1) and prostacyclin (PGI2). NO and PGI2 act as vasodilators, while ET-1 acts as a vasoconstrictor (30-32).

The primary physiological effects of PGI2, leukotrienes and thromboxanes are related to inflammation, but they are all vasoactive paracrine hormones by nature. As we have seen, PGI2 is a vasodilator, while other arachidonic acid metabolites, e.g., thromboxane, act as vasoconstrictors. Arachidonic acid is metabolized in cells in two ways. In the cyclooxygenase pathway, which leads to prostaglandins, and in the lipoxygenase pathway, which results in eicosanoid-leukotriene production. The balance of arachidonic acid derivatives formed in endothelial cells, thus the base myogenic tone, may be characteristic of the given vessel and may also show gender differences. Blocking the formation of these metabolites can be a therapeutic goal, and with the experimental use of cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors, we can get closer to the discovery of vasoconstrictor and vasodilator mechanisms.

Gender specific alterations of the plasma level of sexual steroids is also an important regulatory factor of the myogenic tone. Female gender seems to result in a decreased spontaneous vascular tone, decreased contractile capacity and increased relaxation (33-35). Vasoconstriction and dilatation differences in different sexes have already been described for many blood vessels. Mesenteric artery contraction induced by vasoconstrictor prostanoids is more pronounced in male hypertensive rats (36). The coronary arteries of male rats have an increased basal tone, the contraction induced by vasoconstrictor prostanoids, and endothelin-1 is stronger than the arteries of female animals (37, 38). Serotonin-induced contraction of carotid arteries is enhanced in male mice (39). Gender differences can be influenced by various diseases and age. The endothelium-dependent dilatation of the brachial arteries of young women with kidney disease is higher than that of men. This difference disappears as time progresses (40).

#### 1.3.1. Vascular tone and vitamin D

Vitamin D acts on cells through two different mechanisms. During the genomic effect, the ligand-binding vitamin D receptor binds to the special promoter regions of more than 200 genes (VDRE -Vitamin D Response Elements) regulated by vitamin D in the nucleus. The so-called non-genomic effect is produced by vitamin D, via receptors located in the cytoplasm and cell membrane of cells, via the calcium signaling pathway. The most

important effect of vitamin D on endothelial cells is the increased production and increased activity of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS). Genetic effects of vitamin D promote eNOS expression via nuclear VDR. As a non-genomic effect, the increase in the intracellular calcium level activates eNOS. As a result of the increasing NO level in the endothelium, angiogenesis increases by increasing the matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2) gene expression, which improves the migration and proliferation capacity of endothelial cells. Smooth muscle cells react with vasodilation through the increase in endothelial NO. Vitamin D also has a direct effect on smooth muscle cells, like the effect that causes endothelial proliferation, high-dose (toxic overdose, reached by 78.000 IU/kg rat chow) vitamin D treatment increases smooth muscle proliferation. Interestingly, these effects can also be observed in the absence of vitamin D. The result in both cases is inward hypertrophic remodeling, i.e., the wall thickness, wall lumen ratio and wall cross-section also increase (41-47).

#### 1.4. Coronary vascular structure and physiology

The coronary arteries provide the blood supply to the heart's own tissues. The formation of the coronary vessels begins at the time of the division of the fetal aortic trunk into the aorta and pulmonary artery, in the 5<sup>th</sup> embryonic week. Endothelial precursor elements located around the aortic wall assemble into primitive tubules. In this process, increased metabolism and hypoxia induced by the thickening of the compact myocardium are attributed a role (48). In the process, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and Platelet Derived Growth Factor (PDGF) levels play a role. The forming tubule network emerges into the aortic wall, where it establishes a connection with the lumen of the aorta during the process of apoptosis. Later, the vasculogenesis that continues in the heart muscle forms the coronary network. The mature, developed coronary artery belongs to the group of elastic arteries. It has a thin tunica adventitia and a thick tunica media containing large amounts of elastic and collagen fibers (49). In addition to the myogenic tone of the vessel wall and the factors that regulate it, the location of these vessels plays an important role in the formation of the blood flow of the coronary network. The blood vessels running on the surface of the heart follow the flow patterns characteristic of arteries, defined by systole and diastole. However, the subendocardial branches are

compressed by the contracting myocardium during ventricular systole, so retrograde flow develops in them (50). So the heart muscle got its blood supplementation mainly during myocardial diastole (51).

#### 1.5. Oxidative nitrative stress and vitamin D

Oxidative stress is the condition when the balance of free radicals and antioxidants in the body is disrupted. The increase of reactive oxygen radicals can lead to the oxidation of proteins and fats, to angiogenesis and pathological angiogenesis through the activation of VEGF (52, 53). Oxygen forms peroxynitrite with NO, which also leads to protein damage. Peroxynitrite also plays a role in tyrosine nitration, so the amount of nitrotyrozine is a marker of oxidative damage to the cell.

Vitamin D has been shown to play a role in mitigating the harmful effects of this oxidative stress. Its effect is clear in the pathophysiology of diabetes (54) in muscle physiology (55) or, for example, in preeclampsia (56). Vitamin D is extremely important for the health of the endothelium from this aspect as well (57). In addition to increasing the release of nitric oxide, vitamin D increases the expression of enzymes that eliminate free radicals, such as superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase and reduces the expression of interleukin-1 and Tumor Necrosis Factor  $-\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (58-61).

#### 1.6. Vitamin D deficiency and cardiovascular health

Serum vitamin D levels in humans are for vitamin D deficiency based on literature data are the follows: (25-hydroxy-vitamin D / 25(OH)D < 20 ng/mL = <50 nmol/L (62, 63). A significant portion of the world's population is affected by vitamin D deficiency. There are, of course, geographical differences, presumably due to differences in the number of hours of sunshine, but it should be noted that it is also prominent in developed countries even in such sunny ones as Australia (64). With the advancement of the Western way of life, it is expected to rise further. However, lifestyle changes are more effective in preventing this than vitamin D supplementation itself (65).

The role of vitamin D in the regulation and processes of the cardiovascular system is prominent. Decreased serum vitamin D levels are clearly associated with cardiovascular mortality (66, 67). We should also mention that the role of vitamin D supplementation in reducing these risks is doubtful based on the literature data. Based on the results of comparative studies, it is unclear whether vitamin D supplementation can reduce this negative cardiovascular effect (9, 67-73), and only a few studies demonstrate clear positive effects of supplementation (74-76). This can be observed in other diseases as well, a typical example of this is that adequate vitamin D levels have a protective effect in COVID-19 infection, but vitamin D supplementation during illness has no clear effect on the outcome of the disease (77). The reason for the apparent contradiction may be the special nature of human studies. In the case of human studies, it is difficult to create homogeneous groups where the vitamin D levels do not show a large deviation, it is known for sure how long the vitamin D deficiency has existed, and whether the vitamin D level was constant during its existence. It is difficult to control the consumption of foods containing vitamin D during the test, as well as the time and surface exposed to the sun.

Of particular importance in the increase in cardiovascular mortality due to vitamin D deficiency may be the fact that the role of vitamin D in angiogenesis has also been described. The importance of vitamin D in the development of tumor vasculogenesis, retinal vasculature, or preeclampsia has been demonstrated (57, 78-80). Vitamin D improves the proliferation and differentiation of the myocardial muscle by its action on the genes what control these processes (81-83).

#### 1.6.1. Vitamin D deficiency and the factors of cardiovascular morbidity

#### 1.6.1.1. Obesity

Obesity is clearly an independent factor of cardiovascular events (84, 85). The relationship between vitamin D deficiency and obesity is well known (86, 87). The connection has been described not only in adults but also in adolescents, and the risk of vitamin D deficiency associated with obesity in young adults is even higher than in adults (88). But the association may not be causal. According to a recent review although these two phenomena are connected, weight loss has just a little effect on normalizing vitamin

D level. Nor vitamin D supplementation has any effect on decreasing bodyweight (89). Vitamin D is a fat-soluble protein. It is distributed in the fatty tissues of the body. A bigger proportion of body fat may result in a lower serum vitamin D level. As we can see in obese individuals where lower serum vitamin D levels generally not resulted in disturbances of calcium or bone metabolism (87).

#### 1.6.1.2. Diabetes

Diabetes is also considered an independent risk factor for a higher incidence of cardiovascular events (19). There is growing evidence for an inverse correlation between serum vitamin D levels and diabetes, suggesting that low vitamin D levels may be a major regulator molecule in the development of diabetes. Vitamin D alone is required for proper insulin secretion (17, 20). However, in the development of insulin resistance,  $\beta$  cells attempt to compensate hyperglycemia by increasing insulin production. During this process, the accumulating intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and free oxygen radicals initiate inflammatory and apoptotic processes in  $\beta$  cells (19). Normal vitamin D levels are also essential to control these inflammatory processes (18, 90). Vitamin D also plays a role in increasing the insulin sensitivity of cells. According to studies by Mitri et al., vitamin D supplementation with insulin increased the glucose uptake capacity of cells in high glucose-treated adipocytes (91).

The cause of the effects of vitamin D in promoting insulin secretion, inhibiting  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis, and increasing the insulin sensitivity of target organs can be found in the influence of genes involved in the processes of glucose and insulin metabolism and production. Many of the genes taking part in the formation of diabetes can be activated by methylation. Vitamin D found to increase the level of demethylase enzymes so it can prevent the hypermethylation of many diabetes-related genes (92-95). It is easy to see from the above that a decrease in vitamin D levels can affect sugar metabolism in a number of ways and contribute to the development of diabetes.

#### 1.6.1.3. Dyslipidemia, atherogenesis

The significance of dyslipidemia is primarily due to it atherogenic effect (96). The role of atherogenesis in cardiovascular disease is evident (97), so is that of dyslipidemia which is linked to obesity. Dyslipidemia is an abnormal level of lipids, cholesterol triglycerides, and lipoproteins forms from the previous two in the serum. These serum fats are classified in the blood according to their density. We can list low density (LDL), very low density (VLDL) ultralow-density (ULDL), and high density (HDL) lipoproteins (98). Many studies already pointed out the association between vitamin D deficiency and dyslipidemia (99, 100). Based on these, low serum vitamin D levels negatively affect the optimal lipid profile. The benefit of vitamin D supplementation on the correction of dyslipidemia is controversial in the literature. The work of Ponda and his colleagues, who reached a similar conclusion in a very large number of cases, can be recalled here (101).

#### 1.6.1.4. Hypertension

Among others one the most analyzed pathologic connection of vitamin D deficiency is its role in initiation of hypertension (9, 10, 102, 103). Observational studies show clear connections between vitamin D hypovitaminosis and high blood pressure (102, 103). Several different mechanisms may lead to this. Effects of vitamin D deficiency on increasing arterial stiffness (104, 105), acting through the impairment of endothelial function (61, 106), tendency toward atherogenesis (107), and the enhancement of the body oxidative stress (108, 109) all are well-studied processes. Based on the above cited studies lower serum vitamin D levels are associated with elevated augmentation index and pulse wave velocity, and decreased subendocardial viability ratio. Indexes of the arterial function like reactive hyperemia index and endothelium-dependent brachial artery flow-mediated dilation decreased as an effect of low serum vitamin D levels. The explanation of it can be that vitamin D attenuates atherogenic plaque formation by the reduction of the inflammatory processes. It can also affect pathologic wall remodeling through VEGF and tissue matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) (110). Associations between serum vitamin D levels and the activation of renin angiotensin system (RAAS) can also play an important role in these processes (111, 112). As circulating parathormone (PTH) level is known to be a component of the pathomechanism of hypertension (113), the PTH and Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels as a function of serum vitamin D level can also be an explanation. Low serum vitamin D level increases the release of PTH in addition to maintain normal serum calcium level (114). Studies suggest that elevated circulating PTH is associated with high blood pressure (113). Well known phenomena that calcium supplementation reduce the risk of hypertension and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (115). Although it is still not clear we<del>at</del>ther hypocalcemia alone, or serum PTH and vitamin D levels as well as their effects on the elevation of intracellular calcium are in the background of blood pressure rise. Based on these studies we can conclude that there will be an increased contractility in the presence of catecholamines as well as an elevated basal tone of the arteries in the case of low serum vitamin D level.

#### 1.7. Vitamin D deficiency and major cardiovascular events

Cardiovascular research often discusses the so-called major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) because they both require special attention due to their severity and they are a well-defined endpoint studying an effect of a condition or physiological factor. The definition of MACE is not uniform in the literature, but in the clinical practice there are usually two forms. These are stroke and myocardial ischemia. I would like to address these two issues separately, as vitamin D deficiency can ultimately lead to these serious diseases through its effects on the predisposing factors described above.

#### 1.7.1. Vitamin D deficiency and stroke

Stroke occupies a prominent place in mortality statistics. The number of people affected worldwide is estimated at 15 million a year (116). Its risk factors include age, race, smoking, as well as sex, dyslipidemia, hypertension, obesity, and diabetes, which are also relevant to the present dissertation (116). It is not clear from the literature that vitamin D deficiency is an independent risk factor for stroke, but at the same time it may lead to it through its role in stroke-leading conditions. If the connection of vitamin D status with the development of stroke is in doubt, a relationship can be easily fixed between vitamin D deficiency and the severity of the stroke developed (117-119). And serum vitamin D levels are considered a predictor of recovery in stroke patients (120). The normal

functioning of cerebral autoregulation can play a huge role both in preventing the development of a stroke and in achieving the best possible long-term outcome after a stroke (121). The quality of cerebral autoregulation is largely determined by the function, contractile and relaxation properties, and histological structure of the carotid arteries. These properties will ultimately determine carotid stiffness, which is an independent risk factor for stroke (122). Based on literature data, a diet that reduces or increases serum vitamin D levels significantly reduces the diameter of the carotid arteries and increases the wall thickness (123). In elderly patients, there is a strong inverse correlation between vitamin D levels and vessel wall thickness in the carotid arteries and the intima-media ratio of the vessel wall (124). Altered relaxation and contractile functions of arterial section of coronary circulation (125, 126), cerebral arteries (41, 127), renal arteries (128), and the aorta (129) by vitamin D deficiency were also confirmed by our research group. According to these studies coronary arteries showed decreased contractility as an effect of thromboxane agonists and decreased relaxation as an effect of testosterone and estrogen. On the contrary, vitamin D supplementation improved the myogenic tone and the ability of relaxation. Vitamin D deficiency enhanced the vascular wall thickness and smooth muscle tone of the anterior cerebral artery (ACA) what can be explained by the decreased expression of eNOS. As a conclusion, vitamin D deficiency (VDD) resulted in an inward hypertrophic remodeling of the cerebral arteries which can lead to a dysfunction of the normal cerebral blood flow. In the renal artery, vitamin D deficiency caused increased phenylephrine-induced contraction. Acetylcholine-induced relaxation was decreased and increased elastic fiber density found. In the same work eNOS staining was decreased in VDD deficient females. In vitamin D deficient circumstances decreased acetylcholine induced relaxation and lower elastic fiber density of the aorta was found (128).

Because of the above facts, our research team also became interested in examining the relationship between carotid artery function and vitamin D deficiency in the adolescent period.

#### 1.7.2. Vitamin D deficiency and myocardial ischemia

Disease of the coronary arteries (CAD) and the factors influencing its development are the most studied phenomena in Western medicine (130). It ranks first in mortality statistics worldwide (131). As with stroke, risk factors for CAD include dyslipidemia, obesity, hypertension, diabetes, age, and sex. Not surprisingly, the study of its risk factors, including its relationship to vitamin D, has long been in the focus of interest (130, 132, 133). Among the most studied cardiovascular effects of vitamin D deficiency is its important role in the ischemic diseases of the myocardium. We have known for 30 years that the receptor for vitamin D can be found in the heart muscle (134). The effects of vitamin D deficiency on the heart and the functioning of the coronary network have since been studied. Studies show a clear association of vitamin D deficiency and the incidence of CAD. In addition to the processes mentioned in the case of stroke, vitamin D deficiency increases the contractile function of the heart muscle and promotes its fibrous transformation (135-137). Several mechanisms may contribute to the formation of CAD in vitamin D deficiency. Vitamin D plays a role in platelet function. The inhibitory effect of platelet aggregation should be emphasized. Vitamin D deficiency has been shown to lead to increased platelet aggregation, a clear risk factor for CAD (138). The influence of endothelial function by vitamin D is also a well-known process. Adequate levels of vitamin D are essential for the adequate synthesis of endothelial nitric oxide (NO), which is essential for proper endothelial relaxation and regeneration (57, 106). Inflammatory processes, atherogenesis, arterial stiffness is also influenced by vitamin D (71).

Until now, the focus of vitamin D-related studies on the coronary system has been on the histological and contractile features of the coronary arteries, their atherogenicity, and their response to inflammation. Our research team has previously used video microscopy to successfully verify network-level changes in the coronary system due to hypertension, aging, or exercise (139-141). Thus, the question also arose as to how vitamin D deficiency affects the development and remodeling of the coronary system. Does vitamin D deficiency cause network anomalies? This suggestion was confirmed by the study that is part of my dissertation (142). This raises the possibility that suffering from vitamin D deficiency during the development of the coronary network may even affect the occurrence of subsequent CAD. This suggestion will be confirmed by later studies.

#### 1.8. Sex differences in cardiovascular morbidity

It is a general observation that men and women have different levels of involvement in cardiovascular disease. In addition, this exposure changes with age (143, 144). It should be recognized that there are physiological factors unique to women, such as menopause, pregnancy, use of contraceptives, polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS), that affect cardiovascular risk (145). In recent decades, the effects of sex hormones on cardiovascular events have been studied by several authors (143, 145-148). There is no doubt that it is primarily the sex chromosomes that are responsible for the gender differences in cardiovascular events. The genes located on them control the function and development of the reproductive organs, through this, the amount of sex hormone production (149, 150). The androgen receptor gene located on chromosome X may be of particular importance. The following considerations can be considered when examining age and non-specific disease progression. Steroid hormone receptors are present in most tissues in the body. Based on the metabolic characteristics of steroid hormone, both male and female sex hormones are present in both sexes. Their absolute amount and relative proportions vary with both age and gender. It is also worth highlighting the gender differences regarding MACE.

#### 1.8.1. Sex differences in stroke

It is worth highlighting the gender differences in MACE. The incidence of stroke is higher in men, at the same time, more women are living with the consequences of stroke, and numerically more women are suffering from stroke. The reason for this is to be found in life expectancy. In general, the incidence of stroke in women increases after menopause compared to men and accumulates at an older age due to the longer life expectancy of women. The stroke in men is usually more severe, with more fatalities (151-153).

#### 1.8.2. Sex differences in CAD

More women worldwide suffer from ischemic episodes. Typically, most of this occurs after menopause. Women develop the disease more severely and with a worse outcome at a later age than their male counterparts. Typically, in this older age, women have more risk factors than their male counterparts. Unfortunately, women are more likely to have asymptomatic and NON-STEMI infarction (154, 155).

#### 1.8.3. Sex related alterations in cardiovascular effect of vitamin D deficiency

International data suggest that vitamin D deficiency and supplementation affect cardiovascular risk differently in men and women. In healthy men vitamin D supplementation reduces cardiovascular (CV) risk, although this effect is not observed in women (156).

Based on to the results of the MONICA study, the risk of stroke, CVD, and general mortality increases in middle-aged adults with vitamin D deficiency in women, but this effect is not observed in men (157).

Based on the results of our research group, sex alterations in vascular function and structure in terms of cerebral and coronary, renal arteries in vitamin D deficiency in rodent model can also be observed (125, 126, 128, 158). According to these studies vitamin D deficiency resulted in increased carotid artery contractile reactivity in male rats. Prostaglandin inhibition reduced contraction in female rats' carotid artery, but increased relaxation in male. In the same vessel the number of elastic fibers decreased by VDD in female rats, but not in males. In ACA in female VDD and testosterone treated rats decreased lumen and increased wall thickness detected. In males VDD itself decreased the lumen and increased the wall thickness. Vitamin D deficiency resulted in increased phenylephrine-induced contraction of renal arteries of female rats. Angiotensin II-induced contraction is more sever in male rats' renal arteries if vitamin D is supplemented then females. The intensity of eNOS immunostaining is decreased in vitamin D deficient females in renal arteries than in males.

#### 1.9. Vitamin D deficiency in experimental human and rodent models

In general, human studies are difficult to implement due to several factors. In the case of human studies, it is extremely difficult to form homogeneous study groups, and our results may be affected by the different biometric characteristics of the individuals. It is unethical to use extremely high doses of drugs in such studies, and the different medical histories and living conditions of individuals can show extraordinary differences. In contrast, in the animal models used in the research, where practically all the essential characteristics of the animals can be selected, their general housing conditions and dietary characteristics can be determined, their sex, age can be adjusted, even known extreme doses of drugs that pose a risk to the animal can be used and we can create homogeneous groups. As a result, we can get a cheaper experiment and results that can be evaluated even with a smaller number of individuals. Nevertheless, this obviously has great limitations for human medicine.

The above statement is also true for the studies of vitamin D deficiency. In human experiments, we rarely get information about, for example, the time and severity of VDD, experimental groups cannot be identical by age and connected medical conditions.

When using animal models, we can accurately determine the sex of the animals, biometric data, the amount and duration of vitamin D intake, exposure to sunlight, and these can be generalized to each individual.

Two types of animal models have spread throughout the literature. In the genetic models, genes that are involved in the synthesis of vitamin D, or genes encoding the VDR as well as those that mediate the cellular effects of vitamin D are knocked out, thus ensuring a state corresponding to vitamin D deficiency (159, 160). The model shows the effects of vitamin D deficiency with great certainty, extremely homogeneous groups can be formed with its help, but it is far from "physiological" vitamin D deficiency and does little to model human studies.

The other type to model vitamin D deficiency is the dietary model, where animals fed with a vitamin D free diet what we also used in our recent experiments as well as in our previous studies (108, 128, 129, 142, 161). There are several different vitamin D deficient foods available from companies offering laboratory animal feeds. By using them for different periods of time or by supplementing them with vitamin D, one can easily achieve the desired vitamin D levels. The clear advantage of this method is its low cost and that

it is more like the human situation, as there are also dietary and possibly environmental causes of vitamin D deficiency in the human population.

Normal, low, and high serum vitamin D levels in rat models differ from those established in human studies. Several studies have addressed to establish normal vitamin D levels in rats. Trechsel et al. determined normal 25(OH)D levels in rats at 40 nmol/l (what contributes to 16 ng/ml) (162). At the recommended daily intake, Mirhosseini found the serum 25(OH)D level 17.2 ng/ml in rats after 4 weeks of fed with normal recommended vitamin D intake, 25(OH)D levels of 43.2 ng/ml were described after fed with high dose cholecalciferol contained chow (5000 E/day vitamin D corresponds in human model). Rats on vitamin D-free diet developed 12 ng/ml of serum 25(OH)D level in supplemented animals (163). As a result of vitamin D deficiency Trechsel considered vitamin D deficiency if the serum 25(OH)D level was less than 25 nmol/l (10 ng/ml) (162). The toxic level of serum 25(OH)D in human is 224 ng/ml by Mirhosseini et al. in rat model (123).

Based on Halloran's study, 25(OH)D levels of two weeks old breastfed animals is 10 ng/ml. 8 ng/ml was found at 25 days, and 9 ng/ml at free weeks after weaning (164). 25(OH)D levels of breast fed 4 weeks old Holtzman rats were undetectable and remained at level following an 9-week long vitamin D free diet, while after 30 international unit (IU) daily supplementation of vitamin D increased the serum 25(OH)D level to 9.5 ng/ml and 14.1 ng/ml after 6 and 9 weeks (137).

We planned our experiments based on the results of above-mentioned studies. In our model 4 weeks old Wistar rats right after weaning from mother milk were randomly selected into groups getting vitamin D free and vitamin D supplemented chow. For investigation of gender differences of the contractile function of the carotid arteries in one part of our studies we created male and female subgroups of the two major groups also.

As a result of our methods, normal levels of vitamin D in the vitamin D supplemented group and sever vitamin D hypovitaminosis in the vitamin D deficient group could be achieved (19.66±0.81 and 3.59±0.21 ng/ml) (41, 142, 165). Our results with the applied animal models corresponded to the vitamin D deficiency and normal vitamin D levels expected. Thus, based on the above literature data and the results of our model, we were able to normalize the relatively moderate vitamin D deficiency of rats recently weaned

from mother milk with vitamin D supplementation, while vitamin D free diet remained the vitamin D levels in that low range.

#### 1.10. In Vitro methods used to investigate anatomy and function of arteries

#### 1.10.1. Myography

One of the best-known methods for laboratory examination of the function of small arteries is pressure myography (166), and the wire myography (167). Using pressure myography, examining isolated small vessel segments, our research group has previously published the results registered with this method several times (38, 126, 168). The pressure myography is suitable for the examination of previously prepared vascular sections up to 200 µm in diameter. With its help we can evaluate not only the function of the blood vessels, but also their morphological characteristics. During the method, we can perform our measurements by cannulating both ends of the branchless straight vessel, perfusing it, and placing the vessel in an organ bath. The intraluminal pressure can be adjusted by varying the perfusion. We can provide constant temperature and physiological condition in the organ bath. The effect of different vasoactive pharmakons can be tested both by injection into an organ bath and by perfusion into a blood vessel. High resolution pictures can be taken with the help of a microscope, which can be analyzed by examining the effects of perfusion pressure and pharmakons, by analyzing the diameter and wall thickness of the vessels. The intraluminal pressure can be adjusted by varying the perfusion.

With the wire myograph which we used in our research isometric contraction of different arteries can be measured. The technique has been used successfully since the late 1970s (169-171). Similar to the pressure myograph method, a ring element of the test vessel section is placed between the pressure measuring pins. The device measures the isometric contractile force of the vessel wall at a specified fiber length. The reference contraction of the vascular section applied to the device is determined with K+ solution, and we can later compare our results to this registered value. Various pharmakons that increase vasoactive contraction or promote relaxation are placed in the organ bath at different concentrations. The effects will be a change in the tension exerted on the device

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2023.2791

by the vessel wall. The measured data is analyzed by computer software and displayed using graphical methods. Previously our research group also used this technique to publish interesting data of measurement of different types of arteries like aorta, renal arteries, or carotid arteries (129, 172).

#### 1.10.2. Histology

In vitro studies include immunohistochemical and histological processing of blood vessels. Using the method, we obtain semiquantitative information about the tissue structure of the vessel wall, the proteins found in the vessel wall. According to the classical method, the tissues to be examined are dehydrated after removal and then fixed in paraffin blocks. With the help of a microtome, we can make thin sections, which are treated with different paints, depending on the type of material we want to see. A special method for examining proteins is immunohistochemistry, in which the test antigen is labelled with an antibody and stained. Our research group previously successfully used the histologic and immunohistochemistry staining to analyze the alteration of the structural and functional changes of the vessel (140, 168).

#### 1.10.3. Video microscopy

To understand the optimal structure of a vascular network, we need to look back to Murray's work (173, 174). Deviation from the ideal structure is clearly not advantageous and reduces the efficiency of the network. However, the formation of the geometric structure of the network is a much less studied element of the research. This is why this technique has come to the forefront of our research (139-142, 175).

Techniques for examining the coronary network have different limitations. Histological examinations are very useful, but they only give a cross-sectional view of the blood vessels, they do not provide information about their complexity or network structure. However, the function of the blood vessels cannot be examined by this method either.

Although myographic examinations provide information on the contractile and relaxation function of blood vessels, they also do not provide a comprehensive picture of the network properties of blood vessels. Although the imaging studies that can be used in the clinic inform about the complex course of the vessels, the properties of the networks and show real physiological conditions, their resolution is not good enough to judge the more detailed network structures, branches, and wall thicknesses.

However, coronary mapping and video microscopy meets all of these criteria. The method of the video microscopic technique itself and the micro preparation of the coronary artery system required for it have already been developed in rodent model (175). The increasing application of the technique has made it possible to study the effects of various variables on the coronary network, considering all the aspects detailed above. To be able to describe the properties of the coronary network, examining the branch system and its elements, wall thickness, length up to 80 µm of diameter under physiological conditions. Using the technique, our research team has previously showed the effects of high blood pressure, aging, or physical training on the structure of rat coronary networks (139-141). In our study the micro preparation of the left anterior descending artery (LAD) and the mapping of the resistance coronary artery network has been made as previously shown (175). All investigated coronary system remained intact during the process. 80 µm large branches and segments became visible. The orifice was canulated, the LAD system recorded in physiological circumstances during perfusion. All bifurcations segments and 50 µm long cylindrical unit of the vessels presented in a coordinate system, where X-axis draw has been drawn connecting the points of the orifice and the apex of the heart. Segments length, diameters, branching, the Murray's law, hemodynamically disadvantageous network anomalies, number, position and the thickness of the resistance artery wall of the 50  $\mu$ m long ring unites were measured (142).

#### 2. OBJECTIVES

Cardiovascular-related deaths, hypertension, and myocardial ischemia are associated with vitamin D deficiency. Both coronary arteries and carotid arteries play an important role in the cardiovascular risk. In our studies related to the dissertation we investigated how vitamin D deficiency alone, and vitamin D related physiological processes can modify the geometry, segments and branching of the LAD coronary artery network analyzed by video microscopy technique. Furthermore, how vitamin D deficiency affected the vasoconstrictive response of the carotid artery using wire-myograph method and what sex differences are found in this process.

To examine coronary vessels, male Wistar rats selected into male vitamin D deficient (MVD-, n=10) and male vitamin D supplemented (MVD+, n=8) groups. To examine carotid vessel, male and female Wistar rats were randomly selected into the following groups: male vitamin D deficient (MVD-, n=11-13), male vitamin D supplemented (MVD+, n=11-13), female vitamin D deficient (FVD-, n=11-13) and female vitamin D supplemented (FVD+, n=11-13). Vitamin deficiency achieved by a vitamin D free diet vitamin D free Lab Rat/Mouse Chow, (<5 IU/kg Vitamin D3, Ssniff Spezialdiäten GmbH, Soest, Germany). Animals of VD+ group were fed by a standard laboratory diet (1000 IU/kg of vitamin D) for 8 weeks. And additional 500 IU cholecalciferol on week 2, and weeks 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, weekly dose of 140 IU/100 g administered through a gavage cannula (128). After 8 weeks, LAD network was analyzed by video microscopy technique and carotid artery was analyzed by wire-myograph technique. Histology was made to analyze the effect of vitamin D on the detailed structure of the wall of the carotid artery.

In this dissertation I sought the answer for the following questions:

 Are dietary alterations of vitamin D can change the geometry, branching, and distribution of arteries of different diameters of the LAD network in rodent model?
Are there any sex-specific differences in the contractility of the carotid artery

associated with different serum vitamin D levels?

3) If there are, are these effects comes with related sex-specific alterations of the histological structure of the carotid arteries of the rat?

#### **3. RESULTS**

#### 3.1. Coronary artery mapping

#### 3.1.1. Biometric data. Body and heart weight, arterial blood pressure

Vitamin D deficiency and supplementation for 8 weeks long therapy did not affect the biometric data. Differences of body weight (MVD-:  $481\pm15$  vs. MVD+:  $477\pm19$  g), heart weight (MVD-:  $1.37\pm0.04$  vs. MVD+:  $1.32\pm0.08$  g), was not appeared among the groups. Blood pressure was observed invasively by measuring it in the right carotid artery and it did not show any significant alteration between the two groups (mean arterial pressure: MVD-:  $95.39\pm4.35$  vs. MVD+:  $88.18\pm6.57$  mmHg, in Nembutal anesthesia).

#### 3.1.2. Segments analysis

Observing the subsurface network, the segments and branching of coronary resistance artery up to an outer diameter of 80 micrometers showed no difference between the study groups (MVD–: 210 and MVD+: 224 segments, normalized in 8 animals). A major difference was the significantly larger lumen surface area of the primary branches in the MVD+ group. Lumen diameters did not differ during the next branching steps (**Fig. 1A**). Segments of order 1 and 4 were significantly, 2 and 3 were slightly longer in MVD– rats (paired t-test (**Fig. 1B**). Interestingly, branches of 11-12 order were showed up only in the MVD+ group (**Fig. 1A and 1B**).



#### Figure 1. Segments analysis

(A) cross-sectional area of the segments lumen from the MVD- and MVD+ animals. The cross-sectional lumen area of the first order branches was significantly bigger in MVD+ group. (B) The lengths of the segments of MVD- and MVD+ animals. The 1. and 4. order segments are lengthier in VD- rats. Values are means  $\pm$  SEM. n=10 in MVD- and n=8 in MVD+. Two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney-test, \*P<0.05 MVD- vs. MVD+ (142).

3.1.3. Analyzes of the branches

One of the guiding principles of microvascular geometry is that smaller branches deviate more from the axis of the main branch than larger secondary branches. So, the branch angle between the branches increases with increasing asymmetry in the diameters of the daughter branches. Analyzing the vitamin D substituted networks, this is clearly visible (**Fig. 2A**, significant by Pearson correlation). This association is lacking in vitamin D deficient animals (**Fig. 2A**).

Another feature of microvascular bifurcation geometry is that the lumen diameter of the daughter branches conforms to Murray's law. **Figure 2B** shows that the bifurcation of the study groups was met the criterion exactly of Murray's law.



#### Figure 2. Analysis of branching

(A) Range of asymmetry of the secondary branches (ratio of outer diameters). The index (with increasing branching angle) significantly elevated in MVD+ groups only (p<0.05 Pearson correlation, Values are means  $\pm$  SEM). n=10 in MVD– and n=8 in MVD+). (B) The Murray's law. Branching are obeying the Murray's law (142).

#### 3.1.4. Abnormalities

Vitamin D deficiency did not change the amount of morphological deviation such as parallel running, track breakage, multiple segments branching, or vessel tortuosity (**Table 1**).

Morphologic deformity	MVD-	MVD+	Chi <sup>2</sup> (X <sup>2</sup> ) probe significance level
Parallel running	2	3	0.65
Broken course	7	6	0.74
Multiple branching	11	8	0.49
Tortuosity > 8	7	5	0.56
Sum of all deformities	27	22	0.48

Overall number (normalized for 8-8 rats) of morphological deformities demonstrated no differences in the coronary resistance artery network of the left anterior descendent coronary artery of MVD– and MVD+ groups (142).

#### 3.1.5. 50 µm long cylindrical ring unit analysis

MVD+ animals had a slightly richer coronary resistance arterial network compared with MVD- rats (**Fig. 3 and 4**). Dividing the entire network into ring units of 50  $\mu$ m, there were significantly fewer such units in MVD- group. (6365 vs. 6602, overall data, normalized to 8 study animals with a p <0.0374  $\chi$ 2 probe). **Fig. 4A** shows that in MVD+ animals, increased number of vascular units was present in the outer diameter range of 100–300  $\mu$ m. The only exception is the 250  $\mu$ m diameter ring units. The peak of the histogram in MVD- animals shifted a little towards 250  $\mu$ m from 200  $\mu$ m observed in substituted animals. MVD- animals had significantly bigger amount of larger diameter ring units in the range of 400–550  $\mu$ m. At the same time at this range of diameter the ring units showed wall thickening. Thickness of the vessel wall thickening was bigger in MVD+ animals in the most common diameter range of 200–300  $\mu$ m (**Fig. 4B**).





The next interesting idea was to determine the exact geometric distribution of this numerical deviation. The heat-map histogram in **Fig. 5** shows that a new population of 250  $\mu$ m diameter ring units appears at a flow distance of 6-9 mm from the orifice in vitamin D deficient animals, while a decrease of 350  $\mu$ m is observed at the same sites. In vitamin D deficient rats, units of 150-200 and 300  $\mu$ m are almost absent at a flow distance of 10–15 mm.



#### Figure 4. Analysis of ring units

(A) Number of 50  $\mu$ m ring units as a function of different diameter ranges. In MVD– networks, the number of rings decreased in the range of 100-300  $\mu$ m (except at 250  $\mu$ m), and the number of rings increased in the range of 400-550  $\mu$ m. Normalized for 8-8 rats. Significantly different with the Chi2(X<sup>2</sup>) probe (p<0.05). (B) Wall thickness of 50  $\mu$ m ring units as a function of different diameter ranges. Wall thickness was increased in the 50, 350, 500, 550 and 650  $\mu$ m range in MVD– group. However, the wall thickness was bigger in the 200, 250, 300, 450 and 600  $\mu$ m range in MVD+ group. Values are means ± SEM. n=10 in MVD– and n=8 in MVD+. Mann-Whitney-test. \*P<0.05 MVD– vs. MVD+ (142).



# Figure 5. Frequency of ring unit (color coded) for different diameters and flow distances from the orifice

In MVD– rats a new population of 250  $\mu$ m units appear in a 6-9 mm flow distance from the orifice, while at the same locations there is a diminishment of 350  $\mu$ m units. In MVD– rats, 150-200 and 300  $\mu$ m units are almost missing at 10-15 mm flow distances (142).

#### 3.2.1. Phenylephrine-induced contraction of carotid arteries

Sex alterations in phenylephrine-induced contraction can be seen at phenylephrine concentrations of  $10^{-6}$  mol/L, male rats showed stronger contraction, regardless of the status of serum vitamin D level. In general, vitamin D deficiency resulted in more pronounced contractions induced by phenylephrine (**Fig. 6A**). At phenylephrine concentrations of  $10^{-7}$  mol/l, carotid arteries of male, vitamin D deficient rats showed an enhanced contraction compared to female animals. In addition, female arteries from the vitamin D supplemented study group showed decreased contraction. At a phenylephrine concentration of  $10^{-6}$  mol/l, the carotid arteries of male rats from the supplemented group showed decreased contraction. At a phenylephrine **6B**).

To elucidate the role of eNOS and cyclooxygenases, in the characteristics pointed out above in phenylephrine-induced contractions, the study was repeated in the presence of L–NAME and indomethacin and their combination. L-NAME forced the contraction in all study subgroups. However, indomethacin did not alter the reactivity in the presence of L-NAME in most groups, except for vitamin D deficient males, where it further enhanced the contraction compared with the effect of L-NAME alone. Indomethacin reduced the force of contraction only in female vitamin D supplemented rats, which suggests that vasoconstrictor prostanoids play a significant role in these animals (**Fig. 7A** – **D**). The lack of effect of indomethacin in male, vitamin D dependent regulation of prostanoid induced vasoconstriction.



#### Figure 6. Contraction ability of isolated carotid artery segments

(A) phenylephrine (Phe)-induced contraction in the four experimental groups at  $10^{-6}$  mol/L Phe concentration. Male sex and vitamin D deficiency were associated with more pronounced relative contraction. Data are shown as individual data points; horizontal lines represent mean ± SEM. Two-way ANOVA; factors: sex, vitamin D status. \*\*: p < 0.01, \*\*\*: p < 0.001. (B) Phe-induced contraction. Male rats showed significantly increased contraction compared to females at Phe concentration of  $10^{-7}$  mol/L independently from vitamin D status. Vitamin D deficient female vessels had stronger contraction compared to their vitamin D supplemented counterparts. At Phe concentration of  $10^{-6}$  mol/L, MVD– arteries contracted more than FVD– ones. Vitamin D deficient male rats showed increased contraction compared to their vitamin D supplemented counterparts. Data are shown as mean ± SEM; n = 9–11 in each group; repeated measures ANOVA, Bonferroni's post hoc test; aa: p <0.01 FD+ vs. FD–, bb: p < 0.01 FVD+ vs. MVD–, ee: p < 0.05 FVD– vs. MVD–, eee: p < 0.001 FVD– vs. MVD–, f: p < 0.05 MVD+ vs. MVD– (161).



Figure 7. Contraction ability of isolated carotid artery segments in the presence of inhibitors Phe-induced contractions in the presence of L-NAME and/or indomethacin (INDO) or their vehicle DMSO (A) in female vitamin D supplemented rats (FVD+) (B) in female vitamin D deficient rats (FVD-), (C) in male vitamin D supplemented rats (MVD+) and (D) in male vitamin D deficient rats (MVD-). L-NAME increased the level of contraction in all experimental groups. Co-incubation with INDO further augmented the contraction only in MVD- rats. INDO itself decreased the degree of vascular reaction only in the FVD+ group. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 5–11 in each group; repeated measures ANOVA, Bonferroni's post hoc test; kkk: p < 0.001 DMSO vs. INDO, l: p < 0.05 DMSO vs. L-NAME, Ill: p < 0.001 DMSO vs. L-NAME, mm: p < 0.01 DMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, mmm: p < 0.001 DMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, nn: p < 0.01 INDO vs. L-NAME, nn: p < 0.001 INDO vs. L-NAME, nn: p < 0.001 INDO vs. INDO+L-NAME (161).

#### 3.2.2. Vitamin D status and gender induced histological alterations of the carotid arteries

Vitamin D deficiency decreased the number of elastic fibers in isolated carotid arteries of female animals significantly but not in males. This can be a result of the marked, but not significant decrease of elastic fiber staining of the male carotid arteries (**Fig. 8A** – **8B**). On the other hand, vitamin D deficiency decreased the staining intensity observed after smooth muscle actin (SMA) immunolabeling of carotid arteries of male animals. This change cannot be seen in females (**Fig. 8C** – **8D**). Thromboxane A2 receptor (TP) showed a marked increase of immunopositivity induced by vitamin D deficiency in male animals but not in females (**Fig. 8E**– **8F**). Nitrative stress characterized by tyrosine nitration was less strong in both male groups compared to female vitamin D deficient animals (**Fig. 8G** – **8H**).



Figure 8. Histological changes of the carotid arteries

(A) Elastic fiber density of carotid artery segments. Tissue sections were stained by the purple-colored resorcin-fuchsin stain. Vitamin D deficient female and male arteries showed significantly lower optical density than vitamin D supplemented female vessels. (B) Representative images of resorcin-fuchsin-stained carotid artery sections. (C) Alpha smooth muscle actin (SMA) immunohistochemical labelling intensity in the media layer of carotid arteries. In vitamin D deficient male rats, the measured optical density was significantly lower compared to vitamin D supplemented male animals. (D) Representative images of carotid arteries stained against SMA. (E) Thromboxane A2 receptor (TP) density of carotid arteries. Vitamin D deficient male rats showed higher receptor density compared to vitamin supplemented male and female animals. (F) Representative images of TP-stained vessels (G) 3-Nitrotyrosine (NT) staining intensity of carotid arteries. Both male groups showed lower positivity than vitamin D supplemented female rats. (H) Representative images of NT-stained carotid artery sections. Specific immunohistochemical labelling was visualized by the brown-colored diamino-benzidine, while blue-colored hematoxylin served as counterstaining. Scale bars show 50 µm. Data are presented as individual data points and lines represent the median (IQR); Kruskal–Wallis test with Dunn's post hoc test; as: p < 0.01 FVD+ vs. FVD-, c: p < 0.05FVD+ vs. MVD-, cc: p < 0.01 FVD+ vs. MVD-, dd: p < 0.01 FVD- vs. MVD+, e: p < 0.05 FVD- vs. MVD-, f: p < 0.05 MVD+ vs. MVD-, ff: p < 0.01 MVD+ vs. MVD- (161).
### 4. DISCUSSION

Research on the cardiovascular effects of vitamin D has come to the fore in recent decades. The close association of vitamin D deficiency and adverse cardiovascular events has become clear. However, in many comparative studies, vitamin D administration does not clearly compensate this effect (9, 66, 67, 71, 72, 74-76, 176). This highlights that the effects of vitamin D that influences cardiovascular mortality and morbidity have not yet been fully understood.

Vitamin D deficiency affects a number of factors involved in the development of known cardiovascular diseases (177). It is proved to be associated with hypertension (178, 179), obesity (87, 180-182), insulin resistance, (183, 184), or dyslipidemia among others (185).

One of the hypotheses of the present dissertation was that changes in serum vitamin D levels play a role in shaping, structure, and geometry of the LAD network. Our other hypothesis is that, as described in other vessels, vitamin D also affects the contractile functions of carotid arteries, which play a key role in cerebral blood supply.

Revealing the histological changes caused by vitamin D deficiency and supplementation in different tissues have also been a targeted task of our research group (125, 126), part of the results are included in the present dissertation.

#### 4.1. Coronary artery mapping

In our work analyzing coronary networks, we paid special attention to the recording of biometric data, the examination of blood pressure, body, and heart weight.

The relationship between obesity and vitamin D is a known entity. However, the relationship is far from being causal. Due to the fat solubility of vitamin D, it is able to be distributed in a larger amount of body fat in the case of obesity, so that the decrease in serum levels in obese individuals can be only a relative and not an absolute decrease in vitamin D levels. This is supported by the observation that a decrease in vitamin D levels in obesity associated with problems of the bone metabolism (87). In our studies, we did not find any differences in the body weight or heart weight of the animals regarding vitamin D support or deficiency. Thus, the vitamin D levels provided by the model can be considered as absolute values. Vitamin D is also known to affect

myoproliferative processes, affecting gene expression in myocytes and the reninangiotensin system (81-83). At the same time, we did not find any difference in heart weight in our study. However, these similarities simplified the comparability of coronary networks of the study groups.

For the technical implementation of our research examining network anomalies and complex geometry of LAD, we used micro preparation of LAD and video microscopic analysis (175). Our research team has also used the technique in a number of previous studies, which can be considered an accepted method of examining the geometry of the coronary resistance artery system (139-141). Using the technique, we can get a complete picture of the course and branching of the coronary network, and we can examine the diameter and wall thickness of the segments under physiological conditions by observing the myogenic tone of the vessels. The method provides an accurate and detailed mapping of the coronary network properties seen during physiological circumstances.

The geometrical properties of the formed coronary network ensure an adequate and sufficient supply of oxygen for all parts of the heart muscle tissue to meet their unique needs. Many factors play a role in the development processes of the coronary network (186). The structure of the network must be hemodynamically advantageous and must have a sufficient density to deliver nutrients to the cells. At the same time, the flow resistance must match the needs. The number, length, diameter, wall thickness, and distribution of the segments that make up the network, the properties of the bifurcations, the distance of the network elements from the origin of the vessels, and the curvature of the cavity all contribute to the proper functioning of the system. Based on the literature data of the role of vitamin D in vascular remodeling (83, 186), previously we expected that we find differences in the structure and properties of coronary networks between the malnourished and vitamin D supplemented groups. These data reinforce our notion on the role of vitamin D in arteriogenesis. Namely, the vitamin D deficient state networks will be hemodynamically more disadvantageous than the networks of animals receiving vitamin D supplementation. We could expect to find differences in the structure and properties of coronary networks between the vitamin D free and vitamin D supplemented groups, given the role of vitamin D in arteriogenesis. It was further hypothesized that the video microscopic technique would be suitable to detect these differences. The universal characteristics and geometrical properties of the coronary network have been studied in

several models (187-190). In the previous work of Murray et al. and Zamir et al. demonstrated the key factors of hemodynamically proper vascular systems (173, 174, 191). Using the experience of these works, we considered branches of multiple segments, the parallelly running vessels, the broken course, and the bigger tortuosity as hemodynamically unfavorable deviations. All such morphological aberrations can be expected resulting in a sub-optimal hemodynamic situation. In our previous studies we demonstrated the role of hypertension in the development of these anomalies on rat coronary vasculature. The role of high pressure in the appearance of network anomalies was clearly demonstrated in these studies (139). Our recent studies have shown that Murray's bifurcation laws hold true despite vitamin D status (142), as we previously found for hypertension, physical activity, and aging by analyzing such networks (140, 141).

In our study examining the relationship between vitamin D levels and coronary network properties, we did not found differences between the study groups in number of coronary anomalies, as expected from our studies of the effects of aging and hypertension (139). Blood pressures did not differ between the study groups. All this may suggest that despite that vitamin D has been shown to affect the vasculogenesis (78, 79), vitamin D deficiency alone cannot form unfavorable network structures. However, hypertension, which is associated with several physiological processes (137, 178, 192) connected with vitamin D deficiency, may accelerate development of these pathological abnormalities in the long run. A previous study by Weishaar et al. examined the association between calcium and creatine phosphokinase and hypertension in relation to vitamin D deficiency in a rodent model. Vitamin D deficiency significantly increased arterial blood pressure from week 2 to week 6 of the vitamin D deficient diet but did not cause a blood pressure difference between weeks 7 and 9. The present study of our research group also showed corresponding blood pressure values. Based on the work of Weishaar (137), the authors identified disturbed Ca homeostasis due to vitamin D deficiency as a possible cause of the increase in blood pressure between 2 and 6 weeks. However, hypertension associated with long-term vitamin D deficiency and its causes have an extensive literature (9, 66, 176, 178, 179).

During our studies, we examined the branches of the coronary networks with special attention. We were able to conclude that the increase in bifurcation asymmetry in vitamin D deficient animals was not accompanied by an increase in branching angles, as observed

37

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2023.2791

in the vitamin D supplemented group. This difference can be considered hemodynamically disadvantageous. However, the lack of vitamin D did not elicit deviation from Murray's law, and the ratio of the inner diameters of the mother branches and daughter branches was not altered by different shear forces due to branching angles, and they met physiological expectations in both groups. After micro preparation of the networks up to 80 µm in diameter, the number of segments statistically was the same in the two groups. However, there were several differences in the network geometry of the two groups. Analyzing the major segments after the first bifurcations, we found significantly higher lumen diameters in the MVD+ group, allowing a greater blood flow at this level. However, for the 1-4 order branches, we found statistically longer segments in the MVD- group with increased wall thickness and reduced lumen cross-section, which may result in more vascular resistance at this stage of the networks. It is an interesting observation, and it is important to point out that during preparation up to 80  $\mu$ m in MVD+ animals 11.-12. order branches could also be observed but this cannot be seen in MVD- animals. All this confirms our inference, following a primary review of native networks, that MVD+ animal networks are denser. According to Poiseuille's laws the length of a vessel section is in direct proportion to its lumen area, and the number of connected elements in the system in parallel, the number of branches, is inversely proportional to the total hemodynamic resistance of the system.

Interpreting the differences described above, it is suspected that the coronary network resistance of animals in the MVD+ group may be lower than the vascular resistance of animals in the MVD- group.

In order to provide optimal oxygen and nutrient supply to the tissues, the body regulates the specific organ-specific tissue perfusion through various mechanisms. Prominent examples of this are cerebral autoregulation and physiological reactions of cerebral vessels to hypertension (193, 194), in which the circulatory system is able to adapt to altered conditions by regulating myogenic tone to provide the necessary perfusion. Numerous examples show this, such as the response to physical activity (195), or vascular responses to chronic hypertension in the retina of the eye (196). Vascular histological abnormalities associated with diabetes are also well known (197, 198). Taking all this into account and knowing the literature data, the network differences found to increase resistance in vitamin D deficient animals in our experimental model, even if no significant difference in hypertension was found after 8 weeks in agreement with Weishaar's work (137), can also be to the initial effects associated with emerging hypertension.

Following the above analyzes, our study was continued with a more detailed analysis of the network. We divided our LAD system into 50  $\mu$ m long ring unit elements, examining the properties of these elements, their spatial location, and determining their number. As mentioned above, heart weight did not differ between the two groups. However, the number of vitamin D supplemented animal networks showed a significant increase in the number of ring elements, which led to a higher ring element density in the networks. The lower number of ring elements in vitamin D deficient animals is mainly due to the significantly smaller number of ring elements with a diameter of 150-200  $\mu$ m. It should be noted that these networks were found to be richer in network elements with a diameter of 400–550  $\mu$ m, but this numerical difference did not compensate the decrease in the number of ring elements for the entire network.

An increase in the extra distance for each ring element was observed in the MVD+ group (Extra distance = Flow distance - real distance from the orifice). Previous studies on some special vascular networks, such as retinal vessels, have clearly evaluated the increase in extra distance as a sign of hypertension (196, 199). Taking into consideration that no other parameters in our study indicated that the networks showed differences suggestive of hypertension in the MVD+ group, this difference is considered to be a consequence of the richer network.

The distribution of the ring units of the network of different diameters as a function of distance from the rising of the LAD also showed differences between the two groups. The number of medium and small diameter ring elements in the regions farther from the orifice showed a clear increase in the MVD+ group. This may also mean better tissue perfusion. The wall thickness of each ring element was found to be increased in the MVD+ group in the 100-300  $\mu$ m diameter ring elements, while this difference was observed in the MVD– group in the 400-550  $\mu$ m diameter and less than 50  $\mu$ m diameter groups compared to the values measured in the other therapeutic group.

The histogram of the diameter distribution of the 50  $\mu$ m long ring elements of the networks shows characteristics. In the MVD+ group, the highest density on this histogram is found for ring elements with a diameter of 200–250  $\mu$ m. We may interpret this as a hemodynamically helpful property of the network.

In previous studies of our research group (108, 126), in which coronaries with a diameter of 200  $\mu$ m were studied with pressure myography, we found decreased spontaneous muscle tone in vitamin D deficient states, and the walls of these vessels were thicker and the lumen was narrower in complete relaxation. In our present study, we were able to examine the entire coronary network under perfusion pressure. In the coronary network of vitamin D substituted animals, we observed a greater wall thickness than arterioles with a diameter of 200–300  $\mu$ m, which may be due to the higher myogenic tone in our model of better modeling of physiological conditions in response to physiological intraluminal pressure.

#### 4.2. Carotid arteries

Another focus of our research was the study of carotid arteries, which play a prominent role in brain autoregulation. We were interested in how the contractile functions of these vessels develop in vitamin D deficient and supplemented animals, whether there is a sex difference, and whether the differences seen are followed by specific histological alterations among the study groups.

According to our studies of rat carotid arteries, based on the evidence of our myographic measurements, the carotid arteries showed sex differences in contractility under vitamin D deficient and supplemented conditions. Histological examinations of the vessels also showed specific differences in the studied groups (161).

Based on literature data, it seems clear that arterial function is affected by sex. This observation has already been described for carotids in mice (39). The release of cyclooxygenase-dependent vasoconstrictor factors in the arteries of the mesenteric region is more significant in spontaneous hypertensive rats (SHR) in male gender but not in females (36). The coronaries of male rats are more sensitive to the vasoconstrictor effects of endothelin-1 than coronaries of females (37). Myogenic tone of coronary vessels and vasoconstrictor response to thromboxane agonists were also more pronounced in male rats (38). In contrast, based on our previous research, there is no difference in the Phenylephrine (Phe)-induced vasoconstriction of renal arteries between the sexes (128). In our present research, the carotid artery contraction induced by phenylephrine is higher in male rats than in females, irrespectively from vitamin D status.

The risk and severity of stroke are clearly correlated with serum vitamin D levels (200, 201). An increase in arterial stiffness in vitamin D deficiency may be a crucial factor in the increased cardiovascular risk. Vitamin D supplementation may reduce this effect in both sexes (104). The reduction in arterial stiffness due to vitamin D supplementation may be dose-dependent, as seen in a vitamin D deficient overweight human study (202). Vitamin D deficiency may also be a factor in the enhanced arteriosclerotic process affecting the carotid arteries (203). The strength of Phenylephrine-induced contraction in our studies was shown to be increased in both sexes in vitamin D deficient conditions. The weakest contractile response to phenylephrine developed on the female's vitamin D added rat's carotid ring. The strongest contractile response was seen in male rats with deficiency of vitamin D. The contraction capacity of vitamin D deficient females has reached that of vitamin D supplemented males. Studies consistent with the results we have described are also available for mesenteric arteries, where vitamin D deficiency doubles the myogenic tone of these vessel (204).

Based on the previous results of our research group and the literature data, we can state that vitamin D deficiency and supplementation have different effects on contractility, both for different vessels and for different sexes. Examination of coronary arteries in vitamin D deficient diets reduced the contractile effects of thromboxane A2 (125). However, the renal artery in female rats showed increased contraction with phenylephrine, but this was not observed in male animals (128, 129). Vitamin D inhibits TP expression (205). A histological change in vitamin D deficient animals showing increased thromboxane  $A_2$ receptor (TP) staining in the carotid wall of MVD- animals may be due to the cessation of TP receptor depletion inhibition due to vitamin D deficiency. The presence of estrogen may reduce TP receptor expression (206), which may play a role in the absence of a significant increase in TP signal intensity in the carotid artery in FVD- rats. According to our data, the effect of prostanoids in the carotid arteries of female animals resulted in contraction, as the general COX inhibition used in our study leads to a decrease in Pheinduced effect. This effect does not occur in vitamin D deficient conditions. In our study, the simultaneous inhibition of the COX is enhanced the contractile force just in male vitamin D deficient animals. These observations have not been published earlier by other authors.

In our study, the observed histological alterations may also explain the differences in vasoconstriction results in different study groups.

The staining of both elastic fibers and smooth muscle cells is markedly affected by sex and the serum vitamin D level. The number of elastic fibers in the LAD coronary arteries is apparently less in the male study group than in females (168). Previous data have shown that vitamin D deficiency has a negative effect on the number of the elastic elements of the aorta (207), while this effect is not observed in other vessels, such as cerebral vessels (41). The carotid wall of FVD+ animals contain significantly more elastic fibers than in rats from all other study groups. Thus, it can be stated that the effect of vitamin D on the elastic structure of blood vessels does not show only sex differences but differs with respect to other and other blood vessels. In our study, immunostaining in MVD– rats smooth muscle actin was found to be the weakest of all groups. In the same direction, vitamin D has previously increased SMA levels in the aortic wall of rats on a high fat dietary circumstance (208), which may affect and alter the change observed of SMA density.

Our observations forming the present Dissertation unanimously prove the effect of vitamin D deficiency and supplementation on different parts of the vascular system. The observed coronary network geometry changes, alterations in carotid contractility and relaxation as well as a histological remodeling of the artery wall while do not show explicit pathological deterioration, their direction can be supportive for pathological changes induced by more powerful noxa. Also, we first described that the vascular effects initiated are dependent on sex.

When drawing conclusions from the results of our experiments, we must also address the limitations of our investigations. We worked with a small number of animals during both the coronary mapping and the contractility investigations of the carotid arteries. The clear reason for this was the complexity of the methodology, nature of the investigations, and the complexity of the statistical analysis. At the same time, the inclusion of more animals in the studies would have either made the process very long or required the participation of additional researchers in the study. However, this would have increased the interobserver variability, especially during the analysis of coronaries.

Another limitation of our studies is the eternal dilemma of whether conclusions can be drawn for the human population based on information obtained from animal models. We were able to mitigate both mentioned limitations somewhat by standardizing the test conditions and the usage of homogenous genetic properties of the animals.

## **5. CONCLUSIONS**

Our experiments focused on the following questions:

1) Are dietary alterations of vitamin D and the results serum vitamin D alterations can change the formation of the complex geometry of the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD) network in rodent model? Do the branching and segments property change? Does the distribution of cylindrical ring units of arteries of different diameters show alteration?

Although there are no network abnormalities or difference of the number of segments found, several alterations of the LAD system occurred associated with serum vitamin D levels. An increase in the wall thickness of larger segments, a decrease in the number of smaller-diameter ring elements, and changes in bifurcation angles in different study groups indicate some involvement of vitamin D in the morphological development of coronary artery networks. Thus, due to the richer network created by vitamin D supplementation may improves tissue perfusion. In the vitamin D supplemented animals, the networks were richer, the branching pattern was optimal, with no abnormalities. While these can only be expected to have moderate hemodynamic effects, they can alter pathological processes.

2) Are there any sex-specific differences in the contractility of the carotid artery associated with different serum vitamin D levels?

Low vitamin D levels such as male gender caused enhanced contractile properties of carotid arteries of the rats. The shifting balance of circulating plasma prostanoid levels increases the effect of vasoconstriction in male vitamin D deficient rats in the presence of L-NAME. This can be a result of the marked increase of TP immunostaining of this group. COX inhibition alone leads to a decrease in Phe-induced contraction in vitamin D supplemented female rats, which cannot be seen in vitamin D deficiency. Although does not affect the contraction of the carotid arteries of the male rats.

3) If there are, are these effects comes with related sex-specific alterations of the histological structure of the carotid arteries of the rat?

Changes of the contractility of the carotid arteries induced by vitamin D alterations apply together with sex-specific histological alterations. Staining of elastic fibers became

fainter because of the vitamin D deficiency in female animals, but not in male rats. Smooth muscle actin staining increased, the thromboxane receptor staining showed a marked increase in the male vitamin D deficient group. Decreased nitrative stress level based on the histology remained lower in both male groups regardless from VD supply.

Literature data clearly indicate a sex-dependent involvement of vitamin D in cardiovascular risk. In connection with coronaria mapping, we shed light on a new role of vitamin D in the process which has not been described so far. Our results described during the histological and contractile examinations of the carotid arteries may contribute to a clearer understanding of these gender differences of the already known clinical observations.

## 6. SUMMARY

Vitamin D deficiency alters several cardiovascular properties and increases the risk of pathological events. The aim of our research was to identify whether alterations in vitamin D diet can change the coronary resistance artery system geometry and the contractile function as well as the histological construction of the carotid artery. Further, is there any sex specific difference in the response of the carotid arteries in this respect. Low serum levels of vitamin D were reached by dietary changes. One of the groups of randomly divided animals got vitamin D free diet, while animals of the other experimental group have been offered standard laboratory diet and received additional vitamin D. After 8 weeks, analysis of the LAD coronary artery network has been made by video microscopy technique. Dietary changes did not affect neither the number of morphological abnormalities, nor the number of segments. Smaller lumen surface area and lengthier 1-4 order branches were found in the deficient group. Vitamin supplemented rats had richer coronary resistance artery networks. An increase in the wall thickness of larger segments, a decrease in the number of smaller-diameter ring elements, and changes in bifurcation angles in different study groups indicate some involvement of vitamin D in the morphological development of coronary artery networks. For the analysis of the carotid arteries, male and female Wistar rats were randomly selected into male vitamin D deficient, male vitamin D supplemented, female vitamin D deficient and female vitamin D supplemented group. Both gender groups were divided into subgroups according to the dietary method mentioned above. The isolated carotid artery segments contractile abilities were examined by wire myography. As a result, both vitamin D deficiency and male sex lead to increased Phe-induced contraction. Blocking of prostanoid signaling by indomethacin resulted in decreased contractile capacity in females. Staining of elastic fibers decreased by vitamin D deficient female rats, but not in males. SMA levels were significantly lowered, but the thromboxane receptor was elevated in vitamin D deficient males. Decreased nitrative stress was detected in both male groups independently from vitamin D supply. These findings may contribute to vitamin D dependent changes in cardiovascular mortality and may bring closer how the interactions between vitamin D deficiency and sex can play a role in the sex differences of cardiovascular risk.

## 7. REFERENCES

- McCollum EV, Simmonds N, Becker JE, Shipley Pd. (1922) Studies on experimental rickets: XXI. An experimental demonstration of the existence of a vitamin which promotes calcium deposition. Journal of biological Chemistry, 53: 293-312.
- Pike JW, Christakos S. (2017) Biology and Mechanisms of Action of the Vitamin D Hormone. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am, 46: 815-843.
- 3. Montenegro KR, Cruzat V, Carlessi R, Newsholme P. (2019) Mechanisms of vitamin D action in skeletal muscle. Nutr Res Rev, 32: 192-204.
- Gil Á, Plaza-Diaz J, Mesa MD. (2018) Vitamin D: Classic and Novel Actions. Ann Nutr Metab, 72: 87-95.
- Dusso AS, Brown AJ, Slatopolsky E. (2005) Vitamin D. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 289: F8-28.
- 6. Jeon SM, Shin EA. (2018) Exploring vitamin D metabolism and function in cancer. Exp Mol Med, 50: 1-14.
- Charoenngam N, Holick MF. (2020) Immunologic Effects of Vitamin D on Human Health and Disease. Nutrients, 12.
- von Websky K, Hasan AA, Reichetzeder C, Tsuprykov O, Hocher B. (2018) Impact of vitamin D on pregnancy-related disorders and on offspring outcome. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 180: 51-64.
- 9. Latic N, Erben RG. (2020) Vitamin D and Cardiovascular Disease, with Emphasis on Hypertension, Atherosclerosis, and Heart Failure. Int J Mol Sci, 21.
- Lin L, Zhang L, Li C, Gai Z, Li Y. (2019) Vitamin D and Vitamin D Receptor: New Insights in the Treatment of Hypertension. Curr Protein Pept Sci, 20: 984-995.
- 11. Wang Y, Zhu J, DeLuca HF. (2012) Where is the vitamin D receptor? Arch Biochem Biophys, 523: 123-133.
- Underland L, Markowitz M, Gensure R. (2020) Calcium and Phosphate Hormones: Vitamin D, Parathyroid Hormone, and Fibroblast Growth Factor 23. Pediatr Rev, 41: 3-11.

- 13. Almohanna HM, Ahmed AA, Tsatalis JP, Tosti A. (2019) The Role of Vitamins and Minerals in Hair Loss: A Review. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb), 9: 51-70.
- Gouni-Berthold I, Berthold HK. (2021) Vitamin D and Vascular Disease. Curr Vasc Pharmacol, 19: 250-268.
- Meems LM, van der Harst P, van Gilst WH, de Boer RA. (2011) Vitamin D biology in heart failure: molecular mechanisms and systematic review. Curr Drug Targets, 12: 29-41.
- Maddaloni E, Cavallari I, Napoli N, Conte C. (2018) Vitamin D and Diabetes Mellitus. Front Horm Res, 50: 161-176.
- Clark SA, Stumpf WE, Sar M. (1981) Effect of 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 on insulin secretion. Diabetes, 30: 382-386.
- Gysemans CA, Cardozo AK, Callewaert H, Giulietti A, Hulshagen L, Bouillon R, Eizirik DL, Mathieu C. (2005) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 modulates expression of chemokines and cytokines in pancreatic islets: implications for prevention of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. Endocrinology, 146: 1956-1964.
- Mitri J, Pittas AG. (2014) Vitamin D and Diabetes. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America, 43: 205-232.
- 20. Zeitz U, Weber K, Soegiarto DW, Wolf E, Balling R, Erben RG. (2003) Impaired insulin secretory capacity in mice lacking a functional vitamin D receptor. Faseb j, 17: 509-511.
- 21. Muscogiuri G, Altieri B, Penna-Martinez M, Badenhoop K. (2015) Focus on vitamin D and the adrenal gland. Horm Metab Res, 47: 239-246.
- Cermisoni GC, Alteri A, Corti L, Rabellotti E, Papaleo E, Viganò P, Sanchez AM.
   (2018) Vitamin D and Endometrium: A Systematic Review of a Neglected Area of Research. Int J Mol Sci, 19.
- Lykkedegn S, Sorensen GL, Beck-Nielsen SS, Christesen HT. (2015) The impact of vitamin D on fetal and neonatal lung maturation. A systematic review. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 308: L587-602.
- Zanatta L, Zamoner A, Zanatta AP, Bouraïma-Lelong H, Delalande C, Bois C, Carreau S, Silva FR. (2011) Nongenomic and genomic effects of 1α,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 in rat testis. Life Sci, 89: 515-523.

- Pérez-Fernandez R, Alonso M, Segura C, Muñoz I, García-Caballero T, Diguez C. (1997) Vitamin D receptor gene expression in human pituitary gland. Life Sci, 60: 35-42.
- 26. Wali RK, Baum CL, Sitrin MD, Brasitus TA. (1990) 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 stimulates membrane phosphoinositide turnover, activates protein kinase C, and increases cytosolic calcium in rat colonic epithelium. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 85: 1296-1303.
- Barsony J, Marx SJ. (1991) Rapid accumulation of cyclic GMP near activated vitamin D receptors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 88: 1436-1440.
- 28. Jackson WF. (2021) Myogenic Tone in Peripheral Resistance Arteries and Arterioles: The Pressure Is On! Front Physiol, 12: 699517.
- 29. Lüscher TF. (1990) Endothelium-derived vasoactive factors and regulation of vascular tone in human blood vessels. Lung, 168 Suppl: 27-34.
- Vanhoutte PM. (1989) Endothelium and control of vascular function. State of the Art lecture. Hypertension, 13: 658-667.
- Conger JD. (1994) Endothelial regulation of vascular tone. Hosp Pract (Off Ed), 29: 117-122, 125-116.
- 32. Vanhoutte PM, Eber B. (1991) Endothelium-derived relaxing and contracting factors. Wien Klin Wochenschr, 103: 405-411.
- Thompson J, Khalil RA. (2003) Gender differences in the regulation of vascular tone. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol, 30: 1-15.
- Orshal JM, Khalil RA. (2004) Gender, sex hormones, and vascular tone. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 286: R233-249.
- 35. Qiao X, McConnell KR, Khalil RA. (2008) Sex steroids and vascular responses in hypertension and aging. Gend Med, 5 Suppl A: S46-64.
- Kähönen M, Tolvanen JP, Sallinen K, Wu X, Pörsti I. (1998) Influence of gender on control of arterial tone in experimental hypertension. Am J Physiol, 275: H15-22.
- Kingma JG, Jr., Laher I. (2021) Effect of endothelin on sex-dependent regulation of tone in coronary resistance vessels. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 540: 56-60.

- 38. Mátrai M, Hetthéssy J, Nádasy GL, Monos E, Székács B, Várbíró S. (2012) Sex differences in the biomechanics and contractility of intramural coronary arteries in angiotensin II-induced hypertension. Gend Med, 9: 548-556.
- Lamping KG, Faraci FM. (2001) Role of sex differences and effects of endothelial NO synthase deficiency in responses of carotid arteries to serotonin. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 21: 523-528.
- Kruse NT, You Z, Moreau K, Kendrick J, Jalal D. (2020) Sex differences in endothelial function in chronic kidney disease. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 319: F33-f40.
- Pál É, Hadjadj L, Fontányi Z, Monori-Kiss A, Mezei Z, Lippai N, Magyar A, Heinzlmann A, Karvaly G, Monos E, Nádasy G, Benyó Z, Várbíró S. (2018) Vitamin D deficiency causes inward hypertrophic remodeling and alters vascular reactivity of rat cerebral arterioles. PLoS One, 13: e0192480.
- 42. Cardús A, Parisi E, Gallego C, Aldea M, Fernández E, Valdivielso JM. (2006)
  1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 stimulates vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation
  through a VEGF-mediated pathway. Kidney Int, 69: 1377-1384.
- 43. Mitsuhashi T, Morris RC, Jr., Ives HE. (1991) 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 modulates growth of vascular smooth muscle cells. J Clin Invest, 87: 1889-1895.
- 44. Carthy EP, Yamashita W, Hsu A, Ooi BS. (1989) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and rat vascular smooth muscle cell growth. Hypertension, 13: 954-959.
- 45. Somjen D, Weisman Y, Kohen F, Gayer B, Limor R, Sharon O, Jaccard N, Knoll E, Stern N. (2005) 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase is expressed in human vascular smooth muscle cells and is upregulated by parathyroid hormone and estrogenic compounds. Circulation, 111: 1666-1671.
- Wu-Wong JR, Nakane M, Ma J, Ruan X, Kroeger PE. (2006) Effects of Vitamin D analogs on gene expression profiling in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. Atherosclerosis, 186: 20-28.
- 47. Chen S, Law CS, Gardner DG. (2010) Vitamin D-dependent suppression of endothelin-induced vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation through inhibition of CDK2 activity. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 118: 135-141.
- 48. Lavine KJ, Ornitz DM. (2009) Shared circuitry: developmental signaling cascades regulate both embryonic and adult coronary vasculature. Circ Res, 104: 159-169.

- Peace A, Van Mil A, Jones H, Thijssen DHJ. (2018) Similarities and Differences Between Carotid Artery and Coronary Artery Function. Current Cardiology Reviews, 14: 254-263.
- 50. Goodwill AG, Dick GM, Kiel AM, Tune JD. (2017) Regulation of Coronary Blood Flow. Compr Physiol, 7: 321-382.
- Algranati D, Kassab GS, Lanir Y. (2010) Mechanisms of myocardium-coronary vessel interaction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 298: H861-873.
- 52. Kim Y-W, Byzova TV. (2014) Oxidative stress in angiogenesis and vascular disease. Blood, 123: 625-631.
- Kang Q, Yang C. (2020) Oxidative stress and diabetic retinopathy: Molecular mechanisms, pathogenetic role and therapeutic implications. Redox Biol, 37: 101799.
- 54. Cojic M, Kocic R, Klisic A, Kocic G. (2021) The Effects of Vitamin D Supplementation on Metabolic and Oxidative Stress Markers in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A 6-Month Follow Up Randomized Controlled Study. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne), 12: 610893.
- 55. Dzik KP, Kaczor JJ. (2019) Mechanisms of vitamin D on skeletal muscle function: oxidative stress, energy metabolism and anabolic state. Eur J Appl Physiol, 119: 825-839.
- 56. Ostadmohammadi V, Jamilian M, Bahmani F, Asemi Z. (2019) Vitamin D and probiotic co-supplementation affects mental health, hormonal, inflammatory and oxidative stress parameters in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Ovarian Res, 12: 5.
- 57. Kim D-H, Meza CA, Clarke H, Kim J-S, Hickner RC. (2020) Vitamin D and Endothelial Function. Nutrients, 12: 575.
- 58. Fleet JC. (2004) Rapid, membrane-initiated actions of 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D: what are they and what do they mean? J Nutr, 134: 3215-3218.
- 59. Umans JG, Levi R. (1995) Nitric oxide in the regulation of blood flow and arterial pressure. Annu Rev Physiol, 57: 771-790.
- 60. Vazquez G, de Boland AR. (1996) Involvement of protein kinase C in the modulation of 1alpha,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D3-induced 45Ca2+ uptake in rat and chick cultured myoblasts. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1310: 157-162.

- 61. Kim DH, Meza CA, Clarke H, Kim JS, Hickner RC. (2020) Vitamin D and Endothelial Function. Nutrients, 12.
- 62. Płudowski P, Karczmarewicz E, Bayer M, Carter G, Chlebna-Sokół D, Czech-Kowalska J, Dębski R, Decsi T, Dobrzańska A, Franek E, Głuszko P, Grant WB, Holick MF, Yankovskaya L, Konstantynowicz J, Książyk JB, Księżopolska-Orłowska K, Lewiński A, Litwin M, Lohner S, Lorenc RS, Lukaszkiewicz J, Marcinowska-Suchowierska E, Milewicz A, Misiorowski W, Nowicki M, Povoroznyuk V, Rozentryt P, Rudenka E, Shoenfeld Y, Socha P, Solnica B, Szalecki M, Tałałaj M, Varbiro S, Żmijewski MA. (2013) Practical guidelines for the supplementation of vitamin D and the treatment of deficits in Central Europe - recommended vitamin D intakes in the general population and groups at risk of vitamin D deficiency. Endokrynol Pol, 64: 319-327.
- 63. Giustina A, Bouillon R, Binkley N, Sempos C, Adler RA, Bollerslev J, Dawson-Hughes B, Ebeling PR, Feldman D, Heijboer A, Jones G, Kovacs CS, Lazaretti-Castro M, Lips P, Marcocci C, Minisola S, Napoli N, Rizzoli R, Scragg R, White JH, Formenti AM, Bilezikian JP. (2020) Controversies in Vitamin D: A Statement From the Third International Conference. JBMR Plus, 4: e10417.
- Palacios C, Gonzalez L. (2014) Is vitamin D deficiency a major global public health problem? The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 144: 138-145.
- 65. Patino-Alonso MC, Gómez Sánchez M, Gómez Sánchez L, Alonso-Domínguez R, Sánchez-Aguadero N, Sánchez Salgado B, Rodríguez Sánchez E, García Ortiz L, Gómez-Marcos MA. (2020) Multivariate Analysis of Influence of Vitamin Intake on Vascular Function Parameters by Sex in the General Spanish Population: EVA Study. Nutrients, 12.
- Kilkkinen A, Knekt P, Aro A, Rissanen H, Marniemi J, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Reunanen A. (2009) Vitamin D status and the risk of cardiovascular disease death. Am J Epidemiol, 170: 1032-1039.
- Norman PE, Powell JT. (2014) Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease. Circ Res, 114: 379-393.
- 68. Al Mheid I, Patel RS, Tangpricha V, Quyyumi AA. (2013) Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease: is the evidence solid? Eur Heart J, 34: 3691-3698.

- Wimalawansa SJ. (2018) Vitamin D and cardiovascular diseases: Causality. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 175: 29-43.
- 70. Pilz S, Verheyen N, Grübler MR, Tomaschitz A, März W. (2016) Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease prevention. Nat Rev Cardiol, 13: 404-417.
- Kunadian V, Ford GA, Bawamia B, Qiu W, Manson JE. (2014) Vitamin D deficiency and coronary artery disease: a review of the evidence. Am Heart J, 167: 283-291.
- 72. de la Guía-Galipienso F, Martínez-Ferran M, Vallecillo N, Lavie CJ, Sanchis-Gomar F, Pareja-Galeano H. (2021) Vitamin D and cardiovascular health. Clin Nutr, 40: 2946-2957.
- Rai V, Agrawal DK. (2017) Role of Vitamin D in Cardiovascular Diseases. Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinics of North America, 46: 1039-1059.
- 74. Manousaki D, Mokry LE, Ross S, Goltzman D, Richards JB. (2016) Mendelian Randomization Studies Do Not Support a Role for Vitamin D in Coronary Artery Disease. Circ Cardiovasc Genet, 9: 349-356.
- 75. Afzal S, Brøndum-Jacobsen P, Bojesen SE, Nordestgaard BG. (2014) Genetically low vitamin D concentrations and increased mortality: Mendelian randomisation analysis in three large cohorts. Bmj, 349: g6330.
- Bouillon R, Manousaki D, Rosen C, Trajanoska K, Rivadeneira F, Richards JB.
   (2022) The health effects of vitamin D supplementation: evidence from human studies. Nat Rev Endocrinol, 18: 96-110.
- 77. Farid N, Rola N, Koch EAT, Nakhoul N. (2021) Active vitamin D supplementation and COVID-19 infections: review. Ir J Med Sci, 190: 1271-1274.
- 78. Grundmann M, Haidar M, Placzko S, Niendorf R, Darashchonak N, Hubel CA, von Versen-Höynck F. (2012) Vitamin D improves the angiogenic properties of endothelial progenitor cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 303: C954-962.
- 79. Jamali N, Song YS, Sorenson CM, Sheibani N. (2019) 1,25(OH) 2 D 3 regulates the proangiogenic activity of pericyte through VDR-mediated modulation of VEGF production and signaling of VEGF and PDGF receptors. FASEB BioAdvances, 1: 415-434.
- Jamali N, Sorenson CM, Sheibani N. (2018) Vitamin D and regulation of vascular cell function. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 314: H753-h765.

- 81. Xiang W, Kong J, Chen S, Cao LP, Qiao G, Zheng W, Liu W, Li X, Gardner DG, Li YC. (2005) Cardiac hypertrophy in vitamin D receptor knockout mice: role of the systemic and cardiac renin-angiotensin systems. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 288: E125-132.
- O'Connell TD, Berry JE, Jarvis AK, Somerman MJ, Simpson RU. (1997) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulation of cardiac myocyte proliferation and hypertrophy. Am J Physiol, 272: H1751-1758.
- Kim IM, Norris KC, Artaza JN. (2016) Vitamin D and Cardiac Differentiation. Vitam Horm, 100: 299-320.
- 84. Kachur S, Lavie CJ, de Schutter A, Milani RV, Ventura HO. (2017) Obesity and cardiovascular diseases. Minerva Med, 108: 212-228.
- Ortega FB, Lavie CJ, Blair SN. (2016) Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation Research, 118: 1752-1770.
- Pereira-Santos M, Costa PRF, Assis AMO, Santos CAST, Santos DB. (2015) Obesity and vitamin D deficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obesity Reviews, 16: 341-349.
- Walsh JS, Bowles S, Evans AL. (2017) Vitamin D in obesity. Current Opinion in Endocrinology & Diabetes and Obesity, 24: 389-394.
- 88. Fiamenghi VI, Mello ED. (2021) Vitamin D deficiency in children and adolescents with obesity: a meta-analysis. J Pediatr (Rio J), 97: 273-279.
- Karampela I, Sakelliou A, Vallianou N, Christodoulatos G-S, Magkos F, Dalamaga M. (2021) Vitamin D and Obesity: Current Evidence and Controversies. Current Obesity Reports, 10: 162-180.
- 90. Riachy R, Vandewalle B, Moerman E, Belaich S, Lukowiak B, Gmyr V, Muharram G, Kerr Conte J, Pattou F. (2006) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 protects human pancreatic islets against cytokine-induced apoptosis via down-regulation of the Fas receptor. Apoptosis, 11: 151-159.
- 91. Mitri J, Pittas AG. (2014) Vitamin D and diabetes. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am, 43: 205-232.
- 92. Faraji S, Alizadeh M. (2020) Mechanistic Effects of Vitamin D Supplementation on Metabolic Syndrome Components in Patients with or without Vitamin D Deficiency. Journal of Obesity & amp; Metabolic Syndrome, 29: 270-280.

- 93. Fetahu IS, Höbaus J, Kállay E. (2014) Vitamin D and the epigenome. Front Physiol, 5: 164.
- Pereira F, Barbáchano A, Singh PK, Campbell MJ, Muñoz A, Larriba MJ. (2012)
   Vitamin D has wide regulatory effects on histone demethylase genes. Cell Cycle, 11: 1081-1089.
- 95. Alam F, Islam MA, Gan SH, Mohamed M, Sasongko TH. (2016) DNA Methylation: An Epigenetic Insight into Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Curr Pharm Des, 22: 4398-4419.
- 96. Hussain I, Patni N, Garg A. (2019) Lipodystrophies, dyslipidaemias and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Pathology, 51: 202-212.
- 97. Alloubani A, Nimer R, Samara R. (2021) Relationship between Hyperlipidemia, Cardiovascular Disease and Stroke: A Systematic Review. Curr Cardiol Rev, 17: e051121189015.
- Ramasamy I. (2014) Recent advances in physiological lipoprotein metabolism. Clin Chem Lab Med, 52: 1695-1727.
- 99. Han Y-Y, Hsu SH-J, Su T-C. (2021) Association between Vitamin D Deficiency and High Serum Levels of Small Dense LDL in Middle-Aged Adults. Biomedicines, 9: 464.
- 100. Jorde R, Grimnes G. (2011) Vitamin D and metabolic health with special reference to the effect of vitamin D on serum lipids. Prog Lipid Res, 50: 303-312.
- Ponda MP, Huang X, Odeh MA, Breslow JL, Kaufman HW. (2012) Vitamin D May Not Improve Lipid Levels. Circulation, 126: 270-277.
- 102. Ke L, Mason RS, Kariuki M, Mpofu E, Brock KE. (2015) Vitamin D status and hypertension: a review. Integr Blood Press Control, 8: 13-35.
- 103. Kim DH, Sabour S, Sagar UN, Adams S, Whellan DJ. (2008) Prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in cardiovascular diseases (from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2001 to 2004). Am J Cardiol, 102: 1540-1544.
- 104. Chen NC, Hsu CY, Mao PC, Dreyer G, Wu FZ, Chen CL. (2020) The effects of correction of vitamin D deficiency on arterial stiffness: A systematic review and updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 198: 105561.

- 105. Al Mheid I, Patel R, Murrow J, Morris A, Rahman A, Fike L, Kavtaradze N, Uphoff I, Hooper C, Tangpricha V, Alexander RW, Brigham K, Quyyumi AA. (2011) Vitamin D status is associated with arterial stiffness and vascular dysfunction in healthy humans. J Am Coll Cardiol, 58: 186-192.
- 106. Napoli C, de Nigris F, Williams-Ignarro S, Pignalosa O, Sica V, Ignarro LJ.
  (2006) Nitric oxide and atherosclerosis: an update. Nitric Oxide, 15: 265-279.
- Bennett AL, Lavie CJ. (2017) Vitamin D Metabolism and the Implications for Atherosclerosis. Adv Exp Med Biol, 996: 185-192.
- 108. Sziva RE, Fontányi Z, Pál É, Hadjadj L, Monori-Kiss A, Horváth EM, Benkő R, Magyar A, Heinzlmann A, Benyó Z, Nádasy GL, Várbíró S. (2020) Vitamin D Deficiency Induces Elevated Oxidative and Biomechanical Damage in Coronary Arterioles in Male Rats. Antioxidants (Basel), 9.
- 109. Dzik KP, Kaczor JJ. (2019) Mechanisms of vitamin D on skeletal muscle function: oxidative stress, energy metabolism and anabolic state. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 119: 825-839.
- Levin A. (2006) Kidneys, Hearts, Hormones and Immunomodulators: Integrated Understandings. Blood Purification, 24: 46-50.
- 111. Li YC, Kong J, Wei M, Chen Z-F, Liu SQ, Cao L-P. (2002) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a negative endocrine regulator of the renin-angiotensin system. 110: 229-238.
- 112. Zhou C, Lu F, Cao K, Xu D, Goltzman D, Miao D. (2008) Calcium-independent and 1,25(OH)2D3-dependent regulation of the renin-angiotensin system in 1alpha-hydroxylase knockout mice. Kidney Int, 74: 170-179.
- Zhang Y, Zhang DZ. (2018) Circulating parathyroid hormone and risk of hypertension: A meta-analysis. Clin Chim Acta, 482: 40-45.
- 114. Lips P. (2006) Vitamin D physiology. Prog Biophys Mol Biol, 92: 4-8.
- Tankeu AT, Ndip Agbor V, Noubiap JJ. (2017) Calcium supplementation and cardiovascular risk: A rising concern. The Journal of Clinical Hypertension, 19: 640-646.
- Grysiewicz RA, Thomas K, Pandey DK. (2008) Epidemiology of ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke: incidence, prevalence, mortality, and risk factors. Neurol Clin, 26: 871-895, vii.

- 117. Rad RE, Zarbakhsh M, Sarabi S. (2021) The relationship of vitamin D deficiency with severity and outcome of acute stroke. Romanian Journal of Internal Medicine, 59: 351-358.
- 118. Kim HA, Perrelli A, Ragni A, Retta F, De Silva TM, Sobey CG, Retta SF. (2020)
  Vitamin D Deficiency and the Risk of Cerebrovascular Disease. Antioxidants, 9: 327.
- 119. Li J, Lai H, Yang L, Zhu H, Chen S, Lai S. (2017) Age and Gender Differences in the Association between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Stroke in the General US Population: The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2001-2006. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 26: 2510-2518.
- 120. Xu T, Zhong C, Peng Y, Chen CS, Wang J, Ju Z, Li Q, Geng D, Sun Y, Zhang D, Zhang Y, Chen J, Xu T, Zhang Y, He J. (2016) Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D deficiency predicts poor outcome amongst acute ischaemic stroke patients with low high density lipoprotein cholesterol. Eur J Neurol, 23: 1763-1768.
- Castro P, Azevedo E, Sorond F. (2018) Cerebral Autoregulation in Stroke. Current Atherosclerosis Reports, 20.
- 122. van Sloten TT, Sedaghat S, Laurent S, London GM, Pannier B, Ikram MA, Kavousi M, Mattace-Raso F, Franco OH, Boutouyrie P, Stehouwer CDA. (2015) Carotid stiffness is associated with incident stroke: a systematic review and individual participant data meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol, 66: 2116-2125.
- 123. Mirhosseini NZ, Knaus SJ, Bohaychuk K, Singh J, Vatanparast HA, Weber LP. (2016) Both high and low plasma levels of 25-hydroxy vitamin D increase blood pressure in a normal rat model. Br J Nutr, 116: 1889-1900.
- 124. Oudshoorn C, Mezzadri M, Colin EM, van Dijk SC, Ruitenbeek AG, van den Meiracker AH, van der Cammen TJM, Mattace-Raso FUS. (2020) Serum vitamin D levels are associated with structural and functional properties of the carotid artery in older men and women. Eur Geriatr Med, 11: 409-415.
- 125. Fontányi Z, Sziva RE, Pál É, Hadjadj L, Monori-Kiss A, Horváth EM, Benkő R, Magyar A, Heinzlmann A, Benyó Z, Nádasy GL, Masszi G, Várbíró S. (2021) Vitamin D Deficiency Reduces Vascular Reactivity of Coronary Arterioles in Male Rats. Curr Issues Mol Biol, 43: 79-92.

- 126. Hadjadj L, Monori-Kiss A, Horváth EM, Heinzlmann A, Magyar A, Sziva RE, Miklós Z, Pál É, Gál J, Szabó I, Benyó Z, Nádasy GL, Várbíró S. (2019) Geometric, elastic and contractile-relaxation changes in coronary arterioles induced by Vitamin D deficiency in normal and hyperandrogenic female rats. Microvasc Res, 122: 78-84.
- 127. Pál É, Hadjadj L, Fontányi Z, Monori-Kiss A, Lippai N, Horváth EM, Magyar A, Horváth E, Monos E, Nádasy GL, Benyó Z, Várbíró S. (2019) Gender, hyperandrogenism and vitamin D deficiency related functional and morphological alterations of rat cerebral arteries. PLoS One, 14: e0216951.
- 128. Sipos M, Péterffy B, Sziva RE, Magyar P, Hadjadj L, Bányai B, Süli A, Soltész-Katona E, Gerszi D, Kiss J, Szekeres M, Nádasy GL, Horváth EM, Várbíró S. (2021) Vitamin D Deficiency Cause Gender Specific Alterations of Renal Arterial Function in a Rodent Model. Nutrients, 13.
- 129. Lajtai K, Tarszabó R, Bányai B, Péterffy B, Gerszi D, Ruisanchez É, Sziva RE, Korsós-Novák Á, Benkő R, Hadjadj L, Benyó Z, Horváth EM, Masszi G, Várbíró S. (2021) Effect of Vitamin D Status on Vascular Function of the Aorta in a Rat Model of PCOS. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2021: 8865979.
- Malakar AK, Choudhury D, Halder B, Paul P, Uddin A, Chakraborty S. (2019) A review on coronary artery disease, its risk factors, and therapeutics. J Cell Physiol, 234: 16812-16823.
- 131. (2015) Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet, 385: 117-171.
- Milazzo V, De Metrio M, Cosentino N, Marenzi G, Tremoli E. (2017) Vitamin D and acute myocardial infarction. World J Cardiol, 9: 14-20.
- 133. Oz F, Cizgici AY, Oflaz H, Elitok A, Karaayvaz EB, Mercanoglu F, Bugra Z, Omer B, Adalet K, Oncul A. (2013) Impact of vitamin D insufficiency on the epicardial coronary flow velocity and endothelial function. Coron Artery Dis, 24: 392-397.
- 134. Simpson R. EVIDENCE FOR A SPECIFIC 1, 25 DIHYDROXYVITAMIN-D3 RECEPTOR IN RAT-HEART. In: Circulation Vol. 68. AMER HEART ASSOC 7272 GREENVILLE AVENUE, DALLAS, TX 75231-4596, 1983: 60-60.

- Weishaar RE, Simpson RU. (1989) The involvement of the endocrine system in regulating cardiovascular function: emphasis on vitamin D3. Endocr Rev, 10: 351-365.
- 136. Weishaar RE, Kim SN, Saunders DE, Simpson RU. (1990) Involvement of vitamin D3 with cardiovascular function. III. Effects on physical and morphological properties. Am J Physiol, 258: E134-142.
- Weishaar RE, Simpson RU. (1987) Vitamin D3 and cardiovascular function in rats. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 79: 1706-1712.
- 138. Sultan M, Twito O, Tohami T, Ramati E, Neumark E, Rashid G. (2019) Vitamin D diminishes the high platelet aggregation of type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. Platelets, 30: 120-125.
- 139. Monori-Kiss A, Antal P, Szekeres M, Varbiro S, Fees A, Szekacs B, Nadasy GL. (2020) Morphological remodeling of the intramural coronary resistance artery network geometry in chronically Angiotensin II infused hypertensive female rats. Heliyon, 6: e03807.
- 140. Török M, Merkely P, Monori-Kiss A, Horváth EM, Sziva RE, Péterffy B, Jósvai A, Sayour AA, Oláh A, Radovits T, Merkely B, Ács N, Nádasy GL, Várbíró S. (2021) Network analysis of the left anterior descending coronary arteries in swimtrained rats by an in situ video microscopic technique. Biol Sex Differ, 12: 37.
- 141. Wappler EA, Antal P, Várbíró S, Székács B, Simon A, Nagy Z, Monos E, Nádasy GL. (2013) Network remodeling of intramural coronary resistance arteries in the aged rat: a statistical analysis of geometry. Mech Ageing Dev, 134: 307-313.
- 142. Dalloul H, Hainzl T, Monori-Kiss A, Hadjadj L, Nádasy GL, Török M, Várbíró S. (2022) Vitamin-D Deficiency and Supplementation Altered the Network of the Coronary Arteries in a Rodent Model—In Situ Video Microscopic Technique. Nutrients, 14: 2041.
- Oneglia A, Nelson MD, Merz CNB. (2020) Sex Differences in Cardiovascular Aging and Heart Failure. Current Heart Failure Reports, 17: 409-423.
- 144. Ji H, Kim A, Ebinger JE, Niiranen TJ, Claggett BL, Bairey Merz CN, Cheng S.
   (2020) Sex Differences in Blood Pressure Trajectories Over the Life Course.
   JAMA Cardiology, 5: 255.

- 145. Harvey RE, Coffman KE, Miller VM. (2015) Women-Specific Factors to Consider in Risk, Diagnosis and Treatment of Cardiovascular Disease. Women's Health, 11: 239-257.
- 146. Kloner RA, Carson C, 3rd, Dobs A, Kopecky S, Mohler ER, 3rd. (2016) Testosterone and Cardiovascular Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol, 67: 545-557.
- 147. Li W, Ruan W, Lu Z, Wang D. (2019) Parity and risk of maternal cardiovascular disease: A dose–response meta-analysis of cohort studies. European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 26: 592-602.
- 148. Martínez-Sellés M, Díez-Villanueva P, Álvarez Garcia J, Ferrero-Gregori A, Vives-Borrás M, Worner F, Bardají A, Delgado JF, Vázquez R, González-Juanatey JR, Fernández-Aviles F, Cinca J. (2018) Influence of sex and pregnancy on survival in patients admitted with heart failure: Data from a prospective multicenter registry. Clin Cardiol, 41: 924-930.
- Arnold AP, Lusis AJ. (2012) Understanding the sexome: measuring and reporting sex differences in gene systems. Endocrinology, 153: 2551-2555.
- 150. Bellott DW, Hughes JF, Skaletsky H, Brown LG, Pyntikova T, Cho TJ, Koutseva N, Zaghlul S, Graves T, Rock S, Kremitzki C, Fulton RS, Dugan S, Ding Y, Morton D, Khan Z, Lewis L, Buhay C, Wang Q, Watt J, Holder M, Lee S, Nazareth L, Alföldi J, Rozen S, Muzny DM, Warren WC, Gibbs RA, Wilson RK, Page DC. (2014) Mammalian Y chromosomes retain widely expressed dosage-sensitive regulators. Nature, 508: 494-499.
- Roy-O'Reilly M, McCullough LD. (2018) Age and Sex Are Critical Factors in Ischemic Stroke Pathology. Endocrinology, 159: 3120-3131.
- 152. Bushnell CD, Chaturvedi S, Gage KR, Herson PS, Hurn PD, Jiménez MC, Kittner SJ, Madsen TE, McCullough LD, McDermott M, Reeves MJ, Rundek T. (2018) Sex differences in stroke: Challenges and opportunities. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & amp; Metabolism, 38: 2179-2191.
- 153. Reeves MJ, Bushnell CD, Howard G, Gargano JW, Duncan PW, Lynch G, Khatiwoda A, Lisabeth L. (2008) Sex differences in stroke: epidemiology, clinical presentation, medical care, and outcomes. The Lancet Neurology, 7: 915-926.

- 154. Shufelt CL, Pacheco C, Tweet MS, Miller VM. Sex-Specific Physiology and Cardiovascular Disease. In, doi:10.1007/978-3-319-77932-4\_27. Springer International Publishing, 2018: 433-454.
- Lawton JS. (2011) Sex and gender differences in coronary artery disease. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 23: 126-130.
- 156. Sun Q, Shi L, Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Hu FB, Manson JE, Rexrode KM. (2011) Vitamin D intake and risk of cardiovascular disease in US men and women. Am J Clin Nutr, 94: 534-542.
- 157. Leu Agelii M, Lehtinen-Jacks S, Zetterberg H, Sundh V, Björkelund C, Lissner L. (2017) Low vitamin D status in relation to cardiovascular disease and mortality in Swedish women Effect of extended follow-up. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis, 27: 1143-1151.
- 158. Pal E, Hadjadj L, Fontanyi Z, Monori-Kiss A, Lippai N, Horvath EM, Magyar A, Horvath E, Monos E, Nadasy GL, Benyo Z, Varbiro S. (2019) Gender, hyperandrogenism and vitamin D deficiency related functional and morphological alterations of rat cerebral arteries. PLoS One, 14: e0216951.
- 159. Kitanaka S, Takeyama K, Murayama A, Kato S. (2001) The molecular basis of vitamin D-dependent rickets type I. Endocr J, 48: 427-432.
- 160. Li YC, Pirro AE, Amling M, Delling G, Baron R, Bronson R, Demay MB. (1997) Targeted ablation of the vitamin D receptor: An animal model of vitamin Ddependent rickets type II with alopecia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 94: 9831-9835.
- 161. Sipos M, Gerszi D, Dalloul H, Bányai B, Sziva RE, Kollarics R, Magyar P, Török M, Ács N, Szekeres M, Nádasy GL, Hadjadj L, Horváth EM, Várbíró S. (2021) Vitamin D Deficiency and Gender Alter Vasoconstrictor and Vasodilator Reactivity in Rat Carotid Artery. Int J Mol Sci, 22.
- 162. Trechsel U, Taylor CM, Eisman JA, Bonjour JP, Fleisch H. (1981) Plasma levels of vitamin D metabolites in diphosphonate-treated rats. Clin Sci (Lond), 61: 471-476.
- 163. Wilson HD, Horst RL, Schedl HP. (1982) Calcium intake regulates 1,25dihydroxy-vitamin D formation in the diabetic rat. Diabetes, 31: 401-405.

- 164. Halloran BP, Barthell EN, DeLuca HF. (1979) Vitamin D metabolism during pregnancy and lactation in the rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 76: 5549-5553.
- 165. Hadjadj L, Várbíró S, Horváth EM, Monori-Kiss A, Pál É, Karvaly GB, Heinzlmann A, Magyar A, Szabó I, Sziva RE, Benyó Z, Buday M, Nádasy GL. (2018) Insulin resistance in an animal model of polycystic ovary disease is aggravated by vitamin D deficiency: Vascular consequences. Diab Vasc Dis Res, 15: 294-301.
- Schjørring OL, Carlsson R, Simonsen U. (2015) Pressure Myography to Study the Function and Structure of Isolated Small Arteries. Methods Mol Biol, 1339: 277-295.
- del Campo L, Ferrer M. (2015) Wire Myography to Study Vascular Tone and Vascular Structure of Isolated Mouse Arteries. Methods Mol Biol, 1339: 255-276.
- 168. Török M, Monori-Kiss A, Pal E, Horvath E, Josvai A, Merkely P, Barta BA, Matyas C, Olah A, Radovits T, Merkely B, Acs N, Nadasy GL, Varbiro S. (2020) Long-term exercise results in morphological and biomechanical changes in coronary resistance arterioles in male and female rats. Biol Sex Differ, 11: 7.
- 169. Halpern W, Mulvany MJ, Warshaw DM. (1978) Mechanical properties of smooth muscle cells in the walls of arterial resistance vessels. J Physiol, 275: 85-101.
- 170. Högestätt ED, Andersson KE, Edvinsson L. (1983) Mechanical properties of rat cerebral arteries as studied by a sensitive device for recording of mechanical activity in isolated small blood vessels. Acta Physiol Scand, 117: 49-61.
- 171. Mulvany MJ, Halpern W. (1976) Mechanical properties of vascular smooth muscle cells in situ. Nature, 260: 617-619.
- 172. Masszi G, Horvath EM, Tarszabo R, Benko R, Novak A, Buday A, Tokes AM, Nadasy GL, Hamar P, Benyó Z, Varbiro S. (2013) Reduced estradiol-induced vasodilation and poly-(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) activity in the aortas of rats with experimental polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). PLoS One, 8: e55589.
- Murray CD. (1926) The Physiological Principle of Minimum Work: I. The Vascular System and the Cost of Blood Volume. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 12: 207-214.

- 174. Murray CD. (1926) THE PHYSIOLOGICAL PRINCIPLE OF MINIMUM WORK APPLIED TO THE ANGLE OF BRANCHING OF ARTERIES. J Gen Physiol, 9: 835-841.
- 175. Nadasy GL, Szekeres M, Dezsi L, Varbiro S, Szekacs B, Monos E. (2001) Preparation of intramural small coronary artery and arteriole segments and resistance artery networks from the rat heart for microarteriography and for in situ perfusion video mapping. Microvasc Res, 61: 282-286.
- 176. Pilz S, Tomaschitz A, Ritz E, Pieber TR. (2009) Vitamin D status and arterial hypertension: a systematic review. Nat Rev Cardiol, 6: 621-630.
- 177. Muldowney S, Kiely M. (2011) Vitamin D and cardiometabolic health: a review of the evidence. Nutr Res Rev, 24: 1-20.
- 178. Kunutsor SK, Burgess S, Munroe PB, Khan H. (2014) Vitamin D and high blood pressure: causal association or epiphenomenon? European Journal of Epidemiology, 29: 1-14.
- 179. Jeong HY, Park KM, Lee MJ, Yang DH, Kim SH, Lee S-Y. (2017) Vitamin D and Hypertension. Electrolytes & Blood Pressure, 15: 1.
- 180. Alemzadeh R, Kichler J, Babar G, Calhoun M. (2008) Hypovitaminosis D in obese children and adolescents: relationship with adiposity, insulin sensitivity, ethnicity, and season. Metabolism, 57: 183-191.
- 181. Veronese N, Trevisan C, Carraro S, Sarti S, Zanforlini BM, De Rui M, Coin A, Manzato E, Sergi G. (2016) Hypovitaminosis D and fat mass in healthy older people. Eur J Clin Nutr, 70: 1080-1082.
- 182. Fry CM, Sanders TA. (2015) Vitamin D and risk of CVD: a review of the evidence. Proc Nutr Soc, 74: 245-257.
- Sacerdote A, Dave P, Lokshin V, Bahtiyar G. (2019) Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus, Insulin Resistance, and Vitamin D. Curr Diab Rep, 19: 101.
- 184. Wimalawansa SJ. (2018) Associations of vitamin D with insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes, and metabolic syndrome. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 175: 177-189.
- 185. Warren T, McAllister R, Morgan A, Rai TS, McGilligan V, Ennis M, Page C, Kelly C, Peace A, Corfe BM, Mc Auley M, Watterson S. (2021) The

Interdependency and Co-Regulation of the Vitamin D and Cholesterol Metabolism. Cells, 10.

- Goodwill AG, Dick GM, Kiel AM, Tune JD. (2017) Regulation of Coronary Blood Flow. Comprehensive Physiology, doi:10.1002/cphy.c160016: 321-382.
- Kassab GS, Rider CA, Tang NJ, Fung YC. (1993) Morphometry of pig coronary arterial trees. Am J Physiol, 265: H350-365.
- 188. Tomanek RJ, Palmer PJ, Peiffer GL, Schreiber KL, Eastham CL, Marcus ML. (1986) Morphometry of canine coronary arteries, arterioles, and capillaries during hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy. Circulation Research, 58: 38-46.
- Rakusan K, Wicker P. (1990) Morphometry of the small arteries and arterioles in the rat heart: effects of chronic hypertension and exercise. Cardiovasc Res, 24: 278-284.
- 190. Zamir M, Phipps S, Langille BL, Wonnacott TH. (1984) Branching characteristics of coronary arteries in rats. Can J Physiol Pharmacol, 62: 1453-1459.
- 191. Zamir M. (1976) Optimality principles in arterial branching. J Theor Biol, 62: 227-251.
- Adamczak M, Surma S, Więcek A. (2020) Vitamin D and Arterial Hypertension: Facts and Myths. Current Hypertension Reports, 22.
- Faraci FM, Heistad DD. (1990) Regulation of large cerebral arteries and cerebral microvascular pressure. Circulation Research, 66: 8-17.
- 194. Claassen J, Thijssen DHJ, Panerai RB, Faraci FM. (2021) Regulation of cerebral blood flow in humans: physiology and clinical implications of autoregulation. Physiol Rev, 101: 1487-1559.
- 195. Palatini P. (1988) Blood pressure behaviour during physical activity. Sports Med, 5: 353-374.
- 196. Cheung CY, Zheng Y, Hsu W, Lee ML, Lau QP, Mitchell P, Wang JJ, Klein R, Wong TY. (2011) Retinal vascular tortuosity, blood pressure, and cardiovascular risk factors. Ophthalmology, 118: 812-818.
- 197. Petrie JR, Guzik TJ, Touyz RM. (2018) Diabetes, Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease: Clinical Insights and Vascular Mechanisms. Canadian Journal of Cardiology, 34: 575-584.

- 198. Strain WD, Paldánius PM. (2018) Diabetes, cardiovascular disease and the microcirculation. Cardiovascular Diabetology, 17.
- 199. Kahe F, Sharfaei S, Pitliya A, Jafarizade M, Seifirad S, Habibi S, Chi G. (2020)Coronary artery tortuosity: a narrative review. Coron Artery Dis, 31: 187-192.
- 200. Rad RE, Zarbakhsh M, Sarabi S. (2021) The Relationship of Vitamin D Deficiency with Severity and Outcome of Acute Stroke. Rom J Intern Med, doi:10.2478/rjim-2021-0013.
- 201. Berghout BP, Fani L, Heshmatollah A, Koudstaal PJ, Ikram MA, Zillikens MC, Ikram MK. (2019) Vitamin D Status and Risk of Stroke: The Rotterdam Study. Stroke, 50: 2293-2298.
- 202. Raed A, Bhagatwala J, Zhu H, Pollock NK, Parikh SJ, Huang Y, Havens R, Kotak I, Guo DH, Dong Y. (2017) Dose responses of vitamin D3 supplementation on arterial stiffness in overweight African Americans with vitamin D deficiency: A placebo controlled randomized trial. PLoS One, 12: e0188424.
- 203. Chen FH, Liu T, Xu L, Zhang L, Zhou XB. (2018) Association of Serum Vitamin D Level and Carotid Atherosclerosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Ultrasound Med, 37: 1293-1303.
- 204. Tare M, Emmett SJ, Coleman HA, Skordilis C, Eyles DW, Morley R, Parkington HC. (2011) Vitamin D insufficiency is associated with impaired vascular endothelial and smooth muscle function and hypertension in young rats. J Physiol, 589: 4777-4786.
- 205. Dong J, Wong SL, Lau CW, Liu J, Wang YX, Dan He Z, Fai Ng C, Yu Chen Z, Yao X, Xu A, Ni X, Wang H, Huang Y. (2013) Calcitriol restores renovascular function in estrogen-deficient rats through downregulation of cyclooxygenase-2 and the thromboxane-prostanoid receptor. Kidney Int, 84: 54-63.
- 206. Mishra RG, Stanczyk FZ, Burry KA, Oparil S, Katzenellenbogen BS, Nealen ML, Katzenellenbogen JA, Hermsmeyer RK. (2006) Metabolite ligands of estrogen receptor-beta reduce primate coronary hyperreactivity. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 290: H295-303.
- 207. Hacioglu Y, Karabag T, Piskinpasa ME, Sametoglu F, Yuksel Y. (2018) Impaired Cardiac Functions and Aortic Elastic Properties in Patients with Severe Vitamin D Deficiency. J Cardiovasc Echogr, 28: 171-176.

208. Wagih HM, Hashem HE, Hassan ZA, Algaidi SA. (2018) Modulation of S100 and smooth muscle actin-α immunoreactivity in the wall of aorta after vitamin D administration in rats with high fat diet. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand), 64: 21-28.

# 8. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF PUBLICATIONS

## **Publications related to the thesis:**

Sipos Miklós, Gerszi D, **Dalloul H**, Bányai B, Sziva RE, Kollarics R, Magyar P, TörökM, Ács N, Szekeres M, Nádasy GyL, Hadjadj L, Horváth EM, and Várbíró Sz. Vitamin D deficiency and sex alter vasoconstrictor and vasodilator reactivity in rat carotid artery. Int J Mol Sci, 22(15):8029. (2021) IF: 6.208

**Dalloul H**, Hainzl T, Monori-Kiss A, Hadjadj L, Nádasy GL, Török M, Várbíró S. Vitamin-D Deficiency and Supplementation Altered the Network of the Coronary Arteries in a Rodent Model — In Situ Video Microscopic Technique. Nutrients, 14(10):2041. (2022) IF: 6.706

## Publications not related to the thesis:

Costa A, **Dalloul H**, Hegyesi H, Apor P, Csende Z, Racz L, Vaczi M, Tihanyi J, Impact of repeated bouts of eccentric exercise on myogenic gene expression. Eur J Appl Physiol, 101: 427-436. (2007) IF: 1.752

Karászi É, Onozó B, Sütő A, Kutas K, Szalóczi B, Laczkovszki M, Demeter G, Kovács F, Tordas D, **Dalloul H**, Világos E, Erlaky H. [Clinical and epidemiological characteristics of pediatric COVID-19 patients in a community-based study]. Orv Hetil, 162: 1751-1760 (2021)

IF: 0.540

**Dalloul H**. Eszméletvesztés és syncope a gyermekorvosi gyakorlatban. Vezérfonal az alapellátók számára Gyermekgyógyászat 2021; 72. Évfolyam, 5. Szám 316-323

∑IF: 15.206

### 9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Throughout my scientific work and the entire process of writing my dissertation, I have received essential and selfless support and assistance from a number of individuals.

First, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Szabolcs Várbíró DSc and my cosupervisor Dr. Marianna Török PhD for their support during the several years from the planning of the study to the presentation of the dissertation. Thank you for the guidance, for the motivating conversations Thank you for being did not let me ignite the fire of interest and always swing me through the difficulties.

With your help, I was able to get a new approach to scientific sophistication that will always accompanies and improve my clinical work.

Many thanks to Dr. Mária Szekeres PhD and Dr. György Nádasy PhD for their help in designing and carrying out the methodological background of the research and for providing the opportunity to carry out the research at their Institute.

I would like to thank my fellow researchers and colleagues who have worked together on research, data collection, data analysis, statistical evaluation, and preparation of scientific work for publication. So, thank you Miklós Sipos, Tobias Hainzl, Anna Monori-Kiss, Leila Hadjadj, Dóra Gerszi, Bálint Bányai, Réka Eszter Sziva, Réka Kollarics, Péter Magyar, and Eszter Mária Horváth.

Special thanks to Workgroup for Science Management, Doctoral School for their support in writing my dissertation and completing it as soon as possible

And finally, I must thank my colleagues in my practice and my family members who, during the whole process, planning and execution of the studies, writing the papers, and the preparation of the dissertation, patiently acknowledged my absence and supported me throughout the work.





# Article Vitamin-D Deficiency and Supplementation Altered the Network of the Coronary Arteries in a Rodent Model—In Situ Video Microscopic Technique

Hicham Dalloul <sup>1,\*</sup><sup>(D)</sup>, Tobias Hainzl <sup>2</sup>, Anna Monori-Kiss <sup>3</sup>, Leila Hadjadj <sup>3</sup>, György L. Nádasy <sup>4</sup>, Marianna Török <sup>2,5,\*,†</sup><sup>(D)</sup> and Szabolcs Várbíró <sup>2,5,\*,†</sup><sup>(D)</sup>

- Károly Rácz Doctoral School of Clinical Medicine, Semmelweis University, Üllői Street 26, H-1085 Budapest, Hungary
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Semmelweis University, Üllői Street 78/a, H-1082 Budapest, Hungary; hainzltobias@gmail.com
   <sup>3</sup> Department of Translational Medicina, Faculty of Medicina, Sammelweis University I
  - Department of Translational Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Üllői Street 78/a,
- H-1082 Budapest, Hungary; anna.monorikiss@gmail.com (A.M.-K.); leila.hadjadj@gmail.com (L.H.)
   Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Tűzoltó Street 37-47, H-1094 Budapest, Hungary; nadasy.gyorgy@med.semmelweis-univ.hu
- <sup>5</sup> Workgroup for Science Management, Doctoral School, Semmelweis University, Üllői Street 22, H-1085 Budapest, Hungary
- Correspondence: hichamdalloul@gmail.com (H.D.); torok.marianna@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (M.T.); varbiro.szabolcs@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (S.V.)
- + These authors contributed equally to this work.

**Abstract:** The aim of our study was to identify whether vitamin-D deficiency (VDD) can alter the geometry of the coronary-resistance-artery system. Male Wistar rats were divided into vitamin-D-deficient (VD-, n = 10) and vitamin-D-supplemented (VD+, n = 8) groups. After eight weeks, branches and segments of the left-anterior-descending-coronary-artery (LAD) network were analyzed by a video-microscopy technique. Segments were divided into 50 µm-long cylindrical ring units. VDD did not increase the number of morphological abnormalities. The number of segments did not differ between the groups (VD-: 210 and VD+: 224; pooled data of 8 networks). A larger lumen area of branches was found in VD+ group, while 1–4-order branches were lengthier in the VD- group. VD- rats had less rich coronary-resistance-artery networks in terms of 50 µm-long units. (VD-: 6365 vs. VD+: 6602; pooled data of 8 networks). VD+ animals were richer in the 100–350 µm outer diameter range, and VD- animals were richer in the 400–550 µm-diameter units. In VD- rats, 150–200 and 300 µm units were almost missing at higher flow distances from the orifice. Serum vitamin-D alterations caused by dietary changes can affect the geometry of the coronary-artery network, which may contribute to vitamin-D-dependent changes in cardiovascular mortality.

**Keywords:** vitamin-D deficiency; network; left-anterior-descending coronary arteries; LAD; cardiovascular disease; video-microscopic technique

#### 1. Introduction

It has been a hundred years since McCollum first used the term 'vitamin D' in 1922 [1]. Since then, vitamin D has been known as a regulator and key molecule of calcium metabolism, serum calcium levels, and bone mineralization in the human body [2–5]. Beyond its skeletal effects, the role of vitamin D has been confirmed in numerous different biochemical processes and diseases including but not limited to mental and psychological disorders [6], cancer [7], immunological aspects [8], as well as pregnancy and neonatal outcomes [9]. Therefore, some consider it as a general physiological regulatory molecule.

Its role in the cardiovascular system is being extensively studied. Observational studies have confirmed the linkage of vitamin-D deficiency with hypertension and cardiovascular-related deaths [10,11]. As an explanation for this, the vitamin-D receptor (VDR) has been



Citation: Dalloul, H.; Hainzl, T.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Hadjadj, L.; Nádasy, G.L.; Török, M.; Várbíró, S. Vitamin-D Deficiency and Supplementation Altered the Network of the Coronary Arteries in a Rodent Model—In Situ Video Microscopic Technique. *Nutrients* 2022, *14*, 2041. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/nu14102041

Academic Editor: Bruce W. Hollis

Received: 13 March 2022 Accepted: 11 May 2022 Published: 13 May 2022

**Publisher's Note:** MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



**Copyright:** © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). found to be widely distributed in the cardiovascular-system cells. However, the role of vitamin-D supplementation in reducing cardiovascular harm is unclear based on the results of comprehensive studies. Most comparative studies leave the question open [12–19]. However, there are studies that confirm [20] and some that do not support [21,22] the role of vitamin-D supplementation in reducing the cardiovascular mortality rate.

One of the most studied cardiovascular consequences of vitamin-D deficiency is its role in myocardial ischemia [23]. There are several mechanisms that can contribute to this, all of which can be affected by vitamin-D deficiency. Most studies have focused on the effect of vitamin D on different cell types (e.g., cardiomyocytes or vascular smoothmuscle cells) [14,24]. Arterial stiffness [25], altered endothelial function [26,27], increased atherogenesis [28], and changes in oxidative-stress tolerance [29] can all play a role in it. The topic of altered vascular contractility and relaxational ability associated with vitamin-D deficiency was studied by our research team in a rodent model in coronary arteries [30,31], cerebral arteries [32,33], renal arteries [34], carotid arteries [35] and the aorta [36].

The examination of the geometry of the vascular network, the description of the hemodynamically advantageous course, and branches of the vessels can be traced back to the rules described by Murray [37,38]. Although it has been known for almost one hundred years that deviations from this law reduce the efficiency of circulation, most of the research on vascular examination has focused on the histology, biochemical properties, and contractility of blood vessels. The development of the micropreparation technique of intramural coronary-resistance-artery networks in the rodent model [39,40] and the increasingly widely used technique of video microscopy have made it possible to study the vascular-network system in its complexity and to observe the effect of different variables on the whole network. Our research team successfully demonstrated the effect of hypertension, aging, and training on the entire geometry of the coronary network [39,41,42] using this technique.

In our study we sought the answer to how vitamin-D deficiency and the biochemical processes influenced by it can change the geometry, branching, and distribution of arteries of different diameters of the left-anterior-descending-artery (LAD) network. Our hypotheses were: (1) vitamin D does not only affect the histological structure and contractile function of the coronaries, but also plays a role in forming the geometry of the entire network, thus gaining a potential role in cardiovascular mortality; (2) the lack of vitamin D, which is known to be involved in angiogenesis, may produce hemodynamically disadvantageous network anomalies in the coronary network; (3) that changes may occur in the location of the vascular-network unit population due to vitamin-D deficiency and supplementation.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Ethical Approval and Animals

The study was designed and performed based on the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health (8th edition, 2011) and the European Union (Directive No. 2010/63/EU). All procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee of Hungary for Animal Experimentation and University authorities (permission number: IRB: 8/2014 PEI/001/1548-3/2014, PEI/001/820-2/2015). Four-week-old male (n = 18) Wistar rats (Semmelweis University in agreement with Charles River LTd., AnimaLab, Vác, Hungary) were randomly divided into two experimental groups: a group with vitamin-D deficiency (VD–, n = 10) and a group with vitamin-D supplementation (VD+, n = 8).

#### 2.2. Chemicals

Vigantol oil (20,000 IU/mL cholecalciferol suspension) was provided by Merck/Merck Serono (Darmstadt, Germany). For ex vivo video-microscopic analysis, specimens were immersed in normal Krebs–Ringer solution (nKR), which consisted of the substances
published in [41]. The substances used for the nKR were obtained from Reanal (Budapest, Hungary) and Sigma-Aldrich (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA–Budapest, Hungary).

### 2.3. Chronic Treatment of the Rats

During the 8-week-long chronic-treatment period, rats were housed in constant environmental conditions (relative humidity (40–70%), constant room temperature (22 °C  $\pm$  1 °C) and light–dark cycle (12 h each)). The animals were provided with different laboratory rat chow (with different composition, see later) and tap water ad libitum according to the following group protocols. Vitamin deficiency was induced by a vitamin-D-free diet (<5 IU/kg Vitamin D3, Vitamin D Free Lab Rat/Mouse Chow, Ssniff Spezialdiäten GmbH, Soest, Germany) for 8 weeks (the average 25-OH-D3 level at the end of chronic treatment:  $3.59 \pm 0.21$  ng/mL) [32,43]. Animals of the VD+ group were fed a standard laboratory diet (1000 IU/kg of Vitamin D) for 8 weeks. Oral administration (through a gavage cannula) of additional vitamin D was given as follows: 500IU cholecalciferol on week 2, and weeks 4–8, a weekly dose of 140 IU/100 g (the average 25-OH-D3 level at the end of chronic treatment: 19.66  $\pm$  0.81 ng/mL) [32,43]. No unexpected medical condition, complication or side effect was observed during the treatment period.

## 2.4. Preparation and Recording of LAD Coronary Networks

After chronic treatment, the preparation of coronary-resistance-artery networks from the heart and in situ video-microscopy recording during perfusion were performed as previously described [40]. In brief, after anesthesia (Nembutal, 45 mg per kg, intraperitoneal), the heart was removed and the LAD coronary-artery network was prepared by careful microdissection in cold Krebs–Ringer solution under high magnification [40]. With this technique, the segments of the LAD remained intact and branches larger than 80  $\mu$ m became visible. After cannulation of the orifice, the network of the LAD was perfused with nKR solution (pH = 7.4, 37 °C, bubbled with O<sub>2</sub> 20%, CO<sub>2</sub> 5% and N<sub>2</sub> 75%) at close to in vivo pressures. After a few minutes of equilibration, the coronary network was measured by a video microscope using different magnifications (low and high magnifications, 8.58 and 1.47  $\mu$ m/pixel). For accurate geometric reconstructions of the networks, low-and high-magnification images were photographed and then analyzed off-line (ImageJ software, NIH, Bethesda, MA, USA) as previously described [39]. The pixel  $\mu$ m calibration was performed using a micrometer etalon (Wild, Heerbrugg, Switzerland).

## 2.5. The Coordinate System and Geometric Analysis

Good-quality low- and high-magnification pictures taken from perpendicular position were selected to rebuild a horizontally stretched network for analysis. All bifurcations and segments of the coronary network were then marked in the >80  $\mu$ m range. A coordinate system was created based on the high-magnification pictures of the networks as previously described [39]. In brief, the X-axis was created between the orifice and the apex of the heart. The Y-axis was erected perpendicular to the X-axis, with positive values in the direction of the left ventricle. The zero point for both axes was the orifice. Segment lengths and bifurcation angles were measured, images of segments were divided into 50-micrometerlong cylindrical units, and the diameter, direction and coordinate position of all components were determined as shown in Figure 1.

### 2.6. Segment Analysis

The whole network was divided into segments at bifurcations and the segments were then numbered. Although the diameter of the vessel generally does not change along the segment, outer and inner vessel diameters were also measured at three points along the segmental axis. Distances of the branching points from the origin, angles of the segmental axes of two related segments, and angles with the coordinate were also analyzed. For each network component (bifurcations, segments, ring units), the direct distance from the orifice was computed using the coordinates. In addition, for each segment, a length for the potentially curved axis was also computed. This way "flow distances" from the orifice or for the segments could be compared with direct distances, giving an opportunity to calculate the tortuosity of the network. Segmental analysis was performed by counting the number of segments and measuring their length, as well as the outer diameter and wall thickness. From the inner-radius ( $r_i$ ) data, the lumen cross-section area was calculated according to the following formula: Lumen cross-section area ( $\mu m^2$ ) =  $r^{i2} \times \Pi$ .



**Figure 1.** Representative video-microscopic images of segmental and branching analysis (**A**,**B**) and mapping of the LAD networks in a coordinate system, following 50  $\mu$ m-ring-unit analysis (**C**,**D**). Note the difference between the two experimental groups in the network density of the LAD coronary artery, shown in the image and the associated coordinate system of a typical vitamin-D-deficient (**A**,**C**) and a typical vitamin-D-supplemented animal (**B**,**D**).

## 2.7. Branching Analysis

All branches were identified and analyzed as previously described [39]. All bifurcations were sorted into dichotomic, multiplex or lateral branching categories. All bifurcations were tested for the validity of Murray's law:  $D_{om}^3 = D_{od1}^3 + D_{od2}^3$ , where  $D_o$  is the outer diameter in µm, and  $_m$ ,  $_{d1}$  and  $_{d2}$  are the mother and daughter branches, respectively. The asymmetry index (A<sub>i</sub>) was calculated according to the following formula:  $A_i = D_{od1}/D_{od2}$ , where Do is the outer diameter in µm, and  $_{d1}$  and  $_{d2}$  are the daughter branches (the data of the larger daughter branch were always placed in the numerator/top).

# 2.8. Analysis of 50 µm-Long Vascular Ring Units

Theoretically, all coronary-artery networks were divided into 50  $\mu$ m-long ring units as a base unit of the network as previously described [39]. The ring units were located in the X–Y coordinate system. The outer and inner diameters, wall thickness, X and Y coordinates for the ring-unit center, angle of axis with the X-axis, flow distance, and the direct distance

5 of 14

from the orifice were measured. The ring-unit analysis was performed by constructing lists of ring units in a certain inner/outer-diameter range and at a certain direct/flow distance from the orifice.

# 2.9. Network Anomalies

In addition to the measurable parameters of the networks, other hemodynamically significant alterations were also recorded. Parallel-running branches, broken courses, and multiple branching (e.g., triple) present in the systems were counted. Tortuosity was measured. Tortuosity (T), curvature, and ratios of segments were computed by comparing the direct distance between the start and end points of the segment as well as the potentially curved length of the segment's axis following the route of blood flow:  $T(\%) = 100 - (\text{segment length in the airline } (\mu m) \times 100/\text{segment length in real } (\mu m)).$ 

### 2.10. Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism 5, SPSS Sigma Stat and Excel software were used for statistical analysis. All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. In the case of normal distribution (tested using the Shapiro–Wilk method), the two-tailed unpaired Student's t-test was performed. The Mann–Whitney test was performed in the case of non-normal distribution (in case of 'Flow lengths of the segment' and 'Wall thickness of 50 µm ring units as a function of different diameter ranges'). Morphological abnormalities were counted, pooled and normalized in 8 rats for all perfused networks. Their number was determined by the test. Frequencies of ring units in different diameter ranges in VD+ and VD- coronary networks were compared with the  $\chi^2$  test. The Pearson correlation method was used to evaluate the interconnection between bifurcation asymmetry and angle. A 3D scatter plot was used to show differences in bifurcation branch angle as a function of vessel diameter. The level of deviation of the flow route from the direct distance from orifice and the diameter of the ring were analyzed on 3D plots of two-dimensional histograms. The number of ring units in a given diameter and flow-distance range was analyzed in two-dimensional histograms and visualized in 3D (color-coded) maps. p < 0.05 was used as the criterion for statistical significance.

## 3. Results

### 3.1. Body-Weight, Heart-Weight and Blood-Pressure Data

There was no significant difference between the VD– and VD+ groups in terms of body weight (VD–:  $481 \pm 15$  vs. VD+:  $477 \pm 19$  g) or heart weight (VD–:  $1.37 \pm 0.04$  vs. VD+:  $1.32 \pm 0.08$  g). The measurements of the mean blood pressure through cannulation of the right carotid artery showed no difference between the two groups (VD–:  $95.39 \pm 4.35$  vs. VD+:  $88.18 \pm 6.57$  mmHg, animals in Nembutal anesthesia).

## 3.2. Segment Analysis

The number of coronary-resistance-artery segments in the subsurface network, down to an outer diameter of 80 micrometers, did not differ between the two groups (VD–: 210 and VD+: 224 segments; pooled, normalized data of 8 networks). One characteristic difference was the significantly larger lumen area of the main (first-order) branches in VD+ group. The lumen diameters did not differ during the following branching steps (Figure 2A). Additionally, 1–4-order branches were lengthier in VD– rats (significant with the paired *t*-test for 1st- and 4th-order branches, (Figure 2B). It is important to note that 11–12-order branches were found only in the VD+ group in the subsurface network (Figure 2).

250,000

A

Lumen area (μm²)





**Figure 2.** Segments analysis. (**A**) Lumen area of the segments from the VD– and VD+ animals. The lumen area of the first-order branches was significantly larger in VD+ group. (**B**) Flow lengths of the segments from the VD– and VD+ animals. The 1st- and 4th-order branches were lengthier in VD– rats. Values are means  $\pm$  SEM. Two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test and Mann–Whitney-test. \* p < 0.05 VD– vs. VD+.

### 3.3. Branching Analysis

One characteristic of microvascular bifurcation geometry is that larger daughter branches tend to deviate less from the axis of the mother branch than smaller daughter branches. As a result, the branch angle between daughter branches increases with the increasing asymmetry index. In substituted networks it is duly seen (Figure 3A; significant with the Pearson correlation). Such a linkage is clearly missing in the vitamin-D deficient animals (Figure 3A).



**Figure 3.** Analysis of branching. (**A**) Asymmetry range of daughter branches (ratio of outer diameters). The asymmetry index (with increasing branching angle) was significantly elevated only in VD+ groups (with Pearson correlation, p < 0.05). (**B**) The Murray law. Branches are obeying the Murray law.

Another characteristic of microvascular bifurcation geometry is that the lumen diameters of daughter branches obey the Murray law. Figure 3B demonstrates that bifurcations of both groups fairly adhered the Murray law (scatter from the expected X = Y line was almost equal, n.s. with the F probe).

# 7 of 14

### 3.4. Abnormalities

Vitamin-D deficiency did not elevate the number of such morphological network abnormalities as parallel running, broken courses, multiple branching, or tortuosity (Table 1).

**Table 1.** Pooled number (normalized in 8/8 rats) of morphological deformities found in the resistanceartery network of the left-anterior-descendent coronary artery of vitamin-D-deficient (VD–) and vitamin-D-supplemented (VD+) groups.

Morphologic Deformity	VD-	VD+	Chi2 (χ <sup>2</sup> ) Probe Significance Level
Parallel running	2	3	0.65
Broken course	7	6	0.74
Multiple branching	11	8	0.49
Tortuosity > 8	7	5	0.56
Sum of all deformities	27	22	0.48

## 3.5. Vascular Ring-Unit Analysis

VD– animals had somewhat less rich coronary-resistance-artery networks than VD+ rats. (Figure 1) When the whole network was divided into 50 µm-long units, they had a significantly lower number of such units (6365 vs. 6602; pooled, normalized data of 8 animals; p < 0.0374 with the  $\chi^2$  probe). Figure 4A demonstrates that this elevated number of vascular units in VD+ animals was present throughout the 100–300 µm outer diameter range. The only exception is at 250 µm, the maximum of the histogram in VD– animals pushed upward from the 200 µm of the substituted animals.



**Figure 4.** Analysis of ring units. (**A**) Number of 50  $\mu$ m ring units as a function of different diameter ranges. In VD– networks, the number of rings decreased in the range of 100–300  $\mu$ m (except at 250  $\mu$ m), and the number of rings increased in the range of 400–550  $\mu$ m. Normalized in 8/8 rats. Significantly different with the Chi-probe (p < 0.05). (**B**) Wall thickness of 50  $\mu$ m ring units as a function of different diameter ranges. Wall thickness was increased in the 50, 350, 500, 550 and 650  $\mu$ m range in VD– group. However, the wall thickness was bigger in the 200, 250, 300, 450 and 600  $\mu$ m range in VD+ group. Values are means  $\pm$  SEM. Mann–Whitney-test. \* p < 0.05 VD– vs. VD+.

However, VD– animals were richer in larger-diameter units ( $400-550 \mu m$ ). In practically the same large-diameter group, a thickening of the wall was also demonstrated with an opposing alteration in the most frequent 200–300  $\mu m$  diameter range (Figure 4B).

The next question is at what location of the network such vascular unit-population changes do occur. The two-dimensional histograms of Figure 5 demonstrate that in vitamin-D-deficient rats, a new population of 250  $\mu$ m units appears at a 6–9 mm flow distance from the orifice, while at the same locations there is a diminishment of 350  $\mu$ m units. In vitamin-D-deficient rats, 150–200 and 300  $\mu$ m units are almost missing at 10–15 mm flow distances.



**Figure 5.** Frequency of ring units (color-coded) for different diameters and flow distances from the orifice. Note that in VD– rats a new population of 250  $\mu$ m units appears at a 6–9 mm flow distance from the orifice, while at the same locations there is a diminishment of 350  $\mu$ m units. In VD– rats, 150–200 and 300  $\mu$ m units are almost missing at 10–15 mm flow distances.

### 4. Discussion

Our first studies on the whole network geometry of in situ perfused coronary-artery networks in Vitamin-D-deficient and substituted animals demonstrated that chronic vitamin-D deficiency induces characteristic changes in network geometry. In the present study, we first demonstrated that vitamin-D deficiency affects cardiac-tissue perfusion without abnormalities in coronary branching patterns that modulate cardiac hemodynamics. The major finding of our investigation can be summarized as follows: (1) VDD did not increase the number of morphological abnormalities; (2) VDD resulted in a less rich coronary-resistance-artery network; (3) VDD resulted in 150–200 and 300  $\mu$ m units that were missing at higher flow distances from the orifice; (4) in contrast, vitamin-D supplementation resulted in a larger lumen area of the branches, the branching pattern was optimal, and abnormalities did not increase.

It is a known fact that vitamin-D deficiency increases the risk of cardiovascular events, although vitamin-D supplementation does not clearly balance this effect, as demonstrated by several meta-analyses [10–12,14,17,18,20–22]. Vitamin-D-deficiency-induced cardiovascular risk is associated with a combination of several factors [44]. Low vitamin D has been shown to be associated with high blood pressure [45,46] obesity [47–50], insulin resistance [51,52], and dyslipidemia [53]. In several studies, a description of normal 25-OH-D3 levels can be found. Trechsel et al. published values of 40 nmol/L (16 ng/mL) in animals consuming a normal vitamin-D diet [54]. At the recommended daily intake (values projected onto human model: 0.015 mg/day, which corresponds 300 E/day), Mirhosseini et al. achieved vitamin-D levels of 17.2 ng/mL in Wistar rats over four weeks of treatment.

According to the same article, at a high daily dose of vitamin D (values projected onto human model: 0.25 mg/day, which corresponds 5000 E/day), vitamin-D levels of 43.2 ng/mL were achieved in Wistar rats over four weeks of treatment, while a vitamin-

D-free diet resulted in 12 ng/mL [55]. Wilson et al. reported levels of 37–38 ng/mL of 25-OH-D3 but also used vitamin-D supplementation in addition to the standard diet [56]. These values were not approached in any of the groups.

For extremely low ranges, Treschel considered a vitamin-D deficiency below 25 nmol/L (10 ng/mL) [54], which we have clearly achieved in our animal model. The definitively toxic concentration is 360 ng/mL based on Takács et al. [57] and 224 ng/mL according to Mirhosseini et al. [55]. Such toxic values were not achieved in any of the groups of our study.

According to Halloran's work, vitamin-D levels of 14-day-old breastfed Holtzman rats whose mother received 25U daily vitamin-D supplementation was 10 ng/mL. A vitamin-D level of 8 ng/mL was found after weaning at the age of 25 days, and 9 ng/mL was found in animals three weeks after being weaned from breast milk and fed with normal laboratory formula during this period [58]. Vitamin-D levels in Holtzman rats that had just been weaned in Weishaar's work were below the measurement range and remained there after a nine-week vitamin-D-free diet, while it increased to 9.5 ng/ml after six weeks and 14.1 ng/mL after nine weeks with vitamin-D supplementation of 30 E/day [59].

Thus, we can suspect that the rat weaned from milk suffers from a relatively moderate vitamin-D deficiency, which we were able to normalize and even slightly exceed the normal level in our model by supplementation. On the other hand, by our model an eight-week vitamin-D-free diet starting from weaning kept vitamin-D levels persistently low. The effects of vitamin-D deficiency on the histological characteristics of vascular crosssections and the contraction and relaxation properties of coronaries [30,31] has already been demonstrated by our research group.

We found no difference between the body weight of the study groups. Vitamin D also affects the differentiation of myocardial cells and affects myocyte proliferation through its action on myoproliferative genes and the renin–angiotensin system [60-62]. However, we found no difference in heart weight between the two groups, making it easier to compare the coronary networks.

For the technical implementation of our study, we chose the micropreparation and video-microscopic analysis of the LAD branch system [39–42]. The technique allows the whole network to be analyzed in its complexity, using physiological pressure conditions to which the blood vessels respond with their own myogenic tone. This contributes to a proper evaluation of the dimensions of the specific parts of the network involved. The spatial formation of the coronary network ensuring that all parts of the heart muscle tissue receive equal and adequate amounts of oxygen and nutrients. This process is regulated by many factors [63]. The network must be of adequate resistance and hemodynamically advantageous to distribute blood flow to the highly demanding ventricular tissue. The length, the number of segments, geometry and quantity of branches, bifurcations, their potential tortuosity, diameter of the lumen, thickness of the wall, and the distribution of all these parameters will, be among others, a function of the distance from the origin of the network (in that case the coronary orifice). Knowing the effect of vitamin D in the regulation of vascular remodeling [56,57], we could expect that there is a difference between the two groups in the appearance and geometric characteristics of the network as a whole system. A geometric analysis of the network allows us to recognize different anomalies and to analyze the systemic effects of vitamin-D deficiency on vascular-network formation, vascular cross-sectional structure, and changes in the coronary network, possibly contributing to increased cardiovascular mortality.

Basic characteristics of the morphometry of a coronary network and the effect of hypertension have been studied in different models [64–67]. Based on the work of Murray and Zamir, we can gain insight into the properties of hemodynamically beneficial vascular networks [37,38,68]. Accordingly, we considered multiple branches, branches running in parallel, broken courses, and a high range of tortuosity as disadvantageous patterns requiring higher-than-optimal mechanical energy. Based on previous work by our research group, we have demonstrated that high blood pressure increases the incidence of these

anomalies in the rat LAD network. [42] In earlier works, we have found that the Murray law of bifurcations was maintained in cases of hypertension, aging and physical exercise [39,41]. In our present study, there was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of the unfavorable coronary anomalies characterizing aged and hypertensive networks [42]. At the same time in our study, we found no difference between the mean blood pressure of vitamin-D-deficient and supplemented animals. All this suggests that although vitamin D is known to play a role in vasculogenic processes [69,70], it is not vitamin-D deficiency alone that causes vascular-network anomalies, but in the long term it may be caused by high blood pressure due to vitamin-D deficiency. In Weishaar's previous study [59], calcium, creatin phosphokinase (CPK) and phosphate levels along with blood pressure were examined in young rats as a function of vitamin-D supplementation. It was shown that vitamin-D deficiency significantly increased the blood pressure of the animals between weeks two and six of the diet; however, there was no difference in blood pressure from week seven to nine of the diet. Consistent results were obtained in our present study after eight weeks of treatment. In Weishaar's study [59], perturbed Ca homeostasis was suggested to be responsible for the very early rise in blood pressure; however, the eight-week diet had no effect on it. On the other hand, recent reports stress the relationship between longterm vitamin-D deficiency and hypertension [10,11,14,45,46]. The atherogenic effect of the vitamin-D deficiency may be responsible for the development of hypertension in the long term [69,70]. According to the rheological principles of Poiseuille, in a hemodynamic system, the length of the vessels is directly proportional, while the fourth power of the lumen diameter and the number of branches connected in parallel are inversely proportional to the resistance of the network. We can suppose that in the vitamin-D-deficient experimental group, the vascular resistance of the coronary arteries might be higher. In our experimental model, coronary-network abnormalities that increased network resistance due to vitamin-D deficiency were expected to result in a long-term increase in blood pressure, ensuring an adequate supply of nutrients to the tissues.

Further analyzing our coronary-artery networks with a focus on branching, we found that more asymmetric bifurcations do not have larger bifurcation angles in vitamin-D-deficient rats as previously expected and as shown in the VD+ group. This can be considered a disadvantageous alteration from the hemodynamic point of view. Vitamin-D deficiency, however, did not affect the regulation of the lumen diameter by shear forces, and the Murray law was strictly maintained in both groups.

Analyzing the coronary-resistance-artery segments in the subsurface network, the number of segments with outer diameters down to 80 micrometers did not differ between the two groups. At the same time, some characteristic difference was found. A significantly larger lumen area of the main (first-order) branches in the VD+ group may allow for greater blood flow. Lumen diameters did not differ during the following branching steps. Additionally, 1–4-order branches were lengthier, and segments formed by them were longer and had thicker walls with reduced cross sections in VD- rats, which may result in greater resistance of those specific segments. It is important to note that 11–12-order branches were found only in the VD+ group. This result objectively confirmed the preliminary observation made during the review of the coronary networks that the LAD networks of the vitamin-D-deficient group were much denser. In further analysis of the network, the coronary network was divided into 50 µm elements and the number of ring elements, diameter, wall thickness, lumen cross section, and the distribution of these ring elements of different thicknesses as a function of distance from the orifice were examined. Although heart masses did not differ, the number of normalized ring elements of the network was significantly increased in the VD+ group, resulting in a richer LAD system.

The less rich network of the vitamin-D-deficient animals was formed by the smaller number of arterioles with diameters of 150–200  $\mu$ m. On the contrary, the elevated number of larger-diameter (400–550  $\mu$ m) "small artery" units could not offset this phenomenon.

The extra distance of the individual ring units appeared elevated in the VD+ group. The elevated extra distance has been considered as a hypertensive characteristic so far, mainly based on studies of retinal hypertensive abnormalities [71,72], but no other hypertensive characteristic (hypertension, network anomalies) was found in the VD+ group, so this may contribute to the elevated ring-unit number and the richer network.

The distribution pattern of the ring elements also shows that tissue perfusion may have improved because the number of small- to medium-diameter vessels distant from the orifice was significantly increased in the VD+ group.

The wall thickness was higher in the VD+ group for medium (100–300) diameters, while the elevation of the wall thickness in the VD– group for the smallest (<50  $\mu$ m) and largest diameters (400–550) could be seen.

The maximum of the diameter frequency histogram of the VD+ group was shifted upward to 250 from 200  $\mu$ m, which can also be interpreted as a hemodynamically advantageous alteration.

In our earlier studies [29,31] 200-micrometer-diameter rat coronary-resistance arterioles were examined with pressure arteriography. In vitamin-D-deficient rats, a reduced spontaneous tone was found, and in the fully relaxed state the segments had a narrowed lumen and increased wall thickness. In the present work, segmental geometry was studied along the whole network in pressure-perfused preparations where spontaneous tone could develop. The larger wall thickness we measured in the 200–300  $\mu$ m range in the substituted animals could be the result of this larger myogenic tone.

The limitation of our study is in the case numbers and the animal study; however, it is also a strength that the genetically homogenous background of the animals resulted in highly homologous networks and a definitive causality of the results. Because of these reasons, only the altered vitamin-D levels could have led to the differences in the network structure. We must mention that both the difficulties of the micropreparation technique and the complexity of the statistical analysis of the vessel rings clearly limited the number of individuals that could be tested. More observers could study a larger number of animals; however, it might lead to greater interobserver variability in the evaluation of network anomalies, which should also be avoided.

## 5. Conclusions

The wall-thickness elevation in larger branches, the diminishment of the number of smaller units, and the alterations in the bifurcation angles definitively indicate the involvement of vitamin-D receptors in the morphological formation of coronary-resistanceartery networks. Thus, vitamin-D supplementation improves tissue perfusion due to the richer network. In the richer network, the branching pattern was optimal and abnormalities did not increase. While these can be expected to have only moderate hemodynamic effects, pathological processes can be altered by them.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.T., G.L.N. and S.V.; Data curation, H.D., T.H. and M.T.; funding acquisition, G.L.N., M.T. and S.V.; Investigation: H.D., T.H., A.M.-K., L.H., G.L.N., M.T. and S.V.; methodology, G.L.N., M.T. and S.V.; formal analysis, H.D.; writing—original draft preparation, H.D., T.H., A.M.-K., L.H., G.L.N., M.T. and S.V.; writing—review and editing, H.D., G.L.N., M.T. and S.V.; visualization, M.T.; supervision, G.L.N., M.T. and S.V.; project administration, M.T.; Validation, G.L.N., M.T. and S.V. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** The research was supported by the Semmelweis Science and Innovation Fund (STIA-OTKA-2021 for S.V.) and the Hungarian Hypertension Society (for S.V., T.M.), the Dean of the Medical Faculty, Semmelweis University (for S.V., G.L.N.).

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** The study was designed and performed based on the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health (8th edition, 2011) and the European Union (Directive No. 2010/63/EU). All procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee of Hungary for Animal Experimentation and University authorities (permission number: IRB: 8/2014 PEI/001/1548-3/2014, PEI/001/820-2/2015).

Data Availability Statement: Data are contained within the article.

Acknowledgments: We thank Ildikó Oravecz and Mária Boldoczki for the expert technical assistance.

# **Conflicts of Interest:** The authors declare no conflict of interest.

## References

- Mccollum, E.V.; Pitz, W.; Simmonds, N.; Becker, J.E.; Shipley, P.G.; Bunting, R.W. Studies on experimental rickets: XXI. An experimental demonstration of the existence of a vitamin which promotes calcium deposition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1922, 53, 293–312. [CrossRef]
- Pike, J.W.; Christakos, S. Biology and Mechanisms of Action of the Vitamin D Hormone. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. N. Am.* 2017, 46, 815–843. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Montenegro, K.R.; Cruzat, V.; Carlessi, R.; Newsholme, P. Mechanisms of vitamin D action in skeletal muscle. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 2019, 32, 192–204. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Gil, Á.; Plaza-Diaz, J.; Mesa, M.D. Vitamin D: Classic and Novel Actions. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 2018, 72, 87–95. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Dusso, A.S.; Brown, A.J.; Slatopolsky, E. Vitamin D. Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 2005, 289, F8–F28. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Lerner, P.P.; Sharony, L.; Miodownik, C. Association between mental disorders, cognitive disturbances and vitamin D serum level: Current state. *Clin. Nutr. ESPEN* **2018**, *23*, 89–102. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 7. Jeon, S.-M.; Shin, E.-A. Exploring vitamin D metabolism and function in cancer. Exp. Mol. Med. 2018, 50, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 8. Charoenngam, N.; Holick, M.F. Immunologic Effects of Vitamin D on Human Health and Disease. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 2097. [CrossRef]
- 9. von Websky, K.; Hasan, A.A.; Reichetzeder, C.; Tsuprykov, O.; Hocher, B. Impact of vitamin D on pregnancy-related disorders and on offspring outcome. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2018**, *180*, 51–64. [CrossRef]
- 10. Pilz, S.; Tomaschitz, A.; Ritz, E.; Pieber, T.R. Vitamin D status and arterial hypertension: A systematic review. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* **2009**, *6*, 621–630. [CrossRef]
- 11. Kilkkinen, A.; Knekt, P.; Aro, A.; Rissanen, H.; Marniemi, J.; Heliövaara, M.; Impivaara, O.; Reunanen, A. Vitamin D Status and the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease Death. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* **2009**, *170*, 1032–1039. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Norman, P.E.; Powell, J.T. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease. *Circ. Res.* 2014, 114, 379–393. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Al Mheid, I.; Patel, R.S.; Tangpricha, V.; Quyyumi, A.A. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease: Is the evidence solid? *Eur. Heart J.* **2013**, *34*, 3691–3698. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Latic, N.; Erben, R.G. Vitamin D and Cardiovascular Disease, with Emphasis on Hypertension, Atherosclerosis, and Heart Failure. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2020**, *21*, 6483. [CrossRef]
- 15. Wimalawansa, S.J. Vitamin D and cardiovascular diseases: Causality. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 2018, 175, 29-43. [CrossRef]
- Pilz, S.; Verheyen, N.; Grübler, M.R.; Tomaschitz, A.; März, W. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease prevention. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 2016, 13, 404–417. [CrossRef]
- 17. Kunadian, V.; Ford, G.A.; Bawamia, B.; Qiu, W.; Manson, J.E. Vitamin D deficiency and coronary artery disease: A review of the evidence. *Am. Heart J.* 2013, *167*, 283–291. [CrossRef]
- 18. de la Guía-Galipienso, F.; Martínez-Ferran, M.; Vallecillo, N.; Lavie, C.J.; Sanchis-Gomar, F.; Pareja-Galeano, H. Vitamin D and cardiovascular health. *Clin. Nutr.* **2021**, *40*, 2946–2957. [CrossRef]
- 19. Rai, V.; Agrawal, D.K. Role of Vitamin D in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. N. Am.* 2017, 46, 1039–1059. [CrossRef]
- 20. Bouillon, R.; Manousaki, D.; Rosen, C.; Trajanoska, K.; Rivadeneira, F.; Richards, J.B. The health effects of vitamin D supplementation: Evidence from human studies. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* **2021**, *18*, 96–110. [CrossRef]
- 21. Manousaki, D.; Mokry, L.E.; Ross, S.; Goltzman, D.; Richards, J.B. Mendelian Randomization Studies Do not Support a Role for Vitamin D in Coronary Artery Disease. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet.* **2016**, *9*, 349–356. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Afzal, S.; Brøndum-Jacobsen, P.; Bojesen, S.E.; Nordestgaard, B.G. Genetically low vitamin D concentrations and increased mortality: Mendelian randomisation analysis in three large cohorts. *Br. Med. J.* **2014**, *349*, g6330. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Milazzo, V.; de Metrio, M.; Cosentino, N.; Marenzi, G.; Tremoli, E. Vitamin D and acute myocardial infarction. *World J. Cardiol.* **2017**, *9*, 14–20. [CrossRef]
- 24. Lin, L.; Zhang, L.; Li, C.; Gai, Z.; Li, Y. Vitamin D and Vitamin D Receptor: New Insights in the Treatment of Hypertension. *Curr. Protein Pept. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 984–995. [CrossRef]
- Chen, N.-C.; Hsu, C.-Y.; Mao, P.C.-M.; Dreyer, G.; Wu, F.-Z.; Chen, C.-L. The effects of correction of vitamin D deficiency on arterial stiffness: A systematic review and updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2019, 198, 105561. [CrossRef]
- 26. Kim, D.-H.; Meza, C.A.; Clarke, H.; Kim, J.-S.; Hickner, R.C. Vitamin D and Endothelial Function. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12*, 575. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Napoli, C.; de Nigris, F.; Williams-Ignarro, S.; Pignalosa, O.; Sica, V.; Ignarro, L.J. Nitric oxide and atherosclerosis: An update. *Nitric Oxide* 2006, *15*, 265–279. [CrossRef]
- 28. Bennett, A.L.; Lavie, C.J. Vitamin D Metabolism and the Implications for Atherosclerosis. In *Ultraviolet Light in Human Health, Diseases and Environment;* Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2017; Volume 996, pp. 185–192. [CrossRef]
- Sziva, R.; Fontányi, Z.; Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Horváth, E.; Benkő, R.; Magyar, A.; Heinzlmann, A.; Benyó, Z.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency Induces Elevated Oxidative and Biomechanical Damage in Coronary Arterioles in Male Rats. *Antioxidants* 2020, 9, 997. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Fontányi, Z.; Sziva, R.; Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Horváth, E.; Benkő, R.; Magyar, A.; Heinzlmann, A.; Benyó, Z.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency Reduces Vascular Reactivity of Coronary Arterioles in Male Rats. *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.* 2021, 43, 79–92. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hadjadj, L.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Horváth, E.M.; Heinzlmann, A.; Magyar, A.; Sziva, R.E.; Miklós, Z.; Pál, É.; Gál, J.; Szabó, I.; et al. Geometric, elastic and contractile-relaxation changes in coronary arterioles induced by Vitamin D deficiency in normal and hyperandrogenic female rats. *Microvasc. Res.* 2018, 122, 78–84. [CrossRef]
- Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Fontányi, Z.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Mezei, Z.; Lippai, N.; Magyar, A.; Heinzlmann, A.; Karvaly, G.; Monos, E.; et al. Vitamin D deficiency causes inward hypertrophic remodeling and alters vascular reactivity of rat cerebral arterioles. *PLoS ONE* 2018, 13, e0192480. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Fontányi, Z.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Lippai, N.; Horváth, E.M.; Magyar, A.; Monos, E.; Nádasy, G.L.; Benyó, Z.; et al. Gender, hyperandrogenism and vitamin D deficiency related functional and morphological alterations of rat cerebral arteries. *PLoS ONE* 2019, 14, e0216951. [CrossRef]
- Sipos, M.; Péterffy, B.; Sziva, R.; Magyar, P.; Hadjadj, L.; Bányai, B.; Süli, A.; Soltész-Katona, E.; Gerszi, D.; Kiss, J.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency Cause Gender Specific Alterations of Renal Arterial Function in a Rodent Model. *Nutrients* 2021, 13, 704. [CrossRef]
- Sipos, M.; Gerszi, D.; Dalloul, H.; Bányai, B.; Sziva, R.; Kollarics, R.; Magyar, P.; Török, M.; Acs, N.; Szekeres, M.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency and Gender Alter Vasoconstrictor and Vasodilator Reactivity in Rat Carotid Artery. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2021, 22, 8029. [CrossRef]
- 36. Lajtai, K.; Tarszabó, R.; Bányai, B.; Péterffy, B.; Gerszi, D.; Ruisanchez, É.; Sziva, R.E.; Korsós-Novák, Á.; Benkő, R.; Hadjadj, L.; et al. Effect of Vitamin D Status on Vascular Function of the Aorta in a Rat Model of PCOS. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev. 2021, 2021, 8865979. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 37. Murray, C.D. The Physiological Principle of Minimum Work: I. The Vascular System and the Cost of Blood Volume. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1926**, *12*, 207–214. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Murray, C.D. The Physiological Principle of Minimum Work Applied to the Angle of Branching of Arteries. J. Gen. Physiol. 1926, 9, 835–841. [CrossRef]
- 39. Wappler, E.A.; Antal, P.; Varbiro, S.; Székács, B.; Simon, A.; Nagy, Z.; Monos, E.; Nádasy, G.L. Network remodeling of intramural coronary resistance arteries in the aged rat: A statistical analysis of geometry. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* **2013**, *134*, 307–313. [CrossRef]
- Nádasy, G.L.; Szekeres, M.; Dézsi, L.; Varbiro, S.; Székács, B.; Monosa, E. Preparation of Intramural Small Coronary Artery and Arteriole Segments and Resistance Artery Networks from the Rat Heart for Microarteriography and for in Situ Perfusion Video Mapping. *Microvasc. Res.* 2001, *61*, 282–286. [CrossRef]
- 41. Török, M.; Merkely, P.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Horváth, E.M.; Sziva, R.E.; Péterffy, B.; Jósvai, A.; Sayour, A.A.; Oláh, A.; Radovits, T.; et al. Network analysis of the left anterior descending coronary arteries in swim-trained rats by an in situ video microscopic technique. *Biol. Sex Differ.* **2021**, *12*, 37. [CrossRef]
- Monori-Kiss, A.; Antal, P.; Szekeres, M.; Varbiro, S.; Fees, A.; Szekacs, B.; Nadasy, G.L. Morphological remodeling of the intramural coronary resistance artery network geometry in chronically Angiotensin II infused hypertensive female rats. *Heliyon* 2020, *6*, e03807. [CrossRef]
- Hadjadj, L.; Várbíró, S.; Horváth, E.M.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Pál, E.; Karvaly, G.B.; Heinzlmann, A.; Magyar, A.; Szabo, I.; Sziva, R.E.; et al. Insulin resistance in an animal model of polycystic ovary disease is aggravated by vitamin D deficiency: Vascular consequences. *Diabetes Vasc. Dis. Res.* 2018, 15, 294–301. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Muldowney, S.; Kiely, M. Vitamin D and cardiometabolic health: A review of the evidence. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 2010, 24, 1–20. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Kunutsor, S.K.; Burgess, S.; Munroe, P.B.; Khan, H. Vitamin D and high blood pressure: Causal association or epiphenomenon? *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* **2014**, *29*, 1–14. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jeong, H.Y.; Park, K.M.; Lee, M.J.; Yang, D.H.; Kim, S.H.; Lee, S.Y. Vitamin D and Hypertension. *Electrolytes Blood Press.* 2017, 15, 1–11. [CrossRef]
- 47. Alemzadeh, R.; Kichler, J.; Babar, G.; Calhoun, M. Hypovitaminosis D in obese children and adolescents: Relationship with adiposity, insulin sensitivity, ethnicity, and season. *Metabolism* **2008**, *57*, 183–191. [CrossRef]
- 48. Veronese, N.; Trevisan, C.; Carraro, S.; Sarti, S.; Zanforlini, B.M.; de Rui, M.; Coin, A.; Manzato, E.; Sergi, G. Hypovitaminosis D and fat mass in healthy older people. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2016**, *70*, 1080–1082. [CrossRef]
- 49. Fry, C.M.; Sanders, T.A.B. Vitamin D and risk of CVD: A review of the evidence. Proc. Nutr. Soc. 2015, 74, 245–257. [CrossRef]
- 50. Walsh, J.S.; Bowles, S.; Evans, A.L. Vitamin D in obesity. *Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes Obes.* **2017**, *24*, 389–394. [CrossRef]
- 51. Sacerdote, A.; Dave, P.; Lokshin, V.; Bahtiyar, G. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus, Insulin Resistance, and Vitamin D. *Curr. Diabetes Rep.* **2019**, *19*, 101. [CrossRef]
- 52. Wimalawansa, S.J. Associations of vitamin D with insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes, and metabolic syndrome. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2018**, *175*, 177–189. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Warren, T.; McAllister, R.; Morgan, A.; Rai, T.; McGilligan, V.; Ennis, M.; Page, C.; Kelly, C.; Peace, A.; Corfe, B.; et al. The Interdependency and Co-Regulation of the Vitamin D and Cholesterol Metabolism. *Cells* **2021**, *10*, 2007. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Trechsel, U.; Taylor, C.M.; Eisman, J.A.; Bonjour, J.P.; Fleisch, H. Plasma levels of vitamin D metabolites in diphosphonate-treated rats. *Clin. Sci.* **1981**, *61*, 471–476. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 55. Mirhosseini, N.Z.; Knaus, S.J.; Bohaychuk, K.; Singh, J.; Vatanparast, H.A.; Weber, L.P. Both high and low plasma levels of 25-hydroxy vitamin D increase blood pressure in a normal rat model. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2016**, *116*, 1889–1900. [CrossRef]
- 56. Wilson, H.D.; Horst, R.L.; Schedl, H.P. Calcium intake regulates 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D formation in the diabetic rat. *Diabetes* **1982**, *31 Pt 1*, 401–405. [CrossRef]
- 57. Takács, I.; Dank, M.; Majnik, J.; Nagy, G.; Szabó, A.; Szabó, B.; Szekanecz, Z.; Sziller, I.; Toldy, E.; Tislér, A.; et al. Magyarországi konszenzusajánlás a D-vitamin szerepéről a betegségek megelőzésében és kezelésében. Orv. Hetil. 2022, 163, 575–584.
- Halloran, B.P.; Barthell, E.N.; DeLuca, H.F. Vitamin D metabolism during pregnancy and lactation in the rat. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 1979, 76, 5549–5553. [CrossRef]
- 59. Weishaar, R.E.; Simpson, R.U. Vitamin D3 and cardiovascular function in rats. J. Clin. Investig. 1987, 79, 1706–1712. [CrossRef]
- 60. Xiang, W.; Kong, J.; Chen, S.; Cao, L.-P.; Qiao, G.; Zheng, W.; Liu, W.; Li, X.; Gardner, D.G.; Li, Y.C. Cardiac hypertrophy in vitamin D receptor knockout mice: Role of the systemic and cardiac renin-angiotensin systems. *Am. J. Physiol. Metab.* **2005**, *288*, E125–E132. [CrossRef]
- 61. O'Connell, T.D.; Berry, J.E.; Jarvis, A.K.; Somerman, M.J.; Simpson, R.U. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulation of cardiac myocyte proliferation and hypertrophy. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* **1997**, *272*, H1751–H1758. [CrossRef]
- 62. Kim, I.M.; Norris, K.C.; Artaza, J.N. Vitamin D and Cardiac Differentiation. Vitam. Horm. 2016, 100, 299–320. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. Goodwill, A.G.; Dick, G.M.; Kiel, A.M.; Tune, J.D. Regulation of Coronary Blood Flow. Compr. Physiol. 2017, 7, 321–382.
- Kassab, G.S.; Rider, C.A.; Tang, N.J.; Fung, Y.C. Morphometry of pig coronary arterial trees. Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol. 1993, 265, H350–H365. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Tomanek, R.J.; Palmer, P.J.; Peiffer, G.L.; Schreiber, K.L.; Eastham, C.L.; Marcus, M.L. Morphometry of canine coronary arteries, arterioles, and capillaries during hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy. *Circ. Res.* **1986**, *58*, 38–46. [CrossRef]
- 66. Rakusan, K.; Wicker, P. Morphometry of the small arteries and arterioles in the rat heart: Effects of chronic hypertension and exercise. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **1990**, *24*, 278–284. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Zamir, M.; Phipps, S.; Langille, B.L.; Wonnacott, T.H. Branching characteristics of coronary arteries in rats. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* **1984**, *62*, 1453–1459. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 68. Zamir, M. Optimality principles in arterial branching. J. Theor. Biol. 1976, 62, 227–251. [CrossRef]
- 69. Grundmann, M.; Haidar, M.; Placzko, S.; Niendorf, R.; Darashchonak, N.; Hubel, C.A.; von Versen-Höynck, F. Vitamin D improves the angiogenic properties of endothelial progenitor cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Physiol.* **2012**, *303*, C954–C962. [CrossRef]
- Jamali, N.; Song, Y.; Sorenson, C.M.; Sheibani, N. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> regulates the proangiogenic activity of pericyte through VDRmediated modulation of VEGF production and signaling of VEGF and PDGF receptors. *FASEB BioAdv.* 2019, 1, 415–434. [CrossRef]
- Cheung, C.Y.L.; Zheng, Y.; Hsu, W.; Lee, M.L.; Lau, Q.P.; Mitchell, P.; Wang, J.J.; Klein, R.; Wong, T.Y. Retinal vascular tortuosity, blood pressure, and cardiovascular risk factors. *Ophthalmology* 2011, 118, 812–818. [CrossRef]
- Kahe, F.; Sharfaei, S.; Pitliya, A.; Jafarizade, M.; Seifirad, S.; Habibi, S.; Chi, G. Coronary artery tortuosity: A narrative review. *Coron. Artery Dis.* 2020, 31, 187–192. [CrossRef] [PubMed]





# Article Vitamin D Deficiency and Gender Alter Vasoconstrictor and Vasodilator Reactivity in Rat Carotid Artery

Miklós Sipos<sup>1</sup>, Dóra Gerszi<sup>1,2</sup>, Hicham Dalloul<sup>1</sup>, Bálint Bányai<sup>2</sup>, Réka Eszter Sziva<sup>1,2,3,\*</sup>, Réka Kollarics<sup>1,2</sup>, Péter Magyar<sup>4</sup>, Marianna Török<sup>1,3</sup>, Nándor Ács<sup>1</sup>, Mária Szekeres<sup>2,5</sup>, György L. Nádasy<sup>2</sup>, Leila Hadjadj<sup>6,†</sup>, Eszter Mária Horváth<sup>2,†</sup> and Szabolcs Várbíró<sup>1,3,†</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Üllői Street 78/a, 1083 Budapest, Hungary; sipos.miklos.dr@gmail.com (M.S.); gerszi.dora@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (D.G.); hichamdalloul@gmail.com (H.D.); kollarics.reka@gmail.com (R.K.); torok.marianna@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (M.T.); acs.nandor@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (N.Á.); varbiro.szabolcs@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (S.V.)
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Tűzoltó Street 37-47, 1094 Budapest, Hungary; banyai.balint@gmail.com (B.B.); szekeres.maria@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (M.S.); nadasy.gyorgy@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (G.L.N.); horvath.eszter@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (E.M.H.)
- <sup>3</sup> Workgroup for Science Management, Doctoral School, Semmelweis University, Üllői Street 22, 1085 Budapest, Hungary
- <sup>4</sup> Medical Imaging Centre, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Üllői Street 78/a, 1083 Budapest, Hungary; drmagyarpeter@gmail.com
- <sup>5</sup> Department of Morphology and Physiology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Semmelweis University, Vas Street 17, 1088, Budapest, Hungary
- <sup>6</sup> Department of Translational Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Semmelweis University, Tűzoltó Street 37-47, 1094 Budapest, Hungary; leila.hadjadj@gmail.com
- Correspondence: sziva.reka@semmelweis-univ.hu
- † These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: The vitamin-D-sensitivity of the cardiovascular system may show gender differences. The prevalence of vitamin D (VD) deficiency (VDD) is high, and it alters cardiovascular function and increases the risk of stroke. Our aim was to investigate the vascular reactivity and histological changes of isolated carotid artery of female and male rats in response to different VD supplies. A total of 48 male and female Wistar rats were divided into four groups: female VD supplemented, female VDD, male VD supplemented, male VDD. The vascular function of isolated carotid artery segments was examined by wire myography. Both vitamin D deficiency and male gender resulted in increased phenylephrine-induced contraction. Acetylcholine-induced relaxation decreased in male rats independently from VD status. Inhibition of prostanoid signaling by indomethacin reduced contraction in females, but increased relaxation ability in male rats. Functional changes were accompanied by VDD and gender-specific histological alterations. Elastic fiber density was significantly decreased by VDD in female rats, but not in males. Smooth muscle actin and endothelial nitric oxide synthase levels were significantly lowered, but the thromboxane receptor was elevated in VDD males. Decreased nitrative stress was detected in both male groups independently from VD supply. The observed interactions between vitamin D deficiency and sex may play a role in the gender difference of cardiovascular risk.

**Keywords:** vitamin D; vitamin D deficiency; cardiovascular disease; carotid artery; vascular reactivity; prostanoid pathway; gender; rat model

# 1. Introduction

Currently, the role of vitamin D in cardio- and cerebrovascular health is not clear, although disturbances of vitamin D homeostasis—mainly lower vitamin D levels (vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency)—play a role in atherogenesis–atherosclerosis, hypertension



Citation: Sipos, M.; Gerszi, D.; Dalloul, H.; Bányai, B.; Sziva, R.E.; Kollarics, R.; Magyar, P.; Török, M.; Ács, N.; Szekeres, M.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency and Gender Alter Vasoconstrictor and Vasodilator Reactivity in Rat Carotid Artery. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2021, 22, 8029. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms22158029

Academic Editor: Łukasz Bułdak

Received: 30 June 2021 Accepted: 22 July 2021 Published: 27 July 2021

**Publisher's Note:** MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



**Copyright:** © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). development and different arteriopathies (peripheral arterial diseases, aneurismal arterial diseases) [1]. The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency (25-hydroxy-vitamin D / 25(OH)D < 20 ng/mL or < 50 nmol/L [2]) is high [3] and is expected to grow worldwide; thus, adequate sun-exposure and/or medical vitamin D supplementation are increasingly important. However, a general population-based study, which investigated the intake of fat- and water-soluble vitamins, found that vitamin D intake is the least adequate in both sexes in all age groups [4].

Vitamin D deficiency is a potential risk factor for several cardio-cerebrovascular diseases and events, including stroke [5]. Impaired vitamin D signaling in functionally inactive vitamin D receptor mutant male mice caused compromised cerebrovascular adaptation to unilateral carotid artery occlusion [6]. Four-week-long vitamin D deficient and vitamin D toxic (25(OH)D > 200 ng/mL or > 500 nmol/L [2]) diets resulted in significantly decreased carotid artery diameter and significantly enhanced wall thickness in male rats [7]. Patients with ischemic stroke had significantly lower 25(OH)D levels than control ones and, according to multiple logistic regression, vitamin D considered as a significant predictor in stroke patients and vitamin D deficiency is associated with ischemic stroke [8]. The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey data evaluation also showed that vitamin D deficiency may be associated with increased stroke risk while higher 25(OH)D levels are associated with reduced stroke risk and these associations were pronounced in the age group of 20–50-year-old women. Moreover, people who have previously had stroke had significantly lower 25(OH)D levels than controls [9]. Among elderly people, a significant linkage was shown between serum 25(OH)D levels and carotid artery distensibility and intima-media thickness (IMT), with these results referring to the possible effects of vitamin D on the functional and structural properties of carotid artery [10]. Suboptimal vitamin D levels (25(OH)D < 30 ng/mL or < 75 nmol/L [2]) and vitamin D deficiency are associated with carotid plaque thickness and with the presence and volume of carotid intraplaque hemorrhage, a parameter which may be a better predictor of unstable plaque and a better estimate of recurrent stroke risk [11].

Stroke is one of the main life-threatening cardio-cerebrovascular and neurological illnesses and its risk also differs between males and females. A retrospective cross-sectional study among stroke patients found that the incidence of stroke and prevalence of stroke risk factors (hypertension, heart diseases, diabetes and hyperlipidaemia) are higher in males than in females [12].

The cerebrovascular consequences of vitamin D deficiency may also be influenced by gender. In healthy men, but not in women, higher total vitamin D intake was associated with decreased cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk [13]. According to the MONICA study, middle-aged women with low (<51.45 nmol/L) 25(OH)D levels had increased risk for stroke and higher total CVD and all-cause mortality during a 17-year-follow-up [14]. Type 2 diabetic patients with carotid atherosclerotic plaque had significantly lower 25(OH)D levels than the control group and 25(OH)D concentrations were inversely correlated with carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT) in men, but not in women [15].

Previous results from our research group also suggest that gender-specific alterations of vascular function and structure can be observed in the renal and cerebral arteries of vitamin D deficient rats [16,17]. In the anterior cerebral artery, vitamin D deficiency resulted in increased wall thickness and testosterone-induced contraction only in male rats [16]. In renal arteries vitamin D deficiency led to impaired acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxation in both genders, whereas increased phenylephrine contraction was only found in male animals. Vascular function measurements in the presence of cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor and the immunohistochemical labeling of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) in these vessels suggest that eNOS and prostanoid pathways may play a role in the gender-specific vascular dysfunction in vitamin D deficiency [17].

Carotid arterial function plays an important role in the regulation of cerebral blood flow and systemic blood pressure by influencing the sensitivity of the high pressure baroreceptor reflex. Monitoring the in vivo condition and characteristics of carotid artery, such as CIMT and carotid plaque area (PA) measurements, are important tools for cardioand cerebrovascular risk assessment [18].

In the present study, our aim was to examine the possible gender-specific effect of vitamin D deficiency on carotid arteries of rats. The potential role of elastic and contractile elements, eNOS and COX enzymes and a nitrative stress marker were also investigated.

## 2. Results

# 2.1. Vascular Function of Carotid Arteries

## 2.1.1. Phenylephrine-Induced Contraction of Carotid Arteries

Gender-specific difference was observed in the phenylephrine-induced contraction at  $10^{-6}$  mol/L phenylephrine concentration and male gender was associated with more pronounced contraction independently from vitamin D status. Generally, vitamin D deficiency resulted in increased level of phenylephrine-induced contraction (Figure 1A). At  $10^{-7}$  mol/L phenylephrine concentration, male vitamin D deficient vessels showed increased reaction, compared to their female counterparts. Furthermore, vitamin D deficient female arteries were more reactive than female vitamin D supplemented ones. At  $10^{-6}$  mol/L phenylephrine concentration, vessels of vitamin D deficient male rats showed stronger contraction than those of the vitamin D supplemented male animals (Figure 1B).



Figure 1. Contraction ability of isolated carotid artery segments: (A) phenylephrine (Phe)-induced contraction in the four experimental groups at  $10^{-6}$  mol/L Phe concentration. Male gender and vitamin D deficiency were associated with more pronounced relative contraction. Data are shown as individual data points; horizontal lines represent mean  $\pm$  SD. Two-way ANOVA; factors: gender, vitamin D status. \*\*: p < 0.01, \*\*\*: p < 0.001. (B) Phe-induced contraction. Male rats showed significantly increased contraction compared to females at Phe concentration of  $10^{-7}$  mol/L independently from vitamin D status. Vitamin D deficient female vessels had stronger contraction compared to their vitamin D supplemented counterparts. At Phe concentration of  $10^{-6}$  mol/L, MD- arteries contracted more than FD- ones. Vitamin D deficient male rats showed increased contraction compared to their vitamin D supplemented counterparts. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM; *n* = 9–11 in each group; repeated measures ANOVA, Bonferroni's post hoc test; as: *p* < 0.01 FD+ vs. FD-, bb: p < 0.01 FD+ vs. MD+, ccc: p < 0.001 FD+ vs. MD-, e: p < 0.05 FD- vs. MD-, eee: p < 0.001 FD- vs. MD-, f: p < 0.05MD+ vs. MD-. Phe-induced contractions in the presence of L-NAME and/or indomethacin (INDO) or their vehicle DMSO (C) in female vitamin D supplemented rats (FD+) (D) in female vitamin D deficient rats (FD-), (E) in male vitamin D supplemented rats (MD+) and (F) in male vitamin D deficient rats (MD-). L-NAME increased the level of contraction in all experimental groups. Co-incubation with INDO further augmented the contraction only in MD- rats. INDO itself decreased the degree of vascular reaction only in the FD+ group. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 5-11 in each group; repeated measures ANOVA, Bonferroni's post hoc test; kkk: p < 0.001 DMSO vs. INDO, l: p < 0.05 DMSO vs. L-NAME, ll: *p* < 0.01 DMSO vs. L-NAME, Ill: *p* < 0.001 DMSO vs. L-NAME, mm: *p* < 0.01 DMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, mmm: *p* < 0.001 DMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, nn: *p* < 0.01 INDO vs. L-NAME, nnn: *p* < 0.001 INDO vs. L-NAME, ooo: *p* < 0.001 INDO vs. INDO+L-NAME, p: p < 0.05 L-NAME vs. INDO+L-NAME.

In order to explore the role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and cyclooxygenases in the observed reactivity differences, phenylephrine-induced contraction was repeated in the presence of N(G)-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester/L-NAME and indomethacin and their combination. L-NAME increased the degree of contraction in all experimental groups. However, indomethacin failed to alter the observed reactivity in the presence of L-NAME in most groups, except the vitamin D deficient males, where indomethacin further increased the contraction compared to L-NAME alone. Indomethacin itself decreased the level of contraction only in the female vitamin D supplemented group, suggesting the significant involvement of constrictor prostanoids in these animals (Figure 1C–F). The lack of indomethacin effect in the vitamin D supplemented male group and in the vitamin D deficient female group may indicate gender and vitamin D dependent regulation of prostanoid effects in vascular contractility.

## 2.1.2. Acetylcholine-Induced Relaxation of Carotid Arteries

Gender difference was also observed in the acetylcholine-induced relaxation of carotid artery segments at  $10^{-6}$  M acetylcholine concentration (Figure 2A). Vitamin D deficiency failed to alter this function of the vessels in both genders. At this acetylcholine concentration, vitamin D supplemented female vessels had more pronounced relaxation compared to both male groups, while vitamin D deficient females only differed from vitamin D deficient male counterparts (Figure 2B). Nitric oxide inhibition with L-NAME successfully blocked the acetylcholine-induced vasodilation in all experimental groups, while co-incubation with indomethacin had no additional effect. In both male groups, indomethacin itself significantly increased the endothelium-induced relaxation (Figure 2C–F).



**Figure 2.** Relaxation ability of isolated carotid artery segments: (**A**) acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxation in the four experimental groups at  $10^{-6}$  mol/L Ach concentration. Male gender was associated with less pronounced relative relaxation. Data are shown as individual data points; horizontal lines represent mean  $\pm$  SD. Two-way ANOVA; factors: gender, vitamin D status. \*\*\*: p < 0.001. (**B**) Ach-induced relaxation. Male rats showed significantly reduced relaxation compared to females at Ach concentration of  $10^{-6}$  mol/L independently from vitamin D status. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 9-11 in each group; repeated measures ANOVA, Bonferroni's post hoc test; bb: p < 0.01 FD+ vs. MD+, ccc: p < 0.001 FD+ vs. MD–, eee: p < 0.001 FD– vs. MD–. Ach-induced relaxation in the presence of L-NAME and/or indomethacin (INDO) or their vehicle DMSO (**C**) in female vitamin D supplemented rats (FD+), (**D**) in female vitamin D deficient rats (FD–), (**E**) in male vitamin D supplemented rats (MD+) and (F) in male vitamin D deficient rats (MD–). L-NAME blocked the vasodilation in all experimental groups, co-incubation with INDO had no additional effect. INDO itself increased the degree of relaxation only in both male groups. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 6-11 in each group; repeated measures ANOVA, Bonferroni's post hoc test; k: p < 0.05 DMSO vs. INDO, l: p < 0.05 DMSO vs. L-NAME, m: p < 0.05 DMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, nn: p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, nn: p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, oci p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, nn: p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, oci p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, oci p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, nn: p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME, oci p < 0.001 IDMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME.

## 2.2. Histological Changes of the Carotid Arteries

The density of elastic fibers in the isolated carotid arteries was significantly decreased by vitamin D deficiency in female rats, but not in males. The marked, but not significantly lower, elastic fiber density of male carotid arteries may have played a role in this phenomenon. On the other hand, the staining intensity observed after the immunolabeling of SMA was decreased by vitamin D deficiency in male, but not in female, carotid arteries. Vitamin D deficiency induced an increase in the immune positivity of thromboxane A2 receptor only in male animals. The optical density of eNOS immunostaining was altered by neither gender nor vitamin D deficiency. Nitrative stress, represented by tyrosine nitration, was slightly lower in both male groups compared to vitamin D deficient female samples (Figure 3A–J).



**Figure 3.** Histological changes of the carotid arteries: (**A**) elastic fiber density of carotid artery segments. Tissue sections were stained by the purple-colored resorcin-fuchsin stain. Vitamin D deficient female and male arteries showed significantly

lower optical density than vitamin D supplemented female vessels. (**B**) Representative images of resorcin-fuchsin-stained carotid artery sections. (**C**) Alpha smooth muscle actin (SMA) immunohistochemical labeling intensity in the media layer of carotid arteries. In vitamin D deficient male rats, the measured optical density was significantly lower compared to vitamin D supplemented male animals. (**D**) Representative images of carotid arteries stained against SMA. (**E**) Thromboxane A2 receptor (TP) density of carotid arteries. Vitamin D deficient male rats showed higher receptor density compared to vitamin-supplemented male and female animals. (**F**) Representative images of TP-stained vessels. (**G**) Optical density of eNOS labeling in the intimal layer of carotid arteries. Vitamin D deficiency induced a significant decrease in eNOS staining intensity in males. (**H**) Representative images of vessels labeled with anti-eNOS antibody. (**I**) 3-Nitrotyrosine (NT) staining intensity of carotid arteries. Both male groups showed lower positivity than vitamin D supplemented female rats. (**J**) Representative images of NT-stained carotid artery sections. Specific immunohistochemical labeling was visualized by the brown-colored diamino-benzidine (DAB), while blue-colored hematoxylin served as counterstaining. Scale bars show 50 µm. Data are presented as individual data points and lines represent the median [IQR]; Kruskal–Wallis test with Dunn's post hoc test; aa: p < 0.01 FD+ vs. FD-, c: p < 0.05 FD+ vs. MD-, cc: p < 0.01 FD+ vs. MD-, dd: p < 0.01 FD- vs. MD+, e: p < 0.05 FD- vs. MD-, ff: p < 0.05 MD+ vs. MD-, ff: p < 0.01 MD+ vs. MD-.

# 3. Discussion

The main findings of the present study were the following: (i) the carotid artery, which has a primary role in cerebral blood flow and systemic blood pressure regulation, shows gender differences in its reaction to both vasoconstrictor and vasodilator agents; (ii) vitamin D deficiency causes vascular injury in both sexes; and (iii) gender differences can be observed in the pathomechanism of vascular injury caused by vitamin D deficiency.

Recent studies suggest that the vascular function of the carotid artery is influenced by gender. Significantly higher serotonin-induced vasoconstriction was found in male mice compared to females [19]. In addition, these sex-specific alterations are also influenced by the type of vessel under investigation. The release of the cyclooxygenase (COX)-derived constricting factors in mesenteric arterial rings is more pronounced in male spontaneous hypertensive rats (SHR), than their female counterparts [20]. In male rats the sensitivity to endothelin-1's vasoconstrictor effect on coronary resistance arteries is significantly higher than in females [21]. In males the myogenic tone and the reaction to thromboxane A2 agonist are also more pronounced on coronary resistance arteries [22]. On the contrary, no gender differences were found in renal arteries for Phe-induced contraction [17], and there were also no gender differences in endothelium-dependent vasoconstriction of the popliteal artery [23]. In our current study, we found significantly higher phenylephrine-induced vasoconstriction on carotid arterial rings of male animals independently from their vitamin D status.

Endothelium-dependent vasodilation is also influenced by gender, corresponding to the higher cardiovascular risk of men. The effect of sex hormones on the expression of enzymes involved in the synthesis of endothelium-derived relaxation factors, like eNOS, COX-1 and 2 and prostacyclin synthase, is believed to play a role in this phenomenon [24]. Acetylcholine-induced relaxation on carotid artery rings was found to be significantly higher in SHR female animals than in males, while, in parallel, indomethacin caused increased relaxation in males, while failing to induce change in young females [25]. In our present study, we found no gender difference in eNOS expression of carotid arteries. Our observation that, while in male rats general COX inhibition increased the acetylcholineinduced relaxation, it failed to influence this function in females, suggests that genderspecific alterations of vasoactive prostanoids' production or action may have played a role in the reduced endothelium-dependent relaxation of the investigated vessels. On the other hand, in the present study, we found no gender difference in TP-specific staining intensity of carotid arteries in vitamin D supplemented rats.

Overall, the weakest vasodilation occurred in the vitamin D deficient male group that was accompanied by the reduced immunohistochemical labeling of eNOS. The production of oxygen-derived free radicals, especially superoxide, may reduce the bioavailability of nitric oxide through their spontaneous reaction forming the potent oxidant peroxynitrite [26]. A characteristic reaction of nitrogen-derived free radicals, especially peroxynitrite, is the

nitration of protein tyrosine residues (NT). On the other hand, we could not show the role of this phenomenon in the reduced endothelium-dependent relaxation induced by male gender. NT positivity was significantly lower in vitamin D deficient male coronary arteries compared to their female counterparts. The known antioxidant effect of testosterone may have contributed to this observation [27].

The risk and the severity of stroke correlate to vitamin D deficiency [28,29]. The increased arterial stiffness that can be observed in vitamin D deficiency may contribute to the increased cardiovascular risk, which can be markedly reduced by vitamin D supplementation (>2000 IU/day) in both sexes [30]. Vitamin D supplementation can dose-dependently decrease arterial stiffness in overweight, vitamin D deficient male and female African Americans [31]. Vitamin D deficiency also contributes to the atherosclerotic transformation of the carotid artery [32]. In our recent study we found that vitamin D deficiency increased the degree of phenylephrine-induced contraction in both sexes. The weakest vasoconstriction was found in female vitamin D supplemented animals. In vitamin D deficient females, increased vasoconstriction was observed that demolished the observed gender difference among the vitamin D supplemented animals. The strongest vasoconstriction was seen in vitamin D deficient males. Similar observations were described in other vessel types. As the consequence of vitamin D deficiency, the myogenic tone of the mesenteric arteries doubles [33]. In coronary arteries of male animals, vitamin D deficiency decreased the vascular reactivity to thromboxane A2 and sexual steroids (estrogen and testosterone) [34]. On the other hand, in renal arteries, we saw increased Phe-induced contraction only in female, but not in male rats [17,26]. Vitamin D can inhibit TP receptor expression [35] and the increased TP immunolabeling intensity observed in vitamin D deficient males may reflect the lack of this suppressing effect, contributing to their increased Phe-induced contraction. Estrogen was also shown to attenuate TP expression [36] that may play a role in the preserved TP expression of vitamin D deficient female carotid arteries. These observations suggest that the consequences of vitamin D deficiency are influenced by gender and the type of the investigated vessel.

Our recent data show that in the carotid arteries of female animals, the balance of the produced prostanoids shifts to vasoconstrictors, as general COX inhibition leads to decreased Phe-induced contraction, which is demolished by vitamin D deficiency. Male vessels also had vasoconstrictor dominance, as indomethacin caused increased Ach-induced relaxation; however, it was not altered by vitamin D deficiency. Interestingly, when indomethacin was applied together with L-NAME, it augmented the level of Phe-induced contraction in vitamin D deficient males. The already described cross-talk between eNOS and COX systems, which was not observable in vitamin D supplemented rats, may have been augmented in this experimental group. In rats fed with standard diet, no interaction was found between these two signaling pathways in the regulation of cerebrocortical microcirculation [37].

As for vasorelaxation, similarly to vasoconstriction, gender differences were observed that might have been affected by the type of the examined vessel. Flow-mediated dilation (FMD) of the brachial artery is not gender-related, while the FMD of the popliteal artery is significantly higher in physically active adult women [38]. Nitroglycerine-mediated dilation is also lower in men's brachial artery [39]. In our current study, we found gender differences in acetylcholine-induced relaxation on carotid arterial rings: male animals showed less relaxation compared to females regardless of their vitamin D status.

Differences in vasoconstriction and vasodilation responses of coronary arteries in this study may be also explained by the observation that both smooth muscle elements and elastic fibers are altered by gender and vitamin D deficiency. The amount of elastic fibers of resistance coronary arteries is significantly lower in male rats than in females [40]. Previous studies examining the effect of vitamin D deficiency on elastic elements showed that abdominal aortic aneurysms have significantly lower levels of elastin in the intimamedia composites of male aneurysm walls than of females [41]. Moreover, serious vitamin D deficiency impairs the elastic quality of aorta [42], while in the cerebral arteries this kind of change cannot be observed, not even in vitamin D deficiency [43]. So, the effect of vitamin D deficiency on elastic fibers can also depend on the type of the investigated vessel. In the present study, we found decreased elastic fiber density in vitamin D deficient male and female carotid arteries, whereas alpha smooth muscle actin immunolabeling was the weakest in the vitamin D deficient male rats. Vitamin D has been previously shown to increase SMA expression in the aortae of rats on a high fat diet [44], which may have played a role in the changes observed in SMA density.

Limitations and strengths: According to our current knowledge, this is the first study which investigated the ex vivo vascular function, histological characteristics and gender differences of female and male rat carotid artery in response to a vitamin D deficient state. The small sample size hindered out investigation of other possibly affected vascular reactivity pathways. The lack of a naive animal group with only a normal diet was another limitation of our study. Further thorough, basic translational and clinical research is needed to clarify the connection between vitamin D deficiency, functional and histological cerebrovascular pathology and its gender difference.

# 4. Materials and Methods

# 4.1. Chemicals

Ex vivo vascular functional measurements on isolated rat carotid arteries were performed in Krebs–Ringer solution (in mmol/L: NaCl 119, KCl 4.7, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.2, MgSO<sub>4</sub> 1.17, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 24, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2.5, glucose 5.5 and EDTA 0.034). The solution was freshly prepared, stored at 37 °C, and bubbled (gas mixture composed of O<sub>2</sub> 20%, CO<sub>2</sub> 5% and N<sub>2</sub> 75%) to maintain stable pH. Chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA–Budapest, Hungary).

### 4.2. Animals

The study was performed in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health (8th edition, 2011) and the EU-conforming Hungarian Law on Animal Care (XXVIII/1998). The institutional Animal Care Commission has confirmed the research protocol (IRB: 8/2014 PEI/001/1548-3/2014, PEI/001/820-2/2015).

A total of 48 adolescent (21–28 day old) male and female Wistar rats, weighing 100–140 g, were delivered to the Animal Facility of Semmelweis University in agreement with Charles River (Charles River Ltd., AnimaLab, Vác, Hungary). Rats of both genders were randomly assigned to two further groups, and as a result, four experimental groups were obtained: a female vitamin D supplemented group (FD+), a female vitamin D deficient group (FD–), a male vitamin D supplemented group (MD+) and a male vitamin D deficient group (MD–); n = 11-13 in each group.

### 4.3. Chronic Treatment of the Rats

In order to induce vitamin D deficiency via reduced intake, rats in the corresponding groups were fed ad libitum with vitamin D Free Lab rat/mouse chow (Ssniff Spezialdiaten GmbH, Soest, Germany) containing less than 5 IU/kg vitamin D for eight weeks resulting in vitamin D deficiency (below 10 ng/mL) [43,45]. Rats in vitamin D supplemented groups were fed ad libitum with a normal chow containing 1000 IU/kg of vitamin D. Furthermore, oral administration of additional vitamin D through a gavage cannula was applied to ensure the targeted plasma vitamin D levels [43,45]: 500 IU cholecalciferol on the second week and a weekly maintenance dose of 140 IU/100g on the fourth, fifth, sixth and seventh weeks (Vigantol (cholecalciferol) 20,000 IU/mL, Merck/Merck Serono, Darmstadt, Germany). The treatment protocol resulted in four experimental groups; vitamin D supplemented female and male (FD+, MD+) and vitamin D deficient female and male (FD-, MD-) groups. The animals had access to tap water ad libitum. Rats were housed at constant room temperature ( $22 \pm 1$  °C) with a 12 h/12 h light–dark cycle. All experimental groups had normal blood pressure [45,46]. Serum 25(OH)D levels of the animals were the following:

FD+:  $32.328 \pm 4.49$  ng/mL; FD-:  $6.044 \pm 0.63$  ng/mL; MD+:  $19.66 \pm 0.81$  ng/mL; MDrats:  $3.59 \pm 0.21$  ng/mL [43,45]. Final body weight, weight gain and serum testosterone levels were not significantly influenced by vitamin D status in either gender [43,45,46].

After 8 weeks, rats were anesthetized with Nembutal (45 mg/kg intraperitoneal (i.p.)), perfused with heparinized nKR solution for 2 min. Carotid arterial segments were cut into five equal rings (2 mm long), four of which were placed on a conventional wire myograph setup, while the fifth vascular ring was fixed in formaldehyde and embedded in paraffin.

### 4.4. Myography

A conventional wire myograph system was adopted to measure the isometric tension of isolated carotid arterial rings (610-M MultiMyograph System, Danish Myo Technology, Aarhus, Denmark, with Lab-Chart Evaluation System, AD Instruments, Oxford, UK–Ballagi Ltd., Budapest, Hungary). The organ chambers were filled with nKR solution, kept at 37 °C and bubbled (gas mixture composed of O<sub>2</sub> 20%, CO<sub>2</sub> 5% and N<sub>2</sub> 75%) to maintain stable pH. Following the development of stable pre-tension (15 mN), the contractility of the vessels was obtained when applying 124 mmol/L K<sup>+</sup>, which served as the reference value of the contraction forces. Vascular rings were equilibrated in nKR, and accumulative doses of phenylephrine ( $10^{-9}-10^{-6}$  mol/L) were administrated to induce contraction. Acetylcholine-induced vasodilation was examined by incubating the vessels with increasing doses of Ach ( $10^{-9}-10^{-6}$  mol/L), subsequent to Phe precontraction ( $10^{-6}$  mol/L). Measurement of Phe-induced contraction and Ach-induced vasodilation was repeated in the presence of the nitric oxide synthase inhibitor N(G)-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) ( $10^{-4}$  mol/L) and the general COX inhibitor indomethacin ( $10^{-5}$  mol/L) or their vehicle DMSO.

### 4.5. Immunohistochemistry

Carotid arterial tissue sections were stained with resorcin-fuchsin (RF). Immunohistochemistry was performed to label alpha smooth muscle actin (SMA), thromboxane A2 receptor (TP), endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and 3-nitrotyrosin (NT). Antigen retrieval was performed by heating the slides in citrate buffer (pH = 6) following deparaffinization. Then, 3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in dH<sub>2</sub>O was applied to block endogenous peroxidase activity. Non-specific labeling was prevented via utilization of 2.5% normal horse serum (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). Primary antibodies (SMA: 1:10,000; eNOS: 1:50 (Abcam, ab46545 and ab76198, Cambridge, UK)), TP 1:50 (MyBioSource, MBS2032166, San Diego, CA, USA) and NT 1:500 (Merck Millipore-Sigma-Aldrich, 06-284, Budapest, Hungary) were applied overnight at 4 °C. For SMA and eNOS horseradish-peroxidase-linked anti-mouse was used for secondary labeling, while for TP and NT anti-rabbit polyclonal horse antibody (Vector Laboratories, MP-7402 or MP-7401, Burlingame, CA, USA) was used for secondary labeling. Visualization of specific labeling was accomplished by browncolored diamino-benzidine (DAB) (Vector Laboratories, SK-4100, Burlingame, CA, USA), while blue-colored hematoxylin served for counterstaining (Vector Laboratories, H-3404-100, Burlingame, CA, USA). Brightfield microscopy images were acquired using a Nikon ECLIPSE NI-U microscope and Nikon DS-Ri2 camera (Nikon Corporation, Minato City, Tokyo, Japan) with 40x objective. Non-calibrated optical density of the media layer of resorcin-fuchsin-stained vessels was obtained for the purpose of assessing the density of non-contractile elements using ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health (NIH), Bethesda, MA, USA). The measurements of the non-calibrated optical density of specific staining in the intimal or medial layers of the vessel wall were also completed with ImageJ software in the case of immunohistochemical labeling.

## 4.6. Statistical Analysis

Repeated measures two-way ANOVA was completed using Bonferroni's post hoc test with GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) for the analysis of vascular function curves. At a certain agonist concentration, vascular reactivity was analyzed by two-way ANOVA (gender, vitamin D status). The Kruskal–Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparison test was applied to accomplish the comparison of histological and immunohistochemical evaluations of the experimental groups. p < 0.05 was uniformly accepted as the threshold for statistical significance. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM or median [IQR].

Significance symbols (Table 1):

**Table 1.** The number of the symbols (x) indicates the strength of the significance: x: p < 0.05, xx: p < 0.01; xxx: p < 0.001. The meanings of the letter colors are as follows: gender difference is indicated by violet (**b**,**e**), while **burgundy** highlights a significant difference through different vitamin D statuses (**a**,**f**).

Between the Groups		Between the Inhibitors		
a:	FD+ vs. FD-	k:	DMSO vs. INDO	
b:	FD+ vs. MD+	1:	DMSO vs. L-NAME	
c:	FD+ vs. MD-	m:	DMSO vs. INDO+L-NAME	
d:	FD- vs. MD+	n:	INDO vs. L-NAME	
e:	FD- vs. MD-	0:	INDO vs. INDO+L-NAME	
f:	MD+ vs. MD-	p:	L-NAME vs. INDO+L-NAME	

# 5. Conclusions

Differences in cerebral blood flow, as well as gender and vitamin D dependent differences of stroke risk, can be partially explained by the local changes of circulatory control. In the present study, vitamin D deficiency resulted in vascular impairments in both genders, although gender differences in the pathomechanism could be observed. Both vitamin D deficiency and male gender resulted in increased contraction of carotid artery. Decreased relaxation reactivity of the carotid arteries was observed in male gender independently from their vitamin D status. Inhibition of prostanoid signaling reduced contraction in females, but increased relaxation ability in male rats. These functional changes were accompanied by vitamin D and gender-specific structural and protein expression alterations, which were also characteristic of the examined vessel type, the carotid artery.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.S. (Mária Szekeres), G.L.N., L.H., E.M.H. and S.V.; Data curation, M.S. (Miklós Sipos), D.G., B.B., R.K., P.M., M.S. (Mária Szekeres), G.L.N. and E.M.H.; Formal analysis, R.E.S. and E.M.H.; Funding acquisition, S.V.; Investigation, M.S. (Miklós Sipos), D.G., H.D., B.B., R.E.S., R.K., P.M., M.S. (Mária Szekeres), G.L.N. and L.H.; Methodology, R.E.S., G.L.N., L.H., E.M.H. and S.V.; Project administration, S.V.; Resources, N.Á., G.L.N., E.M.H. and S.V.; Software, D.G., B.B. and R.E.S.; Supervision, N.Á., E.M.H. and S.V.; Validation, S.V.; Visualization, M.S. (Miklós Sipos), D.G., M.H. and S.V.; Validation, S.V.; Visualization, M.S. (Miklós Sipos), D.G., B.B. and R.E.S.; Writing—original draft, M.S. (Miklós Sipos), B.B., R.E.S., R.K., M.T., E.M.H. and S.V.; Writing—review & editing, R.E.S., M.T., N.Á., M.S. (Mária Szekeres), G.L.N., L.H., E.M.H. and S.V. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** This work was supported by the Semmelweis Science and Innovation Fund (STIA-KF-17 for S.V.), Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Fund (NKFI K116954 for M.Sz.), the Hungarian Hypertension Society (2015/1 for S.V., G.L.N.), the Dean of the Medical Faculty, Semmelweis University (2016/8 for S.V., G.L.N.) and Semmelweis University Department of Physiology (NVKP\_16-1-2016-0039).

**Institutional Review Board Statement:** The study was performed in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health (8th edition, 2011) and the EU-conforming Hungarian Law on Animal Care (XXVIII/1998). The institutional Animal Care Commission has confirmed the research protocol (IRB: 8/2014 PEI/001/1548-3/2014, PEI/001/820-2/2015).

Acknowledgments: We thank Ildikó Oravecz, Anikó Schulcz, Ilona Oláh and Haoran Ke for the expert technical assistance.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

# References

- 1. Izzo, M.; Carrizzo, A.; Izzo, C.; Cappello, E.; Cecere, D.; Ciccarelli, M.; Iannece, P.; Damato, A.; Vecchione, C.; Pompeo, F. Vitamin D: Not Just Bone Metabolism but a Key Player in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Life* **2021**, *11*, 452. [CrossRef]
- Płudowski, P.; Karczmarewicz, E.; Bayer, M.; Carter, G.; Chlebna-Sokół, D.; Czech-Kowalska, J.; Dębski, R.; Decsi, T.; Dobrzanska, A.; Franek, E.; et al. Practical guidelines for the supplementation of vitamin D and the treatment of deficits in Central Europe— Recommended vitamin D intakes in the general population and groups at risk of vitamin D deficiency. *Endokrynol. Pol.* 2013, 64, 319–327. [CrossRef]
- Giustina, A.; Bouillon, R.; Binkley, N.; Sempos, C.; Adler, R.A.; Bollerslev, J.; Dawson-Hughes, B.; Ebeling, P.R.; Feldman, D.; Heijboer, A.; et al. Controversies in Vitamin D: A Statement from the Third International Conference. *JBMR Plus* 2020, *4*, 10417. [CrossRef]
- Patino-Alonso, M.C.; Sánchez, M.G.; Sánchez, L.G.; Alonso-Domínguez, R.; Sánchez-Aguadero, N.; Salgado, B.S.; Sánchez, E.R.; Ortiz, L.G.; Gómez-Marcos, A.M. Multivariate Analysis of Influence of Vitamin Intake on Vascular Function Parameters by Sex in the General Spanish Population: EVA Study. *Nutrients* 2020, 12, 643. [CrossRef]
- 5. Gouni-Berthold, I.; Berthold, H.K. Vitamin D and Vascular Disease. Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol. 2020, 19, 250–268. [CrossRef]
- 6. Pál, É.; Hricisák, L.; Lékai, Á.; Nagy, D.; Fülöp, Á.; Erben, R.G.; Várbíró, S.; Sándor, P.; Benyó, Z. Ablation of Vitamin D Signaling Compromises Cerebrovascular Adaptation to Carotid Artery Occlusion in Mice. *Cells* **2020**, *9*, 1457. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 7. Mirhosseini, N.Z.; Knaus, S.J.; Bohaychuk, K.; Singh, J.; Vatanparast, H.A.; Weber, L.P. Both high and low plasma levels of 25-hydroxy vitamin D increase blood pressure in a normal rat model. *Br. J. Nutr.* **2016**, *116*, 1889–1900. [CrossRef]
- 8. Talebi, A.; Amirabadizadeh, A.R.; Nakhaee, S.; Ahmadi, Z.; Mirzaee, S.M.M. Cerebrovascular disease: How serum phosphorus, vitamin D, and uric acid levels contribute to the ischemic stroke. *BMC Neurol.* **2020**, *20*, 116. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, J.; Lai, H.; Yang, L.; Zhu, H.; Chen, S.; Lai, S. Age and Gender Differences in the Association between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Stroke in the General US Population: The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2001–2006. *J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 2017, 26, 2510–2518. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Oudshoorn, C.; Mezzadri, M.; Colin, E.M.; Van Dijk, S.C.; Ruitenbeek, A.G.; Meiracker, A.H.V.D.; Van Der Cammen, T.J.M.; Mattace-Raso, F.U.S. Serum vitamin D levels are associated with structural and functional properties of the carotid artery in older men and women. *Eur. Geriatr. Med.* 2020, *11*, 409–415. [CrossRef]
- 11. McNally, J.S.; Burton, T.M.; Aldred, B.W.; Kim, S.-E.; McLaughlin, M.S.; Eisenmenger, L.B.; Stoddard, G.J.; Majersik, J.J.; Miller, D.V.; Treiman, G.S.; et al. Vitamin D and Vulnerable Carotid Plaque. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* **2016**, *37*, 2092–2099. [CrossRef]
- 12. Norsaadah, B. Prevalence of risk factors and its gender difference among stroke patients. Med. J. Malays. 2005, 60, 670–671.
- 13. Manson, J.; Hu, F.; Giovanucci, E.; Rimm, E.; Shi, L.; Sun, Q.; Rexrode, K. Vitamin D intake and risk of cardiovascular disease in US men and women. *SciVee* **2011**, *94*, 534–542.
- Agelii, M.L.; Lehtinen-Jacks, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Sundh, V.; Björkelund, C.; Lissner, L. Low vitamin D status in relation to cardiovascular disease and mortality in Swedish women – Effect of extended follow-up. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 2017, 27, 1143–1151. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Chen, R.-H.; Jiang, X.-Z.; Jiang, Q.; Gu, Z.; Gu, P.-L.; Zhou, B.; Zhu, Z.-H.; Xu, L.-Y.; Zou, Y.-F. Correlations between serum levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and carotid atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes in Shanghai. *Ann. D'endocrinologie* **2014**, *75*, 206–212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Fontányi, Z.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Lippai, N.; Horváth, E.M.; Magyar, A.; Monos, E.; Nádasy, G.L.; Benyó, Z.; et al. Gender, hyperandrogenism and vitamin D deficiency related functional and morphological alterations of rat cerebral arteries. *PLoS ONE* 2019, 14, e0216951. [CrossRef]
- 17. Sipos, M.; Péterffy, B.; Sziva, R.; Magyar, P.; Hadjadj, L.; Bányai, B.; Süli, A.; Soltész-Katona, E.; Gerszi, D.; Kiss, J.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency Cause Gender Specific Alterations of Renal Arterial Function in a Rodent Model. *Nutrients* **2021**, *13*, 704. [CrossRef]
- Biswas, M.; Saba, L.; Omerzu, T.; Johri, A.M.; Khanna, N.N.; Viskovic, K.; Mavrogeni, S.; Laird, J.R.; Pareek, G.; Miner, M.; et al. A review on joint carotid intima-media thickness and plaque area measurement in ultrasound for cardiovascular/stroke risk monitoring: Artificial Intelligence framework. *J. Digit. Imaging* 2021, 1–24. [CrossRef]
- 19. Lamping, K.G.; Faraci, F.M. Role of Sex Differences and Effects of Endothelial NO Synthase Deficiency in Responses of Carotid Arteries to Serotonin. *Arter. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 2001, 21, 523–528. [CrossRef]
- 20. Kähönen, M.; Tolvanen, J.-P.; Sallinen, K.; Wu, X.; Pörsti, I. Influence of gender on control of arterial tone in experimental hypertension. *Am. J. Physiol. Content* **1998**, 275, H15–H22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 21. Kingma, J.G., Jr.; Laher, I. Effect of endothelin on sex-dependent regulation of tone in coronary resistance vessels. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2021**, 540, 56–60. [CrossRef]
- 22. Mátrai, M.; Hetthéssy, J.; Nádasy, G.L.; Monos, E.; Székács, B.; Varbiro, S. Sex Differences in the Biomechanics and Contractility of Intramural Coronary Arteries in Angiotensin II–Induced Hypertension. *Gend. Med.* **2012**, *9*, 548–556. [CrossRef]
- 23. O'Brien, M.W.; Johns, J.A.; Petterson, J.L.; Mekary, S.; Kimmerly, D.S. The impact of age and sex on popliteal artery endothelialdependent vasodilator and vasoconstrictor function. *Exp. Gerontol.* **2021**, *145*, 111221. [CrossRef]
- 24. Sader, M.A.; Celermajer, D.S. Endothelial function, vascular reactivity and gender differences in the cardiovascular system. *Cardiovasc. Res.* **2002**, *53*, 597–604. [CrossRef]
- 25. Graham, D.A.; Rush, J.W. Cyclooxygenase and thromboxane/prostaglandin receptor contribute to aortic endothelium-dependent dysfunction in aging female spontaneously hypertensive rats. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2009**, *107*, 1059–1067. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Lajtai, K.; Tarszabó, R.; Bányai, B.; Péterffy, B.; Gerszi, D.; Ruisanchez, É.; Sziva, R.E.; Korsós-Novák, Á.; Benkő, R.; Hadjadj, L.; et al. Effect of Vitamin D Status on Vascular Function of the Aorta in a Rat Model of PCOS. *Oxidative Med. Cell. Longev.* 2021, 2021, 1–6. [CrossRef]
- 27. Tostes, R.C.; Carneiro, F.S.; Carvalho, M.H.C.; Reckelhoff, J.F. Reactive oxygen species: Players in the cardiovascular effects of testosterone. *Am. J. Physiol. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* **2016**, *310*, R1–R14. [CrossRef]
- 28. Berghout, B.; Fani, L.; Ikram, M.K. Response by Berghout et al to Letters Regarding Article, "Vitamin D Status and Risk of Stroke: The Rotterdam Study". *Stroke* 2019, *50*, e432. [CrossRef]
- 29. Rad, R.E.; Zarbakhsh, M.; Sarabi, S. The Relationship of Vitamin D Deficiency with Severity and Outcome of Acute Stroke. *Rom. J. Intern. Med.* **2021**. [CrossRef]
- Chen, N.-C.; Hsu, C.-Y.; Mao, P.C.-M.; Dreyer, G.; Wu, F.-Z.; Chen, C.-L. The effects of correction of vitamin D deficiency on arterial stiffness: A systematic review and updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 2020, 198, 105561. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 31. Raed, A.; Bhagatwala, J.; Zhu, H.; Pollock, N.K.; Parikh, S.J.; Huang, Y.; Havens, R.; Kotak, I.; Guo, D.-H.; Dong, Y. Dose responses of vitamin D3 supplementation on arterial stiffness in overweight African Americans with vitamin D deficiency: A placebo controlled randomized trial. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, e0188424.
- Chen, F.-H.; Liu, T.; Xu, L.; Zhang, L.; Zhou, X.-B. Association of Serum Vitamin D Level and Carotid Atherosclerosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J. Ultrasound Med. 2018, 37, 1293–1303. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Tare, M.; Emmett, S.J.; Coleman, H.A.; Skordilis, C.; Eyles, D.; Morley, R.; Parkington, H.C. Vitamin D insufficiency is associated with impaired vascular endothelial and smooth muscle function and hypertension in young rats. *J. Physiol.* **2011**, *589 Pt 19*, 4777–4786. [CrossRef]
- Fontányi, Z.; Sziva, R.; Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Horváth, E.; Benkő, R.; Magyar, A.; Heinzlmann, A.; Benyó, Z.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency Reduces Vascular Reactivity of Coronary Arterioles in Male Rats. *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.* 2021, 43, 79–92. [CrossRef]
- Dong, J.; Wong, S.L.; Lau, C.W.; Liu, J.; Wang, Y.; He, Z.D.; Ng, C.F.; Chen, Z.Y.; Yao, X.; Xu, A.; et al. Calcitriol restores renovascular function in estrogen-deficient rats through downregulation of cyclooxygenase-2 and the thromboxane-prostanoid receptor. *Kidney Int.* 2013, *84*, 54–63. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mishra, R.G.; Stanczyk, F.Z.; Burry, K.A.; Oparil, S.; Katzenellenbogen, B.S.; Nealen, M.L.; Katzenellenbogen, J.A.; Hermsmeyer, R.K. Metabolite ligands of estrogen receptor-beta reduce primate coronary hyperreactivity. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 2006, 290, H295–H303. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lacza, Z.; Hortobágyi, L.; Horváth, B.; Horvath, E.M.; Sándor, P.; Benyó, Z. Additive effect of cyclooxygenase and nitric oxide synthase blockade on the cerebrocortical microcirculation. *Neuroreport* 2009, 20, 1027–1031. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Johns, J.A.; O'Brien, M.W.; Bungay, A.; Kimmerly, D.S. Sex and light physical activity impact popliteal, but not brachial artery flow-mediated dilation in physically active young adults. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 2020, 45, 1387–1395. [CrossRef]
- 39. Dengel, D.R.; Jacobs, D.R.; Steinberger, J.; Moran, A.M.; Sinaiko, A.R. Gender differences in vascular function and insulin sensitivity in young adults. *Clin. Sci.* **2010**, *120*, 153–160. [CrossRef]
- 40. Torok, M.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Pal, E.; Horvath, E.; Josvai, A.; Merkely, P.; Barta, B.A.; Matyas, C.; Olah, A.; Radovits, T.; et al. Long-term exercise results in morphological and biomechanical changes in coronary resistance arterioles in male and female rats. *Biol. Sex. Differ.* **2020**, *11*, 7. [CrossRef]
- 41. Tong, J.; Schriefl, A.; Cohnert, T.; Holzapfel, G. Gender Differences in Biomechanical Properties, Thrombus Age, Mass Fraction and Clinical Factors of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. *Eur. J. Vasc. Endovasc. Surg.* **2013**, *45*, 364–372. [CrossRef]
- 42. Karabag, T.; Hacioglu, Y.; Piskinpasa, M.E.; Sametoglu, F.; Yuksel, Y. Impaired cardiac functions and aortic elastic properties in patients with severe Vitamin D deficiency. *J. Cardiovasc. Echogr.* **2018**, *28*, 171–176. [CrossRef]
- Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Fontányi, Z.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Mezei, Z.; Lippai, N.; Magyar, A.; Heinzlmann, A.; Karvaly, G.; Monos, E.; et al. Vitamin D deficiency causes inward hypertrophic remodeling and alters vascular reactivity of rat cerebral arterioles. *PLoS ONE* 2018, 13, e0192480.
- 44. Wagih, H.M.; Hashem, H.E.; Hassan, Z.A.; Algaidi, S.A. Modulation of S100 and smooth muscle actin-α immunoreactivity in the wall of aorta after vitamin D administration in rats with high fat diet. *Cell. Mol. Biol.* **2018**, *64*, 21–28. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Hadjadj, L.; Várbíró, S.; Horváth, E.M.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Pál, É.; Karvaly, G.B.; Heinzlmann, A.; Magyar, A.; Szabo, I.; Sziva, R.E.; et al. Insulin resistance in an animal model of polycystic ovary disease is aggravated by vitamin D deficiency: Vascular consequences. *Diabetes Vasc. Dis. Res.* 2018, 15, 294–301. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sziva, R.; Fontányi, Z.; Pál, É.; Hadjadj, L.; Monori-Kiss, A.; Horváth, E.; Benkő, R.; Magyar, A.; Heinzlmann, A.; Benyó, Z.; et al. Vitamin D Deficiency Induces Elevated Oxidative and Biomechanical Damage in Coronary Arterioles in Male Rats. *Antioxidants* 2020, 9, 997. [CrossRef] [PubMed]